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Financial results 2001-05

(€ million) 2008 2004+ 2003 2002* 2001
Operating income* 1,543.9 658.6 538.1 330.7 379.5
Expenses and depreciation? (248.9) (189.8) (198.6) (218.5) {206.7)
Operating profit before provisions 1,325.0 468.8 339.5 112.2 172.8
Provisions for impairment of loans and guarantees 200.6 (67.2) (11.3) (45.5) (15.6)
Net profit for the year 1,525.6 401.6 328.2 66.7 157.2
Reserves and retained earnings 4,656.4 1,686.0 9117 619.7 488.7
Provisions for impairment of loans and guarantees (cumulative) 351.8 539.5 505.4 570.3 617.5
Total reserves and provisions 8,007.7 2,225.5 1,4171 1,190.0 1,106.2
* Amendments to and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Standards in 2005 have resulted in a number of changes
Drevious vears have beon resiated 5 conform 10 he now SecoUNRE PO Ioe. e T e e
Cperational results
Cumulative
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 1991-2005
Number of projects 154 129 119 102 102 1,301
EBRD financing (€ mitlion) 4,277 4,133 3,721 3,899 3,656 30,313
Resources mobilised (€ mitlion) 3,221 8,799 5,307 4,862 6,212 64,005
Total project value (€ million) 10,498 12,932 9,028 8,761 9,868 94,408
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In 2005, the Bank revised its provisioning
estimate for portfolio impairment
provisions.* This was in response to
developments in the best practice
application of incurred loss provision
models on a portfolio basis. This revision
resulted in a €186.0 million reduction in
the portfolio provision for the unidentified
impairment of loan investments, which
was released through the income
statement. The Bank’s net profit before
unrealised gains on share investments
and the impact of the revised provisioning
estimate was €1.0 billion in 2005,
compared with €275.6 million (restated)
in 2004 on an equivalent basis.

The EBRD’s general administrative
expenses, before the deferral of direct
costs relating to loan origination and
commitment maintenance, were within
the euro budget, reflecting continuing
budgetary discipline and effective cost
control. While the Bank’s reporting currency
is the euro, the bulk of expenses are
denominated in sterling. In sterling terms
expenses, including depreciation and
amortisation charges, amounted to £160.7
million, compared with £138.1 million in
2004. In euro terms expenses were €29.6
million higher than the previous year at
€224.6 million (2004: €195.0 million).2
The increase largely reflects a payment

of €£22.9 million (£15.3 million) in relation
to the Bank’s retirement plans. This was
the result of adjustments to enhance the
Bank's retirement plans to reflect the past
service of personnel and a change to the
actuarial estimate of the liabilities of the
defined benefit scheme.

Banking operations achieved a net profit of
€1.5 billion (2004 restated: €321.9 million)
after the full allocation of expenses,
provisions and the return on net paid-in
capital. This reflected a year-on-year
increase in realised gains from the sale of
share investments, together with unrealised
gains on the movement in fair value of the
Bank’s associate share investments and
high-risk equity funds, and a decrease in
portfolio provisions for loan investments
and guarantees. Excluding the fair value
movement on non-qualifying hedges,
Treasury operations achieved a net profit

of €56.4 million (2004: €74.9 million) after
the full allocation of expenses and the
return on net paid-in capital. After the

€6.1 million impact of non-qualifying
hedges, Treasury’s reported net profit
for the year totalled €62.5 million
(2004: €79.7 million).

Successful work-outs, along with a general
improvement in the performance of the
Banking loan portfolio, resulted in a
reduction in the value of impaired loans
during 2005 with the upgrading of several
projects. At 31 December 2005, the Bank
had 11 impaired loans with operating
assets totalling €35.0 million, compared
with 17 such loans totalling €85.8 million
at the end of 2004. Of this reduction,
€32.7 million was the result of write-offs.
Total provisions for Banking loan operations
amounted to €323.5 million at the end of
2005 (2004: €507.5 million). Relative to
operating assets,? this represented

0.7 per cent of sovereign loans (2004
3.0 per cent) and 5.3 per cent of non-
sovereign loans (2004 7.9 per cent).

The decrease in provisions was mainly a
result of the revised provisioning estimate
for portfolio impairment provisions.

in 2005, the Bank established a loan loss
reserve to set aside an amount of retained
earnings, within members’ equity, equal

to the difference between the impairment
losses expected over the full life of the
loan portfolio and the cumulative amount
provisioned through the Bank's income
statement. At 31 December 2005, the loan
loss reserve totalled €£€292.0 million.

Prior to 2005, the Bank valued its unlisted
share investments at historic cost, less any
provisions for impairment at the balance
sheet date. Following an enhancement

to its valuation techniques, the Bank
performed an assessment of the fair value
of the unlisted share investment portfolio
in 2005. On 1 January 2005, the Bank
released the portfolio provision for the
unidentified impairment and specific
provisions for the identified impairment of
unlisted share investments, and restated
them to fair value. This resulted in a net
increase in the Bank’s reserves of

€245.0 million.

The Bank’s reserves increased from
€1.7 billion (restated) at the end of 2004
to €4.7 billion at the end of 2005. This
primarily reflected the net profit for the
year and an increase in the fair value of

the Bank’'s non-associate share
investments (excluding high-risk equity
funds). Some €2.5 billion of the Bank’s total
reserves represented unrealised gains from
share investments and Treasury assets,
€292.0 million represented the loan loss
reserve and €187.6 million represented

the special reserve, leaving unrestricted
general reserves of €1.7 billion.

Banking operations

Annual business volume
and portfolio

Annual business volume* amounted to
€4.3 billion, comprising 151 projects in
2005 (2004: €4.1 billion, 129 projects).
This is the highest level of annual
commitments signed by the EBRD to date
and represents an increase of 3 per cent
over the level recorded in 2004 in volume
terms, and 17 per cent in the number of
transactions. Share investments and
equity-linked transactions accounted for
16 per cent of the new business volume.
The private sector share of the business
volume was 76 per cent. Annual business
volume included €131.4 million of
restructured operations.

Net cumulative business volume reached
€30.3 billion by the end of 2005 (2004:
€25.3 billion}. Including co-financing, this
amounted to a total project value of €94.4
billion (2004: €78.5 billion). The portfolio of
the Bank's net outstanding commitments
grew from €15.3 billion at the end of 2004
to €16.8 billion at the end of 2005. Strong
reflows, reflecting exceptionally liquid
financial market conditions and a maturing
portfolio, limited the portfolio impact of
annual business volume, with portfolio
growth reaching 10 per cent.

The number and volume of projects under
development increased during 2005, with
the Board approving 165 projects. These
consisted of loans and share investments
by the Bank totalling €4.8 billion, compared
with 150 projects totalling €4.4 billion in
2004. The level of Board approvals in 2005
was the highest annual level to date. At the
end of 2005, cumulative Board approvals,
net of cancellations, totalled €33.8 billion
(2004: €28.8 billion).




Credit quality of the Banking portfolio

Facility, overall and country weighted average risk ratings

31 December 2005
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Gross disbursements totalled €2.2 billion
in 2005, down from a record €3.4 billion
in 2004. Operating assets amounted to
€12.0 billion at the end of 2005 (2004
restated: €10.8 billion), comprising

€7.8 billion of disbursed outstanding loans
and €4.2 billion of disbursed outstanding
share investments at fair value.

The Bank attracted a significant additional
amount of co-financing funds in 2005,
which reached €2.6 billion. The Bank
mobilised €1.9 billion from commercial
co-financing institutions, €338 million from
official co-financing, €326 million from
international financial institutions and

€42 million from export credit agencies.

In addition, the Bank’s activities continued
to be strongly supported by donor funding,
including the Special Funds programme
and technical and investment cooperation
funds. As a result, net cumulative business
volume at 31 December 2005 reached
€30.3 billion for a total project value

of €94.4 billion.

Portfolio risks

Internal rating procedures are discussed
in detail under “Banking credit risk” in
the risk management policies section

of the financial statements. All projects
and countries of operations are assigned
credit risk ratings on an internal scale
from 1 (lowest risk) to 10 (highest risk).

in view of the markets in which it operates
and its transition mandate, the EBRD
expects the majority of its project ratings
in normal circumstances to range from risk
categories 4 to 6 {approximately equivalent
to Standard & Poor’s BBB to B ratings) at

the time of approval. At 31 December 2005,
74.5 per cent of the loan and share invest-
ment portfolio was classed under risk
ratings 4 1o 6 (2004: 76.0 per cent).

The EBRD’s portfolio continued to show
improvement in 2005. This reflected the
solid economic performance in Russia,

the continuing integration of eight countries
of operations within the European Union
(EU) and a generally resilient economic
performance across the region. This trend
led to the upgrading of several countries

of operations’ credit ratings by both the
independent rating agencies and the
Bank’s own internal rating process. The
size of the classified portfolio (loans and
share investments in risk rating categories
7 to 10), which had risen rapidly in the wake
of the 1998 crisis in financial markets,
decreased by over 20 per cent. There was
also a substantial decline in the leve! of
impaired assets, continuing the sharp
downward trend of the past four years.

Impaired assets

Where there is objective evidence that an
asset is impaired, the difference between
the historic cost of the loan and the net
present value of its expected future cash
flows is recognised in the income state-
ment. Impaired share investments are
defined as investments where there is
objective evidence that impairment has
occurred and the future recoverability of
the Bank’s original investment is therefore
in doubt. Although projects are usually
reviewed for impairment every six months,
certain events may trigger this process
sooner and more frequently. In such cases,
future collectability is considered and any
necessary specific provision or fair value
adjustment for impairment is made.

1

Pravisions for impairment of loan investments that are
not individually identified as impaired are cafculatedon a
portfolia basis. The methodology used for assessing such
impairment is applied to net outstanding disbursements
at the relevant reporting date.

~

The deferral of direct costs relating to loan origination and
commitment maintenance totalled €5.7 million during the year
(2004 restated: €5.2 million). This resulted in reported general
administrative expenses for the year, including depreciation
and amortisation, of €218.9 million (2004 restated:

€189.8 miltion).

o

Operating assets comprise net outstanding disbursements
and fair value adjustments as applicable.

The flow of commitments made by the Bank within a period
{since the start of the year), less cancellations or sales
of such commitments within the same time period.




Impaired assets

€ million

Total VaR - overall limit €18 million
(Ten trading days, 99% confidence level, BIS compliant dataset)
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The chart above illustrates the historical

development of the Bank's impaired assets.

The Bank's impaired assets peaked in mid-
2000, largely reflecting the after-effects

of the crisis in Russia in 1998. Since then,
through the improvements in, or successful
restructuring of, a number of projects and
through some write-offs, the level of
impaired assets has substantially declined.
At 31 December 2005, impaired assets
amounted to 2.5 per cent of net outstand-
ing disbursements, compared with 4.0 per
cent at 31 December 2004 and 10.8 per
cent at 31 December 2000. Net write-offs
(after recoveries from previously written-off
projects) were €56.5 million in 2005
(2004: €76.3 million).

Financial performance

Banking operations recorded a net profit
(after fully allocated expenses, provisions
and the allocation of the return on capital)
of €1.5 billion for 2005, compared with

a net profit of €321.9 million (restated)

in 2004 on an equivalent basis. In 2005,
the Bank revised its provisioning estimate
for portfolio impairment provisions. This
resulted in a €186.0 million reduction in
the portfolio provision for the unidentified
impairment of loan investments. Excluding
the deferral of front-end and commitment
fees, operating income of €1.5 billion from
the Banking business in 2005 was signifi-
cantly above the €611.0 million (restated)
achieved in 2004, There were two principal
factors that contributed to this increase:
significant realised gains from the sale

of share investments of £€639.9 million,
compared with €122.4 million in 2004,
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and unrealised gains from the movement
in the fair value of the Bank's associate
share investments and high-risk equity
funds of €366.2 million.

The contribution from the share investment
sector to the Bank's income statement

is expected to continue to show significant
variability from year to year, given its
dependence on the timing of share
investment exits. These are mainly linked
to the completion of the Bank’s transition
role in the specific operation and the
opportunity, in the market or otherwise,

to sell its holding. Further variability is
expected, with movements in the fair value
of associate share investments and high-
risk equity funds accounted for in the
income statement.

Treasury operations

Portfolio

The value of assets under Treasury
management was €12.9 billion at

31 December 2005 (2004 restated:

€8.5 billion). This comprised €7.6 billion of
debt securities, €1.5 billion of collateral-
ised placements and £€3.8 billion of
placements with credit institutions
(including repurchase agreements).

At the end of 2005, 3.6 per cent of
Treasury assets was managed by a total

of eight external asset managers. The
externally managed portfolios comprised
€20.4 million (2004; €15.3 million) in a
euro-denominated interest rate trading
programme® and €442.7 million (2004:
€334.5 million) in a US dollar-denominated
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triple-A-rated mortgage-backed securities
programme. The funds are managed by
independent managers in order to obtain
specialised services and investment
technigues and to establish third-party
performance benchmarks. These
independent managers are required to
comply with the same investment guidelines
that the Bank applies to its internally
managed funds.

Treasury risks

For monitoring purposes, the Bank
distinguishes between market, credit and
operational risks, together with liquidity
and settlement risks.

Market risk

At 31 December 2005, the aggregate
Value-at-Risk {VaR)® of the Bank's Treasury
portfolio, calculated by reference to a

99 per cent confidence level and over a ten-
trading-day horizon, stood at €3.2 million?
(2004: €3.1 million). The average VaR over
the year was €3.3 million, while the lowest
and highest values were €2.7 million and
€4.2 million respectively.

The month-end® VaR values denote a
modest use of the Board-approved total VaR
limit for all Treasury funds, which amounts
to €18.0 million.

Within the overall market risk exposure,

the VaR of the internally managed portfolios
stood at €1.8 million at the end of 2005
(2004: €1.3 million). The range during

the year was between €0.6 million and
€4.7 million. The size of the internally
managed portfolio to which these figures
relate was €12.4 billion at 31 December
2005 (2004: €8.2 billion).




Evolution of the overall Treasury credit exposure in 2005

31 December 2005
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Market risks incurred on the externally
managed portfolios exhibited a year-end
VaR of €0.7 million (2004: €1.3 million}
for the euro-denominated programme and
€0.8 million (2004: €0.7 million) for the
US dollar-denominated programme.

The specific contribution from foreign
exchange risk to the overall VaR stood

at €0.1 million at year-end (2004:

€0.1 million). As in previous years, this
contribution was small throughout 2005
and never exceeded €0.9 million. Interest
rate positioning continued to represent the
majority of the Bank’s market risk exposure.

interest rate option exposure was
substantially reduced throughout the year
as most positions were either closed or
expired. In addition, an equity index put
option position was taken in the latter part
of the year as an economic hedge. However,
options VaR® represented only a small
fraction of total VaR throughout the year
and especially at the end of the year,
where options VaR was negligible

(2004: €0.2 million).

Credit risk

Treasury peak credit exposure increased
year-on-year, standing at €12.2 billion

at 31 December 2005 compared with
€9.3 billion at 31 December 2004. This
increase, which occurred mostly during the
second quarter, was partly linked to the
appreciation of the US dollar against the
euro (a substantial proportion of Treasury’s
assets are denominated in US doliars,
whereas credit exposure is measured in
euros) and partly due to a switch from
collateralised instruments (for example,
reverse repurchase agreementsj to cash
instruments.®

Overall, the credit quality of the Treasury
portfolio was stable: the average credit
rating!* weighted by peak counterparty
exposure stood at 1.83 at 31 December
2005 compared with 1.82 at the end of
the previous year.

The weighted average rating of the 10 per
cent worst rated exposures improved from
3.84 at the end of 2004 to 3.58 at the

end of 2005.12 More significantly, the
percentage of Treasury transactions of
investment grade quality*® also improved
(97.3 per cent at year-end 2005, compared
with 96.5 per cent the previous year),

as the additional exposure was mostly to
AAA-rated asset-backed securities (ABS)
and AA-rated banks. Treasury is exposed
to some below-investment-grade issuers
due to the rating downgrades several years
ago of a few ABS investments that were
originally rated triple-A by leading external
rating agencies.

Financial performance

Treasury operations recorded an operating
profit of €56.4 million for 2005 after the full
allocation of expenses and return on capital
but before the fair value movement on non-
qualifying hedges. This compared with an
operating profit of €74.9 million on the
same basis for 2004. After the €6.1 million
fair value movement on non-qualifying
hedges, the profit of Treasury operations
for the year totalled €62.5 million

(2004: €79.7 million).

Credit quality of the Treasury portfolio

Risk class %
0O 1.0 (AAA) 38.01
O 1.7-2.5 (AA+ AA, AA-) 57.24
0O 2.7-3.3(A+ A, A-) 2.00
T 4.0(BBB) 0.03
5.3 (8B-) 1.34
6.0 (B) 0.18
7.0 (CCC) 0.93
0 9.0(C) 0.27

Note: Risk ratings ranga from
1 (lowest risk) to 10 (highest risk).

In the euro programme, managers are assigned notional
amounts for interest rate positioning. At 31 December 2005,
the notional value of the programme was €358.6 million.

S

Figures presented here are based on 99 per cent 10-day VaR,
to enable comparisons between institutions. Market risk is,
however, monitored daily for intesrnal purposes in 95 per cent
one-day expected shortfall (eVaR) terms, with the limits set in
corresponding units. The Board-approved Treasury and
Treasury Risk Management Authority, dated 2 April 2004,
adopted evaR to replace VaR as the Bank's preferred
methodology for measuring its exposure to interest rate and
foreign exchange risks. Values of eVaR had been monitored for
several years before being adopted for limit setting purposes;
similarly, VaR results continue to be produced and monitored
on a daily basis (see the “risk management policies” section
of this report for definitions).

This means that the Bank had a 1 per cent chance of
experiencing a loss of at least €3.2 million over a horizon of
ten trading days, due to adverse movements in interest rates
and foreign exchange rates.

Market risk is monitored on a daily basis for the internally
managed portfolios and the euro-denominated externally
managed portfolio. For the US dollar-denominated externally
managed portfolio, market risk data is produced by an externat
risk information provider on a weekly basis.

Options VaR captures the non-linear aspects of the potential
profit and loss distribution of the options portfolio of the Bank.

"
H

Whereas exposure on collateralised instruments is based
on a fraction of nominal, exposure on cash instruments is
based on the full nominal.

M
B

Using the Bank's internal rating scale, where 1.70 is equivalent
to an external rating of AA+/Aal/AA+ with Standard & Poor's/
Moody's/Fitch Ratings and 2.00 is equivalent to an externat
rating of AA/Aa2/AA.

12 That is, from roughly midway between BBB/Baa2/BB8 and
BBB+/Baal/BBB+ to just above BBB+/Baal/BBB+.

13 Thatis, BBB-/Baa3/BBB- level or above.




Funding

Borrowings

The EBRD’s borrowing policy is governed by
two key principles. First, it seeks to match
the average maturity of the Bank’s assets
and liabilities to minimise refinancing risk.
Secondly, it seeks to ensure the availability
of long-term funds at optimum cost
effectiveness for the Bank.

At 31 December 2005, total borrowings
stood at €16.9 billion, an increase of

€3.0 billion compared with 2004. Of the
€3.0 billion increase, approximately

€1.5 billion was due to additional borrowing
- the majority of which is short-term — while
€1.5 billion was due to the influence of
foreign exchange fluctuations and
movements in fair values. There were

63 new issues in fully convertible new
currencies under the EBRD’s medium to
long-term borrowing programme, at an
average after-swap cost of Libor minus

40 basis points. The average remaining life
of medium to long-term debt decreased
slightly during the year to 7.8 years at

31 December 2005 (2004: 8.3 years).
Some €141.5 million was also raised
through the Bank’s inaugural Rb 5 billion
bond issue in Russia.

In addition to medium to long-term
debt, the caption “debts evidenced by
certificates” includes short-term debt
issuances that the Bank raises for
cash management purposes.

Capital

Paid-in capital totalled €5.2 billion at

31 December 2005 and at 31 December
2004. The number of the EBRD’s
subscribed shares stood at almost

2 million. The eighth and final instaiment
of the capital increase became due in
April 2005. Paid-in capital receivable has
been stated at its present value on the
balance sheet to reflect future receipt

by instalments.

The amount of overdue cash and promissory
notes to be deposited totalled €24.4 million
at the end of 2005 (2004; €18.1 million).

A further €12.5 million of encashments

of deposited promissory notes was also
overdue (2004: €3.2 million). Of the €36.2
million total overdue, €29.5 million relates
to the capital increase.

Capital adequacy

The Bank's original authorised share

capital was €10.0 billion. Under Resolution
No. 59, adopted on 15 April 1996, the
Board of Governors approved a doubling

of the Bank’s authorised capital stock

to €20.0 billion. This increase allowed

the Bank to continue to implement its
operational strategy on a sustainable basis.

The Bank’s capital usage is guided by
statutory and financial policy parameters.
Article 12 of the Agreement Establishing
the Bank limits the total amount of
outstanding loans, share investments
and guarantees made by the Bank in

its countries of operations to the total
amount of the Bank’s unimpaired
subscribed capital, reserves and surpluses,
establishing a 1:1 gearing ratio. Article 12
also limits the total amount of disbursed
share investments to the total amount of
the Bank's unimpaired paid-in subscribed
capital, surpluses and general reserve.

In accordance with the requirements of
Article 5.3 of the Agreement, the Board

of Governors shall review the capital stock
of the Bank at intervals of not more than
five years. The Bank started a review of

its capital stock during 2005 which will be
finalised in 2006. This includes an analysis
of the transition impact and operational
activity of the Bank, an assessment of the
economic outlook and transition challenges

in the region, the formulation of the medium-

term portfolio development strategy and
objectives, and a detailed analysis of the
Bank’s projected future financial
performance and capital adequacy.

The traditional headroom measure of
capital adequacy is being reviewed and
supplemented with a risk-based analysis
using the revised 2004 Basel Capital
Accord {Basel 1} and the Bank’s risk capital
model. The initial analysis suggests that
the Bank should have sufficient capital to
implement its operational strategy over the
2006-2010 period within the stated risk
and financial assumptions. The review also
indicates that the Bank relies on a strong
capital base and stressed the need for
prudent financial policies that support
conservative provisioning, strong liquidity
and long-term profitability. This will enable
the Bank to sustain its operational activity,
taking account of significant medium-term
risks arising from its projects, from
uncertainty in some sectors and countries
of operations, and from the volatility of the
financial markets.

Expenses

In sterling terms, general administrative
expenditure, excluding depreciation
and amortisation, amounted to £148.3
million in 2005. This was £22.1 million,
or 18 per cent, higher than in 2004.

Personnel costs were £102.9 million, or
£19.8 million higher than in the previous
year (2004: £83.1 miliion), due to a one-off
expenditure of £15.3 million relating to a
restructuring of the Bank's retirement plans.
This included adjustments to enhance the
Bank’s retirement plans, reflecting the past
service of personnel, and a change to the
actuarial estimate of the liabilities of the
defined benefit scheme.

The Bank continues to focus on budgetary
discipline, effective cost controls and a
proactive cost-recovery programme. When
translated into euro, the EBRD’s general
administrative expenses, including
depreciation and amortisation, were
€224.6 million. This was a 15 per cent
increase from €195.0 million in 2004,
reflecting increased personnel costs.

A sterling/euro hedging programme for
budget expenditure resulted in hedging
gains of €7.7 million.




During 2005, the Bank deferred

€5.7 million of direct costs related to loan
origination and commitment maintenance
on the balance sheet, in accordance with
IAS 18 (2004 restated: €5.2 million). These
costs, together with the corresponding front
end and commitment fees of €38.2 million
(2004: £€48.0 million), will be recognised

in interest income over the period from
disbursement to repayment of the related
loan. Therefore, the reported figure for
general administration expenses and
depreciation and amortisation for the

year was €218.9 million (2004 restated:
€189.8 million).

Provisions

Prior to 2005, the Bank valued its unlisted
share investments at historic cost, less any
provisions for impairment at the balance
sheet date. Following an enhancement

to its valuation techniques, the Bank
performed an assessment of the fair value
of the unlisted share investment portfolio
in 2005. At 1 January 2005, the Bank
released the portfolio provision for the
unidentified impairment and specific
provisions for the identified impairment

of unlisted share investments, and restated
them to fair value. This resulted in a net
increase in the Bank's reserves of

€245.0 million.

The EBRD’s portfolio provisioning relating
to the unidentified impairment of loan
investments on non-sovereign exposures
is based on a risk-rated approach. This is
assessed by the Bank’s Risk Management
Vice Presidency and applied in the month
of disbursement. A separate methodology
is applied for all sovereign loan investments,
which takes into account the Bank's
preferred creditor status afforded by its
members. The Bank recognises specific
provisions for the identified impairment

of assets as required, after careful
consideration on a case-by-case basis.
Provisions are based on outstanding net
disbursements at the relevant

reporting date.

In response to developments in the

best practice application of incurred loss
provision models on a portfolio basis, the
Bank revised its provisioning estimate

in 2005. The Bank determined that a
reduced emergence period for losses
was appropriate for lower-risk rated loan
investments (those rated 1 to 6) and
increased provisioning was required for
higher-risk rated loan investments (those
rated 6 watch and 7). This resulted in a
net decrease in portfolio provisions of
€186.0 million,

In 2005 the Bank established a loan loss
reserve to set aside an amount of retained
earnings within members’ equity. This
amount is equal to the difference between _
the impairment losses expected over

the full life of the loan portfolio and the
cumulative amount provisioned through
the Bank’s income statement.

The 2005 release for Banking loan
investment and guarantee provisions of
€200.6 million was split between portfolio
provisions for the unidentified impairment
of loan investments and guarantees, which
totalled net €187.2 million compared with
a charge of €90.6 million in 2004, and
specific provisions for the identified
impairment of loan investments, which
amounted to a net credit of €13.4 million
in 2005 compared with a credit of

€23.4 million in 2004. Substantial asset
recoveries following the restructuring of
projects, and the consequent reversal of
specific provisions totalling €35.7 mitlion,
offset new specific provision charges

of €22.3 million during the year.

As aresult, total provisions for Banking loan
operations stood at €323.5 million at the
end of 2005 (2004: €507.5 million). This
represented 0.7 per cent of sovereign loans
(2004: 3.0 per cent) and 5.3 per cent of
non-sovereign loans (2004: 7.9 per cent).

Outlook for 2006

The EBRD has budgeted for a robust
profit in 2006. However, the Bank’s
results remain vulnerable to changes
in the economic environment and

in financial markets.




Additional reporting and disclosures

The EBRD follows the significant reporting conventions of private
sector financial institutions.

A separate section of this Financial Report relating to risk
management disclosures is an integral part of the financial
statements and includes commentary on credit and market risk.

Corporate governance

The EBRD is committed to the highest standards of corporate
governance. Responsibilities and related controls throughout
the Bank are properly defined and delineated. Transparency and
accountability are integral elements of its corporate governance
framework. This structure is further supported by a system

of reporting, with information appropriately tailored for, and
disseminated to, each level of responsibility within the EBRD,

to enable the system of checks and balances on the Bank's
activities to function effectively.

The EBRD's governing constitution is the Agreement Establishing
the Bank (“the Agreement”), which states that the institution will
have a Board of Governors, a Board of Directors, a President,
Vice Presidents, officers and staff.

All the powers of the EBRD are vested in the Board of Governors,
which represents the Bank's 62 shareholders. With the exception of
certain reserved powers, the Board of Governors has delegated the
exercise of its powers to the Board of Directors, while retaining
overall authority.

Board of Directors and Board Committees

Subject to the Board of Governors' overall authority, the Board of
Directors is responsible for the direction of the EBRD’s general
operations and policies. It exercises the powers expressly assigned
to it by the Agreement and those powers delegated to it by the
Board of Governors.

The Board of Directors has established three Board Committees
to assist with its work:

the Audit Committee;
= the Budget and Administrative Affairs Committee (BAAC); and
> the Financial and Operations Policies Committee (FOPC).

The composition of these committees during 2005 is detailed
in the separate Review section of the Annual Report.

In April 2005, the Board approved the “Procedures and Terms

of Reference of Board Committees”. This encompassed changes
to the workings of the Committees, taking account of recent
developments in corporate governance, evolving practices in other
international financial institutions and the revision of the Audit
Committee's terms of reference, agreed in April 2004. These
changes enhanced the corporate governance of the Bank by
updating (i) the working procedures of the Board Steering Group
and Board Committees and (ii) the terms of reference of the

BAAC and FOPC.

During 2005, the Audit Committee further developed its activities.
During the year the Audit Committee held discussions that led to
the Board approving the new status of the Evaluation Department,
making it independent of management with sole responsibility to
the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee had regular bilateral
meetings with the Bank’s external auditor as well as with
management to review financial, accounting, risk management,
project evaluation, compliance, and interna! control and audit
matters. The Committee also continued to review the Bank’s
quarterly and annual financia) statements prior to their release.
The Board of Directors is responsible for evaluating the
performance and effectiveness of the Audit Committee.

The Bank reviewed and compared the key features of a number

of internal control frameworks before deciding to adopt the
“Internal Control - Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSOQ).
This framework, which has been, or is being, adopted by other
international financial institutions, also represents the broadest
international best practice, particularly that evolving in the United
States. On 1 January 2005 the COSO0 and Operational Risk
Management (C&ORM) unit was formed to co-ordinate the annual
certification process of internal controls over financial reporting
and to further develop operational risk management. The unit
reports directly to the Vice President, Finance, for the certification
process, working on a day-to-day basis with the Controller. For
operational risk management, the unit reports directly to the

Vice President, Risk Management, working on a day-to-day basis
with the Director, Risk Management.

The annual certification of internal controls entails identifying,
documenting and recording key internal controls over financial
reporting. This involves the whole Bank and is coordinated by the
Finance Vice Presidency. Key departments involved in financial
controls and reporting are identified following a review of the
financial statements. Each department documents its processes
and its key controls over financial reporting and then tests them
to make sure they are operating effectively. This information

is then used by management to make its assertion regarding

the effectiveness of these controls. The external auditors review
the testing conducted by management and the controls-related
documentation before issuing their opinion on management'’s
assertion.




The President

The President is elected by the Board of Governors and is the legal
representative of the EBRD. Under the direction of the Board of
Directors, the President conducts the current business of the Bank.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is chaired by the President and is
composed of the Vice Presidents and other members of the
EBRD's senior management.

Compliance

The Bank has an independent Office of the Chief Compliance Officer
(“the OCCQ"), which is headed by a Chief Compliance Officer
(“CCQ") reporting directly to the President, and annually or as
necessary to the Audit Committee. The CCO is mandated to
promote good governance and ethical behaviour throughout all

of the activities of the Bank in accordance with international best
practices. The role of the CCO is broad and includes dealing with
integrity due diligence issues, confidentiality, corporate governance,
ethics, conflicts of interest, anti-money laundering, counter-terrorist
financing and the prevention of fraudulent and corrupt practices.
The OCCO is also responsible for investigating fraud, corruption and
misconduct. It also trains and advises, as necessary, the Bank's
nominee directors who are appointed to companies in which the
Bank holds an equity interest. Financial and integrity due diligence
is integrated into the Bank’s normal approval of new business

and the review of its existing transactions.

Moreover, the CCO has the specific responsibility for running

the Bank’s Independent Recourse Mechanism (“the IRM”) which
enhances the Bank’s accountability by assessing and reviewing
complaints about Bank-financed projects. It has also been agreed
in principle that the Bank will produce and publish an anti-
corruption report on its web site. This will be the responsibility

of the OCCO.

In order to enhance the independence of the CCO, the officer
holding that position can be dismissed by the President, in his
capacity as the Bank’s Chief of Staff, only in accordance with
guidance given by the Board.

Operational risk

The EBRD defines operational risk as all aspects of risk-related
exposure other than those falling within the scope of credit and
market risk. This includes the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external
events and reputational risk. Risks include:

errors or omissions in the processing and settiement of
transactions, whether in the areas of execution, booking or
settlement or due to inadequate legal documentation;

errors in the reporting of financial results or failures in controls,
such as unidentified limit excesses or unauthorised trading/
trading outside policies;

21 dependency on a limited number of key personnel, inadequate
or insufficient staff training or skill levels;

71 errors or failures in transaction support systems and
inadequate disaster recovery planning, including errors
in the mathematical formulae of pricing or hedging models,
or in the computation of the fair value of transactions;

1

external events; and

= damage to the EBRD’s name and reputation, either directly
by adverse comments or indirectly.

The EBRD has a low tolerance for material losses arising from
operational risk exposures. Where material operational risks
are identified (that is, those that may lead to material loss if not
mitigated), appropriate mitigation and control measures are put
in place after a careful weighing of the risk/return trade off.
Maintaining the EBRD’s reputation is of paramount importance
and reputational risk has therefore been included in the Bank’s
definition of operational risk. The EBRD will always try to take
all reasonable and practical steps to safeguard its reputation.

Within the EBRD, there are policies and procedures in place
covering all significant aspects of operational risk. These include
first and foremost the EBRD’s high standards of business ethics
and its established system of internal controls, checks and
balances and segregation of duties. These are supplemented with:

> the EBRD’s Code of Conduct;
disaster recovery/contingency planning;
= the Public Information Policy;

= client and project integrity due diligence procedures, including
anti-money-laundering measures;

2> procedures for reporting and investigating suspected staff
misconduct, including fraud;

T information management policy; and

= procurement and purchasing policies, including the detection
of corrupt practices in procurement.

Responsibility for developing the operational risk framework and for
monitoring its implementation resides within the Risk Management
Vice Presidency. In January 2005, the C&ORM unit was formed
specifically to develop the management of operational risk and

to provide the overall framework and structure to support line
managers who control and manage operational risk as part of

their day-to-day activities. In addition, the unit coordinates the
certification of internal controls over the financial reporting process.
This allows extensive information on financial controls to be
leveraged for operational risk management purposes, and for
duplication between the two functions to be minimised. The

unit also drafts proposals for discussion and review to the
Operational Risk Management Group (ORMG), which implements
the operational risk management policies and techniques
throughout the Bank.




The ORMG membership comprises senior managers across the
EBRD who have been identified as potentially facing the most
operational risk within their day-to-day activities. In 2005 the
membership comprised: the Vice President of Risk Management,
the Vice President of Finance, the General Counsel, the Chief
Compliance Officer, the Director of Risk Management, the
Controller, the Director of IT, the Treasurer, the Director of OpsCom
Secretariat, the Director of Human Resources, the Corporate
Director of Administration, Procurement and Consultancy Services,
the Deputy Secretary General, the Director of Treasury Risk
Management, the Head of Internal Communications, the Head

of Internal Audit and the Head of COSO and Operational Risk
Management. The ORMG’s task is to develop and coordinate

the EBRD’s approach to managing operational risk, and to ensure
that it is widely implemented across ali areas of the EBRD.

The EBRD’s current operational risk framework includes an agreed
definition (see above), the categorisation of different loss type
events to capture the EBRD’s exposure to operational risk, a group
of key risk indicators to measure such risks and the identification
of specific operational risks through an annual self assessment
exercise. Departments within the EBRD identified their operational
risk exposures and evaluated the mitigating controls that help to
reduce the inherent or pre-control risk. Each risk (both inherent and
post control) was assessed for its impact, according to a defined
value scale and the likelihood of occurrence, based on a frequency
by time range. Following the conclusion of the self assessment
exercise, a series of challenge meetings based on product or risk
type lines and across departments were held to validate the results
and to increase consistency between departments.

Reporting

The EBRD’s corporate governance structure is supported by
appropriate financial and management reporting. in 2004,

the Bank completed a project, using internal and external
resources, to be able to certify in the Annual Report: Financial
Report as to the effectiveness of internal controls over external
financial reporting, using the COSO internal control framework.
This annual certification statement is signed by the President
and Vice President, Finance, and is subject to a review and an
attestation by the Bank’s external auditors. The first certification
was made for the 2004 Financial Report and this process is
repeated annually. In addition, the Bank has a comprehensive
system of reporting to the Board of Directors and its committees.
Detailed information is available to enable management to closely
monitor the implementation of business plans, the execution

of budgets and the effectiveness of financial controls.

External auditor

The external auditors are appointed by the Board, on the
recommendation of the President, for a four-year term. No firm

of auditors can serve for more than two consecutive four-year
terms. The external auditors perform an annual audit to enable
them to express an opinion on whether the financial statements
present fairly the financial position and the profit of the Bank.
They also examine whether the statements have been presented
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the overall principles of the EC Council Directive on Annual
Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and other Financial
Institutions. In addition, the external auditors review and offer their
opinion on management’s assertion as to the effectiveness of
internal controls over financial reporting. This opinion is given as
a separate report to the audit opinion. At the conclusion of their
annual audit, the external auditors prepare a management ietter
for the Board of Directors, which is reviewed in detail and discussed
with the Audit Committee, setting out the auditors’ views and
management’s responses on the effectiveness and efficiency

of internal controls and other matters. The performance and
independence of the external auditor is subject to review on

an annual basis by the Audit Committee.

There are key provisions of the Bank's policy regarding the
independence of the external auditor. The external auditor

is prohibited from providing non-audit related services, subject
to certain exceptions if it is judged to be in the interest of the
Bank and if it is approved by the Audit Committee. However, the
auditor can provide technical cooperation consultancy services
relating to client projects.

Compensation policy

The EBRD has designed a market-oriented staff compensation
policy, within the constraints of the Bank’s status as a multilateral
institution, to meet the foliowing objectives:

i to be competitive in order to attract and retain high-calibre
employees;

to take account of differing levels of responsibility;
. to be sufficiently flexible to respond rapidly to the market; and
to motivate and encourage excellent performance.
To help meet these objectives, the EBRD’s shareholders have
agreed that the Bank should use market comparators to evaluate

its staff compensation and that salary and bonus should be driven
by performance.




The bonus programme allocations are structured to recognise
individual and team contributions to the EBRD’s overall
performance. Bonus payments, although an important element
of the total staff compensation package, represent a limited
percentage of base salaries.

The EBRD’s Board of Directors, the President and Vice Presidents
are not eligible to participate in the bonus programme. The Board
of Governors establishes the remuneration of the Board of
Directors and the President. The Board of Directors sets the

Vice Presidents’ remuneration.

EBRD remuneration

All EBRD personnel on fixed-term or regular contracts receive
a salary. In addition, professional members of staff are eligible
to receive bonus awards depending on individual performance.

All fixed-term and regular employees — as well as the Board of
Directors, the President and Vice Presidents — are covered by
medical insurance, participate in the Bank’s retirement scheme
and may be eligible to receive a mortgage subsidy. Professional
staff who join Headquarters from outside the United Kingdom
may receive allowances to assist with relocation, as well as an
accommodation allowance which can be used either to defray the
cost of renting or purchasing accommodation. Professional staff
hired from abroad, and who are not British citizens, are eligible
for an education allowance.

The salaries and emoluments of all EBRD personnel are subject
to an internal tax, applied at rates which vary according to the
individual's salary and personal circumstances. Since EBRD
personnel are subject to this internal tax, their EBRD salaries
and emoluments are exempt from national income taxin the
United Kingdom.

President and Vice Presidents

The President is elected by the Board of Governors and typically
receives a fixed-term contract of four years. His salary and benefits
are approved by the Governors. The President is not eligible for
bonus awards.

The Vice Presidents are appointed by the Board of Directors on
the recommendation of the President and typically have fixed-term
contracts of four years. Their salaries and benefits are approved
by the Board of Directors. The Vice Presidents are not eligible for
bonus awards.

The salary, net of internal tax, for each of these positions,
as of December 2005, is as follows:

President £223,834
First Vice President, Banking £209,559
Vice President, Finance £193,946
Vice President, Risk Management £193,946
Vice President, Human Resources

and Administration £172,842

Board of Directors

Directors are elected by the Board of Governors and typically
serve a term of three years. Directors appoint Alternate Directors.
The salaries of Directors and Alternate Directors are approved by
the Board of Governors. They can participate in the same benefit
scheme as staff but are not eligible for bonus awards.

The most recently approved salaries, net of internal tax,
for these positions are as follows:

Director £105,177

Alternate Director £87,297
Senior management

Senior management comprises members of the Bank’s Executive
Committee as well as Business Group Directors, Corporate
Directors, the Treasurer, the Director of Risk Management, the
Controller, the Director of Human Resources, the Head of Internal
Audit and the Chief Compliance Officer. This group, excluding

the President and Vice Presidents (for whom information is given
above), consists of 17 individuals who received salaries, net

of internal tax, in the range of £105,697 to £140,307, with

an average bonus of 26 per cent in 2005.




These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 March 20086.

income statement

Restated

Year to Year to

31 December 31 December

For the year ended 31 December 2005 2005 2004
Note € million € million

Interest and similar income

From loans 416.9 310.3
From fixed-income debt securities and other interest 363.3 236.9
Interest expense and similar charges (410.0) (222.9)
Net interest income 370.2 324.3
Net fee and commission income 3 19.4 17.6
Dividend income 97.8 53.2
Net gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss 4 488.6 126.0
Net gains from available-for-sale share investments 5 552.5 108.7
Net gains/(losses) from available-for-sale Treasury assets 6 10.0 1.7)
Net (losses)/gains from dealing activities and foreign exchange 7 (0.7} 25.7
Fair value movement on non-qualifying hedges 8 6.1 4.8
Operating income 1,543.9 658.6
General administrative expenses e} (201.8) (173.4)
Depreciation and amortisation (17.1) (16.4)
Operating profit before provisions 1,325.0 468.8
Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees 10 200.6 (67.2)
Net profit for the year 1,525.6 401.6

The notes on pages 18 to 52 are an integral part of these financial statements.




Balance sheet

Restated
31 December 31 December
At 31 December 2005 20085 2004
Note € mitlion € mittion € miltion € million
Assets
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 3,800.1 684.5
Collateralised placements 1,475.3 1,645.1
5,275.4 2,329.8
Debt securities 11
Trading 709.4 832.3
Available-for-sale 6,908.0 5,293.4
7,617.4 6,125.7
12,892.8 8,455.3
Other assets 12
Derivative financial instruments 2,318.2 2,622.0
Other 1,137.3 597.3
3,455.5 3,219.3
Loan investments 13
Loans 7,819.3 7,613.3
Less: Provisions for impairment 10 (323.5) (507.5)
7,495.8 7,105.8
Share investments 14
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,550.0 226.8
Available-for-sale share investments 2,629.3 2,425.0
4,179.3 2,651.8
11,675.1 9,757.6
Intangible assets 15 16.2 18.1
Property, technology and office equipment 16 12.3 13.6
Paid-in capital receivable 19 326.6 567.7
Total assets 28,378.5 22,031.6
Liabilities
Borrowings
Amounts owed to credit institutions 978.1 913.3
Debts evidenced by certificates 17 15,929.4 12,965.6
16,907.5 13,878.9
Other liabilities 18
Derivative financial instruments 356.6 570.2
Other 1,261.6 699.8
1,618.2 1,270.0
Total liabilities 18,525.7 15,148.9
Members' equity
Subscribed capital 19 19,789.5 19,789.5
Callable capital 19 (14,592.8) (14,592.8)
Paid-in capital 5,196.7 5,196.7
Reserves and retained earnings 20 4,656.1 1,686.0
Total members’ equity 9,852.8 6,882.7
Total liabilities and members’ equity 28,378.5 22,031.6
Memorandum items
Undrawn commitments 6,679.4 5,179.2

The notes on pages 18 to 52 are an integral part of these financial statements.




Statement of changes in members’

equity

General General Total
reserve reserve reserves Total
Subscribed Callable Special Loan loss ather retained  and retained members'
For the year ended 31 December 2005 capital capital reserve reserve reserves earnings earnings equity
€ million € million € million € million € million € million € million € million
At 31 December 2003 19,789.5 (14,592.8) 162.9 - 401.0 4257 989.6 6,186.3
Reserve transfer for the fair value movement of financial
assets at fair vaiue through profit or loss - - - - 13.5 (13.5) - -
Prior year restatement from changes in accounting
_policies (refer accounting policies note B) - - - - o= {77y (77.9) (77.9)
At1 January 2004 as restated 19,789.5 (14,592.8) 162.9 - 414.5 334.3 911.7 6,108.4
Internal tax for the year - - - - 4.6 - 4.6 4.6
Qualifying fees and commissions from the prior year - - 10.8 - - (10.8) - -
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale investments
for the year - - - - 484.8 - 484.8 484.8
Net fair value movement of cash flow hedges for the year - - - - 9.3 - 93 9.3
Transfer of fair value movement of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss to the income statement - - -~ - (126.0) - (126.0} (126.0)
Reserves transfer - - - - 14.9 (14.9) - -
Restated net profit for the year - - - — - 401.6 401.6 401.6
At 31 December 2004 as restated o - 19,789.5 (14,592.8) 173.7 - 802.1 710.2 1,686.0 6,882.7
Transitional restatement of opening balance for fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(refer accounting policies note B) - - - - (84.8) - (84.8) (84.8)
At 1 January 2005 as restated 19,789.5 (14,592.8) 173.7 - 717.3 710.2 1,601.2 6,797.9
Transitional revaluation of opening balance for fair value
of available-for-sale share investments
(refer accounting policies note B) - - - - 3298 - 328.8 329.8
Transitional revaluation of opening balance for fair value
of equity derivatives (refer accounting policies note B) - - - - 42.7 - 42.7 42.7
At 1 January 2005 as revatued 19,789.5 (14,592.8) 173.7 - 1,089.8 710.2 19737  7,170.4
Internal tax for the year - - - - 4.3 - 4.3 4.3
Qualifying fees and commissions from the prior year - - 13.9 - - 13.9) - -
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale investments
for the year - - - - 1,152.1 - 1,152.1 1,152.1
Net fair value movement of cash flow hedges for the year - - - - c.4 - 0.4 0.4
Reserves transfer - - - 292.0 7.7 (299.7) - -
Net profit for the year ~ - - - - 1,525.6 1,525.6 1,525.6
At 31 December 2005 19,789.5 (14,592.8) 187.6 292.0 2,254.3 1,922.2 4,656.1 9,852.8

The notes on pages 18 to 52 are an integral part of these financial statements.




Statement of cash flows

Restated
Year to Year to
31 December 31 December
For the year ended 31 December 2005 2005 2004
€ mlllion € miiflon € million € million
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit for the period? 1,525.6 401.6
Adjustments for:
Unwinding of the discount relating to impaired identified assets (0.5) (1.4)
Fair value movement on capital receivable and associated hedges (10.6) (21.3)
Net deferral and amortisation of fees and direct costs 19.9 34.6
Internal taxation 4.3 4.6
Realised gains from share investments (639.9) (122.4)
Unrealised gains from share investments (374.8) (126.0)
Impairment (gains)/losses from share investments? (26.4) 13.7
Unrealised (gains)/losses from dealing activities (1.5) 10.7
Realised gains from available-for-sale Treasury assets (3.3) (2.3)
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 0.9 (1.0)
Profit on disposal of property, technology and office equipment (0.1) (0.2)
Depreciation and amortisation 171 16.4
Impairment (gains)/losses from available-for-sale Treasury assets? (6.7) 4.0
Gross provisions for loan losses before recoveries from loans previously written off? (196.4) 67.4
Operating profit before changes in operating assets 307.6 278.4
Decrease/(increase) in operating assets:
Interest receivable and prepaid expenses 103.9 964.7
Fair value movement 887.2 (679.2)
Proceeds from repayments of loans 2,569.5 2,887.5
Proceeds from prepayments of foans 784.3 761.5
Funds advanced for loans (3,008.4) (4,848.1)
Proceeds from sale of share investments 1,277.5 513.3
Funds advanced for share investments (378.3) (572.2)
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
interest payable and accrued expenses 22.2 ___{300.8)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 2,565.5 (994.7)
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities 872.3 1,749.5
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (2,042.0) (2,160.0)
Proceeds from sale of property, technology and office equipment 0.1 0.2
Purchase of property, technology and office equipment (14.0) (10.6)
Net placements with credit institutions 1.0 49.5
Net cash used in investing activities (1,182.6) (371.4)
Cash flows from financing activities
Capital received 251.7 301.0
Issue of debts evidenced by certificates 6,640.2 5,002.0
Redemption of debts evidenced by certificates (5,419.4) (4,960.1)
Net cash from financing activities 1,472.5 342.9
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,855.4 (1,023.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,422.3 2,445.5
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December? 4,277.7 1,422.3
1 Operating profit includes dividends of €97.8 million received for the year to 31 December 2005 (31 December 2004: £€53.2 million}.
2 The 2004 comparative impairment (gains)/losses from share investments of €13.7 million, impairment (gains)/losses
from available-for-sale Treasury assets of £4.0 million, and gross provisions for loan losses before recoveries from loans previously
written off of €67.4 million, were together recorded as gross provisions for losses befare recoveries from assets previously
written off totalling €85.1 million in the 2004 statement of cash flows.
* Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following amounts maturing within 3 months:
Restated
31 December 2005 31 December 2004
€ million € million
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 3,768.1 680.5
Collateralised placements 1,475.3 1,645.1
Amounts owed to credit institutions (965.7) (903.3)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 4,2771.7 1,422.3

The notes on pages 18 to 52 are an integral part of these financial statements.




A. Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the
overall principles of the European Community’s Council Directive
on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other
Financial Institutions. The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and financial
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss and all derivative
contracts. In addition, financial assets and liabilities subject to
amortised cost measurement, where they form part of a qualifying
hedge relationship, have been accounted for in accordance

with hedge accounting rules ~ see “hedge accounting” under.

“derivatives” below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Bank's policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed
below in “significant accounting policies” and “critical accounting
estimates and judgements”.

B. Significant changes in the
financial statements

Interpretations and amendments to published standards
effective in 2005

The following amendments and interpretations to standards are
mandatory for the Bank’s accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2005. The Bank has assessed the relevance of these
amendments and interpretations and concluded that they do not
result in changes to the Bank’s accounting policies:

3 |AS 39 (Amendment), The fair value option;

2 IAS 39 (Amendment), How to determine fair value;

o IFRIC 2, Members’ shares in co-operative entities and similar
instruments; and

= SIC 12 (Amendment), Consolidation — special purpose entities.

The following amendments and interpretations to standards,
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2005, have resulted in changes to the Bank’s accounting policies:

o |AS 28 (Amendment), Investments in associates;
3 1AS 39 (Amendment), De-recognition of a financial asset; and

0 IAS 39 (Amendment), Definitions relating to recognition
and measurement.

The impact of the above amendments on the Bank’s financia!l
statements is explained in the following section.

Changes in critical accounting policies

IAS 28 (Amendment), Investments in associates

Prior to 2005, all associate share investments were accounted
for as available-for-sale financial assets as the Bank did not
issue consolidated financial statements under the requirements
of the previous |IAS 28. As of 1 January 2005, the Bank applied
the exemption for venture capital organisations under IAS 28
(Amendment). This permitted the Bank to designate share
investments, previously held as available-for-sale and measured
at cost less impairment, as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. The Bank has chosen to designate all associate
share investments and high-risk equity funds as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss with changes in fair value
included in the income statement. All remaining non-associate
share investments (excluding high-risk equity funds) continue

to be designated as available-for-sale financial assets.

Prior to 2005, the Bank had concluded that it could not reliably
measure the fair value of its unlisted share investments. It was
therefore impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for unlisted
associate share investments and high-risk equity funds. Following
an enhancement to its valuation techniques, the Bank performed
an assessment of the fair value of the unlisted share investment
portfolio as at 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005 and




restated its unlisted share investments to fair value. The effect

of restating associate share investments and high-risk equity funds
to fair value at 1 January 2005 was a decrease in the revaluation
reserve by €84.8 million.

As the Bank has always carried listed share investments at fair
value, the 2004 comparatives have been restated to account for
listed associate share investments as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. At 31 December 2003, the fair value of the
listed associate share investments was €13.5 million below cost.
The Bank’s financial statements were therefore restated to
increase the 2004 opening revaluation reserve by €13.5 million
and reduce opening retained earnings by the same amount. The
fair value movement in 2004 of €126.0 million has been included
in the restated 2004 income statement. The overall effect of
restating listed associate share investments to financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss was to reduce the opening
revaluation reserve in 2005 by €112.5 million, and to increase
opening retained earnings by the same amount.

IAS 39 (Amendment), De-recognition of a financial asset
Collateralised placements represent transactions where the Bank
has purchased assets for which the market risk exposure remains
with the seller. This risk transference is achieved through the use of
a concurrent total return swap transacted with the seller. In 2004,
the Bank carried both the swap and underlying assets at fair value.
Under the new de-recognition rules in IAS 39 (Amendment), the
swap and underlying assets are no longer recognised on the
balance sheet and the transaction has been accounted for as

a loan held at amortised cost. The 2004 comparatives have been
restated, resulting in a decrease in collateralised placements

of €107.7 million, with an offsetting decrease in other liabilities-
derivative financial instruments.

IAS 39 (Amendment), Definitions relating to recognition

and measurement

IAS 39 (Amendment) contains clarification on the transaction
costs that could be deferred under IAS 18. The effect of this was
to restrict the types of costs which qualify for deferral. The Bank
has retrospectively applied IAS 39 (Amendment). The effect of the
restatement was to increase general administrative expenses in
2004 by €30.3 miliion, to increase interest income from loans by
€8.2 million and to decrease loan investments by the net amount
of €22.1 million. In addition, the Bank's opening retained earnings
at 1 January 2004 decreased by €77.9 million.

Changes in critical accounting estimates
and judgements

Fair valuation of unlisted share investments

Prior to 2005, the Bank valued its unlisted share investments

at historic cost, less any provisions for impairment at the balance
sheet date. Following an enhancement to its valuation techniques,
the Bank performed an assessment of the fair value of the unlisted
share investment portfolio as at 1 January 2005 and 31 December
2005 and revalued its unlisted share investments to fair value.

As fair value could not be reiiably measured prior to 2005,

it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for unlisted
share investments. The effect of revaluing unlisted non-associate
share investments (excluding high-risk equity funds) to fair value
at 1 January 2005 was an increase in the revaluation reserve

of €£€329.8 million. The fair value movement during 2005 of

€1.1 billion was included in the general reserve as part of
“revaluation reserve — available-for-sale assets”.

Fair valuation of equity-related derivatives

The enhancement of the Bank’s valuation technigues in 2005
enabled the Bank to fair value its equity-related derivatives.

All derivatives are measured at fair value through the income
statement in accordance with the “derivatives” accounting policy
explained below. As fair value could not be reliably measured prior
to 2005, it was impracticable to restate the 2004 comparatives.
An adjustment was made to opening retained earnings of €42.7
million to reflect the fair value of these derivatives at 1 January
2005. During 2005, the fair value movement of €8.6 million was
included in the income statement as part of “net gains from share
investments at fair value through profit or loss”.

Revision of portfolio provision estimates

In response to developments in the best practice application

of incurred loss provision models on a portfolio basis, the Bank
revised its provisioning estimate in 2005. The Bank determined
that a shorter emergence period for losses was appropriate for
lower-risk rated loan investments (those rated 1 to 6) and greater
provisioning was required for higher-risk rated loan investments
(those rated 6 watch and 7). This resulted in a net decrease in
portfolio provisions of €186.0 million. In addition, the Bank
created a loan loss reserve to set aside an amount of retained
earnings, within members’ equity, equal to the difference between
the impairment losses expected over the full life of the loan
portfolio and the amount recognised through the Bank's income
statement. At 31 December 2005, the loan loss reserve totalled
€292.0 million.

Restructuring of the Bank's retirement plans

In 2005 the Bank restructured its retirement plans. The
restructuring enhanced the Bank's retirement plans, reflecting the
past service of personnel and a change to the actuarial estimate
of the liabilities of the defined benefit scheme. The impact of the
enhancement was an exceptional expense of €22.9 million (£15.3
million) in 2005, recorded within general administrative expenses.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to
published standards not yet effective

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards were published in 2005 and are mandatory
for the Bank’s accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2006.




IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial guarantee
contracts (effective from 1 January 20086)

This amendment requires issued financial guarantees to be initially
recognised at their fair value, and subsequently measured at the
higher of the unamortised balance of the related fees received and
deferred, and the expenditure required to settle the commitment at
the balance sheet date. The Bank will apply this amendment from
annual periods beginning 1 January 20086.

IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures, and

1AS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of financial statements -
capital disclosures (effective from 1 January 2007)

IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information
about financial instruments. It requires the disclosure of qualitative
and guantitative information about exposure to risks arising from
financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures
about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including

an analysis of sensitivity to market risk. It replaces IAS 30,
Disclosures in the financial statements of banks and similar
financial institutions, and the disclosure requirements in

IAS 32, Financial instruments: Disclosure and presentation.

IAS 1 (Amendment) introduces disclosures about the level of

an entity’s capital and how it manages capital. The Bank assessed
the impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that
the main additionat disclosures will be the sensitivity analysis

to market risk and the capital disclosures required by IAS 1
(Amendment). The Bank will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment)
from annual periods beginning 1 January 2007.

IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee benefits

(effective from 1 January 20086)

This amendment introduces the option of an alternative recognition
approach for actuarial gains and losses. It may impose additional
recognition reguirements for multi-employer plans where
insufficient information is available to apply defined benefit
accounting. It also adds new disclosure requirements. As

the Bank does not intend to change its accounting policy for
recognising actuarial gains and losses and does not participate

in any multi-employer plans, adopting this amendment will only
have an impact on the format and extent of disclosures presented
in the accounts. The Bank will apply this amendment from annua!
periods beginning 1 January 20086.

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards will not result in changes to the Bank's
accounting policies:

0 1AS 39 (Amendment), Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast
intragroup transactions (effective from 1 January 2006);

IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-time adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards (effective from 1 January 2008);

0

o IFRS 6 (Amendment), Exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources (effective from 1 January 20086);

3 IFRIC 4, Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease
(effective from 1 January 2006);

a0 IFRIC 5, Rights to interests arising from decommissioning,
restoration and environmental rehabilitation funds (effective
from 1 January 20086); and

= IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from participating in a specific
market — waste electrical and electronic equipment (effective
from 1 December 2005).

C. Significant accounting policies

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables originated by the Bank are measured
atamortised cost using the effective yield method less any
provision for impairment or uncollectability, unless they form part
of a qualifying hedging relationship with a derivative position.
This principally occurs in cases of fixed rate loans that, through
association with individual swaps, are transformed from a fixed
rate basis to a floating rate basis. In such cases, the loan is
re-measured to fair value in respect of interest rate risk. The
change in value is then reported in the income statement as

an offset to the change in value of the related swap. Loans

are recognised at settlement date.

Collateralised placements are carried at amortised cost. These
are structures wherein the risks and rewards associated with the
ownership of a reference asset are transferred to another party
through the use of a swap contract and are a form of collateralised
lending.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category includes the Bank’s associate share investments and
high-risk equity funds. Such assets are carried at fair value on the
balance sheet with changes in fair value included in the income
statement in the period in which they arise. The basis of fair value
for listed financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in

an active market is the quoted bid market price on the balance
sheet date. The basis of fair value for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss that are either unlisted or listed in an inactive
market is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to
the market and industry of each investment. Purchases and sales
of share investments are recorded at trade date. Financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are analysed in note 14,

This category also includes assets acquired for the purpose of
generating profits from short-term price fluctuations. Such assets
are accounted for at fair value on the basis of independent market
quotes, with all changes in value recorded through the income
statement as they occur. Assets held in this category are
accounted for at trade date.




Available-for-sale

This category comprises assets that do not specifically belong to
one of the other categories. For the Bank, this consists of its non-
associate share investments (excluding high-risk equity funds) and
the majority of its Treasury portfolio. Such assets are carried at fair
value on the balance sheet. Changes in fair value are recognised
directly in reserves, as disclosed in the “statement of changes

in members’ equity”, until the financial asset is sold or impaired.
At this time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised

in reserves is removed and included in the income statement.

Share investments are impaired when there is objective evidence
that the future recoverability is in doubt. This could be indicated

by a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a share
investment below its cost. The Bank also evaluates factors such as
country, industry and sector performance, changes in technology
and operational and financial performance.

Where an available-for-sale asset is the hedged item in a qualifying
fair value hedge, the fair value gain or loss attributable to the risk
being hedged is reported in the income statement rather than
reserves. This is to ensure there is consistency of reporting, as
the fair value changes on the derivative acting as the hedge must
be reported in the income statement. Hedge accounting features
in Treasury positions where asset swaps are used to transform

the returns on fixed interest-rate securities to a floating rate basis.

The basis of fair value for available-for-sale share investments
listed in an active market is the quoted bid market price on the
balance sheet date. The basis of fair value for available-for-sale
share investments that are unlisted or listed in an inactive market
is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the market
and industry of each investment. Purchases and sales of share
investments are recorded at trade date. Available-for-sale share
investments are analysed in note 14.

The fair value of available-for-sale assets in the Bank’s Treasury
portfolio is determined by bid quotes from third-party sources or,
where there is no active market, by the use of discounted cash
flow models populated with observable market data. Purchases
and sales of Treasury's available-for-sale assets are recorded

at trade date.

Financial liabilities

Liabilities held for dealing

This occurs where the Bank has sold debt securities that it does
not yet own, known as “short” selling, with the intention of buying
those securities more cheaply at a later date and thus generating
a dealing profit. Such liabilities are measured at fair value with all
changes in value reported in the income statement as they occur.

Other financial liabilities

With the exception of liabilities held for dealing, all other financial
liabilities are measured at amortised cost, unless they form part
of a qualifying hedge relationship with a derivative position.

Derivatives

All derivatives are measured at fair value through the income
statement unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow hedging
relationship. In this case, the fair value of the derivative is taken

to reserves to the extent that it is a perfect hedge of the identified
risk. Any hedge ineffectiveness will result in the relevant proportion
of the fair value remaining in the income statement. Fair values are
derived primarily from discounted cash-flow models, option-pricing
models and from third-party quotes. Derivatives are carried as
assets when their fair value is positive, and as liabilities when

their fair value is negative. All hedging activity is explicitly identified
and documented by the Bank’s Treasury department,

Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting is designed to bring accounting consistency

to financial instruments that would not otherwise be permitted.

A valid hedge relationship exists when a specific relationship

can be identified between two or more financial instruments in
which the change in value of one instrument (the hedge) is highly
negatively correlated to the change in value of the other (the
hedged item). To qualify for hedge accounting, this correlation must
be within 80 to 125 per cent, with any ineffectiveness within these
boundaries recognised in the income statement.

The Bank documents the relationship between hedging instruments
and hedged items at the inception of the transaction. The Bank
also documents its assessment, on an ongoing basis, of whether
the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
hedged items.

Fair value hedges

The Bank’s hedging activities are primarily designed to mitigate
interest rate risk by using swaps to convert fixed interest rate risk,
on both assets and liabilities, into floating rate risk. Such hedges
are known as “fair value” hedges. Changes in the fair value of the
effective portions of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
fair value hedges, and that prove to be highly effective in relation to
hedged risk, are included in the income statement, along with the
corresponding change in fair value of the hedged asset or liability
that is attributable to that specific hedged risk.

Cash flow hedges

The Bank also engages in cash flow hedges, principally to minimise
the exchange rate risk associated with the fact that its future
administrative expenses are incurred in sterling. The amount and
timing of such hedges fluctuates in line with the Bank’s views on
opportune moments to execute the hedges. The majority of any
such hedging activity is for the following financial year but hedges
beyond one year can be used. Hedging is mainly through the
purchase of sterling in the forward foreign exchange market, but
currency options can also be used. The movement in the fair value
of cash flow hedges is recognised directly in reserves.




For further information on risk and related management policies,
refer to the risk management section on page 25.

Provisions for impairment of loan investments
and guarantees

Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan is
impaired, specific provisions for impairment are recognised

in the income statement. Impairment is defined as the difference
between the carrying value of the asset and the net present value
of expected future cash flows. It is determined using the
instrument’s original effective interest rate where applicable,

and is often indicated by a significant or prolonged decline in

the value of the asset below cost. The Bank’s Risk Management
Vice Presidency normally reviews assets for impairment every

six months, and sometimes more frequently. Resulting
adjustments include the unwinding of the discount in the income
statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required
in respect of a reassessment of the initial impairment.

Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are
not individually identified as impaired are calculated on a portfolio
basis. The methodology used for assessing such impairment is
based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign assets applied
in the month of disbursement. A separate methodology is applied
for all sovereign risk assets which takes into account the Bank’s
preferred creditor status afforded by its members. The effect of
applying the Bank’s methodology is considered to be approximate
to calculating impairment on an incurred loss basis, as it is the
difference between the carrying value of the groups of similar
assets and the net present value of their expected future

cash flows.

impairment, as determined above, is deducted from the asset
categories on the balance sheet. impairment of guarantees is
applied when the guarantees are effective and for trade finance is

based on utilisation. The methodology is consistent to that on non-

sovereign risk assets and is included in “other liabilities” on the
balance sheet.

Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged
to the income statement under the caption “provisions for
impairment of loan investments and guarantees”, as summarised
in note 10. When a loan or the underlying assets of a guarantee

is deemed uncollectable the principal is written off against the
related estimated impairment. Subsequent recoveries are credited
to the income statement if previously written off.

D. Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the
Bank to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts included in the income
statement during the reporting period.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

T fair value of available-for-sale share investments and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss; and

0 provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees.

These estimates are highly dependent on a number of variables
including interest rates, exchange rates and retained earnings
multiples which reflect the economic environment and financial
markets of the Bank’s countries of operations. Information on the
Bank's countries of operations can be found in the Annual Report
2005: Annual Review.

E. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’
maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for
use at short notice and which are subject to insignificant risk
of changes in value, less liabilities which are on demand.

F. Foreign currencies

In accordance with Article 35 of the Agreement Establishing the
Bank, the Bank originally used the European Currency Unit (ECU)
as the reporting currency for the presentation of its financial
statements. Following the replacement of the ECU with the

euro (€) from 1 January 1999, the reporting currency for the
presentation of the financial statements became the euro.




Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into euro

using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions, and from the translation at the year-end
exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies, are included in the income statement, except
when deferred in reserves as qualifying cash flow hedges.
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as share
investments held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
non-monetary items, such as share investments classified as
available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the fair value
reserve in equity.

G. Capital subscriptions

The Bank's share capital is denominated in' euro. However,

in addition to settling their capital obligations in euro, members
are also entitled to settle in US dollars or Japanese yen. For this
purpose, a fixed exchange rate for each currency was defined in
Articie 6 of the Agreement and these fixed exchange rates are
used to measure the value of the associated capital, as reported
in “members’ equity” in the balance sheet. The corresponding
figure for capital receivable on the asset side of the balance sheet
is, however, measured at current exchange rates and discounted
to its present value.

In order to ensure that capital receipts due in US dollars or
Japanese yen retain, at a minimum, their value as determined

by the Agreement’s fixed rates, the Bank’s policy is to fix their
euro value through foreign exchange contracts. These derivatives
are fair valued in accordance with IAS 39, with any gain or loss
being recorded in the income statement.

H. intangible assets

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly
associated with identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Bank, and that will probably generate economic
benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as
intangible assets. Direct costs include the staff costs of the
software development team and an appropriate portion of

relevant overheads.

Expenditure that enhances or extends the performance of
computer software programmes beyond their original specifications
is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original
cost of the software. Computer software development costs
recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line

method over an estimated life of three years.

1. Property, technology and office equipment

Property, technology and office equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on the
straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset to its
residual value over the estimated life as follows:

Freehold property 30years

Improvements on leases of less

than 50 years unexpired Unexpired periods

Technology and office equipment Three years

J. Accounting for leases

Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of
ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. The Bank has entered into such leases for most
of its office accommodation, both in London and in the Bank’s
countries of operations. Payments made under operating leases
are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated
before the lease period has expired, any payment required 1o be
made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the termination takes place.

K. Interest, fees, commissions and dividends

Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective
yield method. Interest is recognised on impaired loans through
unwinding the discount used in the present value calculations
applied to expected future cash flows.

Front-end fees and commitment fees are deferred in accordance
with IAS 18, together with the related direct costs of originating and
maintaining the commitment. These are then recognised in interest
income using the effective interest method over the period from
disbursement to repayment of the related loan. If the commitment
expires without the loan being drawn down, the fee is recognised
as income on expiry.

Fees received in respect of services provided over a period of time
are recognised as income as the services are provided. Other fees
and commissions are classed as income when received. Issuance
fees and redemption premiums or discounts are amortised over
the period to maturity of the related borrowings.

Dividends relating to share investments are recognised
when received.




L. Staff retirement plan

The Bank has a defined contribution scheme and a defined benefit
scheme to provide retirement benefits to its staff. Under the
defined contribution scheme, the Bank and staff contribute to
provide a lump sum benefit. The defined benefit scheme is funded
entirely by the Bank and benefits are based on years of service and
a percentage of final gross base salary as defined in the scheme.

The asset in respect of the defined benefit scheme is the fair value
of plan assets minus the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the balance sheet date, together with adjustments
for unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service cost.
Independent actuaries calculate the defined benefit obligation at
least every three years by using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows (relating to service
accrued to the balance sheet date) using the yields available on
high-quality corporate bonds. For intermediate years, the defined
benefit obligation is estimated using approximate actuarial roll-
forward techniques that allow for additional benefit accrual, actual
cash flows and changes in the underlying actuarial assumptions.

The Bank keeps all contributions to the schemes, and all other
assets and income held for the purposes of the schemes,
separately from all of its other assets. Actual contributions

made to the defined contribution scheme are charged to the
income statement and transferred to the scheme’s independent
custodians. The charge to the income statement in respect of the
defined benefit scheme is based on the current service cost and
other actuarial adjustments, as determined by qualified external
actuaries. Also included in this charge are actuarial gains and
losses in excess of a 10 per cent corridor which are amortised
over the estimated average service life remaining of the Bank’s
employees. The 10 per cent corridor is the higher of 10 per cent of
the defined benefit obligation or fair value of assets. The actuaries
also advise the Bank as to the necessary contributions to be made
to the defined benefit scheme, which are then transferred to the
scheme’s independent custodians.

M. Taxation

In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement, within the scope of
its official activities the Bank, its assets, property and income are
exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied upon
goods and services acquired or imported, except for those parts

of taxes or duties that represent charges for public utility services.

N. Government grants

Government grants relating to fixed asset expenditure considered
as part of the initial establishment of the Bank are recognised

in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the same
period as that applied for depreciation purposes. Other grants are
matched against the qualifying expenditure in the period in which
itis incurred. The balance of grants received or receivable that has
not been taken to the income statement is carried in the balance
sheet as deferred income within “other liabilities”.

0. Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, defined as their
issue proceeds, net of any transaction costs incurred. They are
subsequently stated at amortised cost and any difference between
net proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
yield method. Where borrowings have associated derivatives and
qualify for hedge accounting in line with IAS 39, the amortised

cost value is adjusted by the fair value of the hedged risks.

2. Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted

to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.
Comparative figures have been restated where appropriate, as
disclosed in “significant changes in the financial statements”.




Principles of financial management
and risk management

The financial policies require the EBRD to follow the guiding
principles of sound financial management, building on the
Agreement Establishing the Bank. They provide the financial
framework within which the Bank is required to pursue its mandate.

The EBRD's financial management aims to:

= pursue financial viability;

0

build up reserves and ensure sustainable profitability;

follow market and performance orientation in all its activities;

0

7 work within a comprehensive risk management framework; and

3 ensure transparency and accountability at all levels and support
effective corporate governance.

The EBRD’s financial policies define the financial and risk
parameters that apply to Banking and Treasury operations.
These policies include: (i) provisioning; (ii) pricing; and (iii) liquidity.

(i) The provisioning policy provides the basis to determine the
amount of general portfolio provisions and the principles for
specific provisions 1o be applied to all assets. To provide a
check on the appropriateness of the policy, total provisions
are regularly reviewed against losses calculated by the use
of the Bank’s risk capital model. The provisioning policy is
reviewed annually.

(i) Pricing policies determine the considerations and parameters
used to price loans, guarantees and share investments.

(iii) The liquidity policy is reviewed annually and determines the
amount of liquid assets required by the Bank, as well as its
medium-term borrowing requirement for the following financial
year. The annual review in 2005 resulted in changes to the
liquidity policy adopted in 2001. These changes included the
introduction of a framework under which the Bank’s liguidity
in non-convertible or not fully convertible local currency will
be managed.

Furthermore, the financial policies define capital utilisation
and provide portfolio risk parameters for Banking operations,
hedging policies, share investment valuation, exit procedures
and strategies, underwriting, risk management and corporate
governance policies. These policies are reviewed regularly in
the light of experience and external developments.

The financial policies require that the Board of Directors approves
a Treasury and Treasury Risk Management Authority (T&TRMA),
which defines the risk parameters to be observed by Treasury in
managing its exposures. This document is updated annually by the
Finance and Risk Management Vice Presidencies and approved by
the Board. It covers all aspects of Treasury where financial risks are
incurred and also all aspects of Treasury Risk Management in order
to identify, measure, manage and mitigate the financial risks in
Treasury. In addition, Treasury and Treasury Risk Management
guidelines have been issued in respect of Treasury risk taking

and Treasury Risk Management processes and procedures.

The T&TRMA is the document by which the Board of Directors
delegates authority to the Vice President of Finance to manage,
and the Vice President of Risk Management to identify, measure,
monitor and mitigate the Bank’s Treasury exposures. The two
Vice Presidents jointly interpret the Authority and notify the Board
of Directors of any material interpretation. The Financial and
Operations Policies Committee reviews the T&TRMA annually and
its review is submitted to the Board for approval. The credit process
describes the procedures for approval, management and review
of Banking exposures. These are reviewed by the Bank’s Audit
Committee annually and submitted to the Board for approval.

The Risk Management Vice Presidency has overall responsibility
for the independent identification, measurement, monitoring and
mitigation of all risks incurred by the Bank in both its Banking and
Treasury operations. The Vice President of Risk Management is a
member of the Bank's Executive Committee, as are the First Vice
President of Banking, and the Vice President of Finance, to whom
Treasury reports. The Vice President of Risk Management has
overall responsibility for formulating the Bank’s risk rnanagement
strategy for both Banking and Treasury functions. Risk Management
seeks to ensure that any risks are correctly identified and
appropriately managed and mitigated through comprehensive
and rigorous processes, which reflect best industry practice.




OTC derivatives and fareign exchange exposure
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Banking risks are managed through the Operations Committee.

In 2005, the membership comprised: the First Vice President,

the Vice President of Finance, the Vice President of Risk
Management, the Chief Economist, the General Counsel, the
Director of Risk Management and a Business Group Director.

The Operations Committee meets weekly and is responsible for
reviewing ait Banking projects prior to their submission for Board
approval. Projects are reviewed to ensure that they meet the Bank's
criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality.

The committee operates within authority delegated by the Board

to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations.
The committee is also responsible for overseeing Banking portfolio
management, approving significant changes to existing operations
and approving Risk Management's recommendations for provisions
for the impairment of assets.

Treasury risks are reviewed by the Treasury Exposure Committee,
which was established as part of the internal reorganisation of
the Bank during 2003, and which meets monthly. The Committee
members are: the Vice President of Finance, the Vice President of
Risk Management, the Treasurer, the Director of Risk Management,
the Deputy Treasurer, the Director of Treasury Risk Management,
the Chief Economist, the General Counsel, the Deputy General
Counsel and the Business Group Director of Financial Institutions.
The Treasury Exposure Committee is responsible for reviewing
and monitoring the implementation of the T&TRMA and related
guidelines. It assesses Treasury and Treasury Risk Management
policy proposals for approval by the Board, and monitors and
reviews the asset/liability profile and risk return trade off in
aggregate Treasury exposures. It also evaluates new product
proposals for Treasury exposures. Provisions for the impairment
of Treasury exposures are recommended by Risk Management,
assessed by the Treasury Exposure Committee and approved

by the Vice Presidents of Finance and Risk Management.
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B With Master Agreement
and Credit Support Annex 92.19
0O With Master Agreement only 7.80
Without Master Agreement 0.01

Use of derivatives

The EBRD’s use of exchange-traded and over-the-counter (OTC)
derivatives is primarily focused on hedging interest rate and
foreign exchange risks arising from both its Banking and Treasury
activities. Market views expressed through derivatives are also
undertaken as part of Treasury’s activities. In addition, the Bank
uses credit derivatives as an alternative to investments in specific
securities or to hedge certain exposures. The overall amount of
credit derivatives transactions is constrained by a dedicated limit.

The risks arising from derivative instruments are combined with
those deriving from all other instruments dependent on the same
underlying risk factors, and are subject to overall market and credit
risk limits, as well as to stress tests. Special care is devoted to
those risks that are specific to the use of derivatives, through, for
example, the monitoring of volatility risk for options, spread risk
for swaps and basis risk for futures.

In order to control credit risk in OTC derivative transactions, the
EBRD’s policy is to approve ex-ante each counterparty individually
and to review its creditworthiness and eligibility regularly. Overall
limits are allocated to each eligible counterparty in compliance with
guidelines that set a maximum size and tenor of exposure, based
on the counterparty’s internal credit rating and outlook. For those
counterparties, typically banks, that are deemed eligible for foreign
exchange and OTC derivatives, a portion of the overall counterparty
limit is allocated to these instruments. Utilisation of limits, whether
overall counterparty limits or dedicated foreign exchange and OTC
derivatives limits, is calculated using potential future exposure
methodotogy. This is based on a Monte Carlo simulation-based
model and is measured and monitored daily for all counterparties,
independently from risk takers.

For capital markets transactions entered into by the Bank, OTC
derivative transactions are normally limited to the highest-rated
counterparties. Furthermore, the EBRD pays great attention

to mitigating the credit risk of derivatives through systematic
recourse to a variety of risk mitigation techniques. OTC derivatives
transactions are systematically documented with a Master
Agreement (“MA”), providing for close-out netting, and a




Credit Support Annex (“CSA”). These provide for the posting of
collateral by the counterparty once the Bank’s exposure exceeds
a given threshold, as a function of the counterparty’s perceived
creditworthiness.

The Bank has also expanded the scope for applying risk mitigation
technigues by documenting the widest possible range of instruments
transacted with a given counterparty under a single MA and CSA,
notably foreign exchange transactions.

The Bank also systematically resorts to unwinding-upon-credit-
downgrading clauses and, for long-dated transactions, unilateral break
clauses. Similarly, the Bank emphasises risk mitigation for repurchase
and reverse repurchase agreements and related transaction types
through MA documentation.

As at 31 December 2005, 90.5 per cent of the Bank’s gross exposure
to derivatives counterparties was with counterparties with whom an
MA and CSA had been completed. All the Bank’s Treasury exposure

to foreign exchange and OTC derivatives was either with counterparties
rated triple-A in their own right, or with counterparties with whom

a collateral agreement had been completed, allowing for receipt

of collateral in the form of cash or liquid, triple-A rated government
securities.

The table below shows the nominal amounts of the Bank's derivative
transactions outstanding at the end of 2005 and the associated

fair values.

Derivative transactions

Restated

2005 2005 2004 2004
Nominal Falr vatue Nominal Fair value
€ milllon € million € million € million
Foreign currency products
oTC
Currency swaps 9,028.5 1,677.8 8,663.4 2,157.4
Spot and forward currency transactions 1,238.0 3.0 1,307.2 {27.3)
Total 10,266.5 1,680.8 9,970.6 2,130.1
Interest rate products
orC
Interest rate swaps 9,627.3 228.8 10,053.9 (79.3)
Forward rate agreements 81.4 - 904.0 -
Caps/floors 147.9 - 325.7 (0.1)
Exchange traded *
Interest-rate futures 3,351.5 na 6,364.5 na
interest-rate options 28.4 na 2,864.8 na
Total 13,136.5 228.8 20,512.9 (79.4)
Credit products
o7C
Credit default swaps 1,561.6 0.7 1,393.9 1.1
Total 1,561.6 0.7 1,393.9 1.1
Banking products
Equity derivatives 107.0 51.3 na na
Total 107.0 51.3 na na
Total OTC products 21,584.7 1,910.3 22,648.1 2,051.8
Total exchange-traded products 3,379.9 - 9,229.3 -
Total equity derivatives 107.0 51.3 - -

1 Exchange-traded instruments are cash-settied each day and thus do not have open fair values.




Credit exposure arises when the Bank has an overall positive fair
value with individual counterparties. At 31 December 2005,

the aggregate positive fair value amounted to €2.0 billion (2004
€2.1 billion). Against this, the Bank held collateral of €1.7 billion
(2004: €1.6 billion), thereby reducing its net credit exposure to
€0.3 billion (2004 €0.5 billion).

Financial risk factors

A. Credit risk

The EBRD is exposed to credit risk in both its Banking operations
and its Treasury activities. Credit risk arises because borrowers
and Treasury counterparties could default on their contractual
obligations, or the value of the Bank's investments could be
impaired. Most of the EBRD’s credit risk is in the Banking portfolio.
Projects are reviewed on a regular basis to promptly identify any
changes required in the assigned risk ratings, and any actions
required to mitigate this increased risk. Exposures are measured
against portfolio risk limits and reported to the Audit Committee
on a quarterly basis.

Banking credit risk

The EBRD conducts regular reviews of individual exposures within
its portfolio. Generally, projects are formally reviewed by Risk
Management once or twice a year depending on risk, or more
frequently for those that are perceived to be more vulnerable to
possible default. Regular reviews continue after project completion
for non-sovereign exposures. Each review includes a consideration
of the project risk rating, and, for equity investments, fair value.

For underperforming projects, the review examines the level of
impairment and corresponding specific provisions. Control of
disbursement is managed by the Operation Administration Unit
within the Office of the General Counsel, which is responsible
for checking compliance with project conditionality prior to
disbursement. The Unit also checks that correct procedures
are followed in line with approved policy. The management of
investments considered to be in jeopardy may be transferred
from Banking to the Corporate Recovery Unit. This reports jointly
to Risk Management and Banking, in order to manage the
restructuring work-out process.

All projects and countries of operations are assigned credit risk
ratings on an internal scale from 1 (lowest risk) to 10 (highest risk).
The Bank maintains three types of risk ratings: project, country and
overall. The project rating is determined from the financial strength
of the risk counterparty and the risk mitigation built into the project
structure. The country rating is assessed internally, taking into
consideration the ratings assessed by external rating agencies.

For non-sovereign operations, the overall rating is the numerically
higher of the project and country rating. The exception to this is
where the Bank has recourse to unconditional sponsor support
from outside the country of operations, in which case the overall
rating is the same as the project rating. For sovereign risk projects,
the overall rating is the same as the country rating. For the
performing portfolio, portfolio provisions are established according
to a matrix. This is designed to approximate incurred losses
calculated on the basis of objective evidence of impairment,

the Bank’s experience, and project, sector and country risks.




The table below shows the distribution of Banking operating assets
by country, instrument and sector.

Distribution of Banking operating assets, undrawn commitments and guarantees

Restated Undrawn Undrawn
Operating operating commitments commitments
assets assets’ and guarantees and guarantees
Analysis by country 2005 2004 2005 2004
€ million € million € million € million
Albania 121.5 68.7 115.3 106.1
Armenia 32.7 34.7 11.0 4.1
Azerbaijan 162.4 173.5 239.6 67.1
Belarus 68.9 456 21.6 11.5
Bosnia and Herzegovina 149.3 125.3 241.4 179.2
Bulgaria 299.8 314.7 360.7 228.0
Croatia 780.6 729.6 123.3 204.7
Czech Republic 299.6 4227 52.5 49.3
Estonia 59.3 251.5 - 4.8
FYR Macedonia 118.8 90.0 138.6 152.3
Georgia 90.1 55.4 47.3 27.3
Hungary 581.0 681.2 92.3 92.9
Kazakhstan 632.9 507.9 390.5 214.9
Kyrgyz Republic 78.2 58.9 5.0 7.2
Latvia 60.5 71.4 25.3 7.5
Lithuania 155.4 184.4 43.4 51.4
Moldova 62.4 721 25.4 13.0
Poland 1,107.7 1,214.3 390.2 282.9
Romania 1,951.5 1,125.6 716.0 430.0
Russian Federation 2,662.7 2,170.0 1,612.0 1,317.7
Serbia and Montenegro 312.0 242.0 404.7 348.2
Slovak Republic 3054 429.3 59.6 52.1
Slovenia 207.4 183.7 32.5 34.5
Tajikistan 22.9 18.0 19.5 8.0
Turkmenistan 58.9 63.0 33.3 24.6
Ukraine 579.9 534.0 544.7 329.1
Uzbekistan 146.9 151.7 139.7 123.4
Regional 889.9 790.2 794.0 807.4
At 31 December 11,998.6 10,809.4 6,679.4 5,179.2
Analysis by instrument
Loans 7,751.4 7,557.3 5,371.0 4,033.5
Share investments at fair value 4,179.3 3,196.1 843.8 651.1
Debt securities 67.9 56.0 ~ -
Trade finance guarantees 2 - - 316.9 214.1
Other guarantees 3 - - 147.7 280.5
At 31 December 11,998.6 10,808.4 6,679.4 5,179.2
Analysis by sector
Commerce and tourism 383.5 341.5 253.5 244.3
Community and social services 266.2 221.5 153.6 187.6
Energy/power generation 755.2 755.3 1,191.6 745.2
Extractive industries 630.2 562.8 98.5 134.2
Finance 5,250.5 4,332.5 1,695.2 1,276.4
Local authority services 525.9 480.0 664.3 629.7
Manufacturing 1,604.7 1,663.0 521.5 522.0
Primary industries 363.2 323.1 205.5 212.9
Telecommunications 569.4 823.2 111.0 67.5
Transport and construction 1,649.8 1,306.5 1,784.7 1,159.4
At 31 December 11,998.6 10,809.4 6,679.4 5,179.2

1 2004 operating assets excludes provisions for impairment.

2 Trade finance guarantees represent standby letters of credit, issued in favour of confirming banks who undertake the payment risk
of the issuing banks in the Bank's countries of operations.

3 Other guarantees include unfunded full or partial risk participations.




Diversification of Treasury peak exposure by country
31 December 2005
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Yreasury credit risk

Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result

from the default of a counterparty or the deterioration of its
creditworthiness. This could materialise in its downgrading by a
rating agency at any time until the maturity of the longest-dated
transaction outstanding with that counterparty. More precisely,

it can be referred to as pre-settlement risk. This is different from
settlement risk, which occurs only at the time, typically at the onset
and at the maturity, when an exchange of cash or securities occurs
in a transaction. As a special case, potential losses due to
downgrading or, more generally, any change in the relative credit
quality of securities, are also often known as spread risk or credit
spread risk. The Bank also monitors concentration risk, which is
the risk arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio being
allocated to a specific country, industry sector, obligor, type of
instrument or individual transaction.

Treasury Risk Management assigns internal credit ratings,
determined by referring to approved credit rating agencies and

by using an internal assessment of the creditworthiness of
counterparties. The internal credit rating scale ranges from 1 to 10,
the same as that used for the Banking department’s exposures.
The Board-approved T&TRMA states the minimum rating and
maximum tenor by type of eligible counterparty. The actual
exposure size limit and/or tenor limit attributed to individual
counterparties may be smaller or shorter, respectively, based

on the likely direction of its credit quality over the medium term,

its internal outlook, or on sector considerations. individual
counterparty lines for banks, corporates and insurance companies
are measured, monitored and reviewed by Treasury Risk
Management on a regular basis.

The Bank's exposure measurement methodology for Treasury
credit risk uses a Monte Carlo simulation technique that produces,
to a high degree of confidence, maximum (in practice, 95 per cent
eVaR*) exposure amounts at future points in time for each
counterparty. This is across all transaction types and continues
until the maturity of the longest dated transaction with that
counterparty.
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Diversification by country/region

At 31 December 2005, the portfolio’s credit exposure covered
20 countries/regions. The United States (with a 45.3 per cent
share against 46.9 per cent in 2004), the United Kingdom (with
10.0 per cent against 9.6 per cent in 2004) and France (with
9.0 per cent against 3.2 per cent in 2004) were the largest
contributors. No other country exceeded 7 per cent of the
Treasury portfolio credit exposure.

Diversification by counterparty type

Some 61.1 per cent of the overall exposure was to banks (2004:
57.4 per cent), while the next two largest counterparty types were
sovereigns at 13.1 per cent (2004: 15.8 per cent) and ABS at
11.3 per cent (2004: 8.5 per cent).

B. Market risk

Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse
market movements. The drivers of market risk are usually divided
into: (i) interest rate risk; (ii} foreign exchange risk; (iii) equity risk;
and (iv) commaodity price risk. The latter two are not relevant to the
Bank's Treasury operations. Interest rate risks are further broken
down into yield curve risk, which measures the impact of changes in
the shape of the yield curve for a given currency, and volatility risk,
which deals with risks specific to interest rate option transactions.
Yield curve risk can in turn be divided into changes in the overall
level of interest rates (a parallel shift of an entire yield curve} and
changes in the slope or the shape of the yield curve. Similarly,
foreign exchange rate risks are split into risk emanating from
changes in the level of foreign exchange rates, and volatility risk,

~which is inherent to foreign exchange options.




Exposure by counterparty type
31 December 2005

%

3 Banks 61.1
O Sovereigns 131
O ABS 11.3
2 Insurance companies 19
Derivative product companies 3.3
Corporates 2.0
Multilateral organisations 13

The EBRD’s main market risk exposure arises from the fact that
the movement of interest rates and foreign exchange rates may
adversely affect positions taken by the Bank in its Treasury
portfolio. The EBRD aims to limit and manage market risks as

far as possible through active asset and liability management.
Interest rate risks are managed by synthetically hedging the
interest rate profiles of assets and liabilities, mainly through the
use of exchange-traded and OTC derivatives for hedging purposes.
Exposures to foreign exchange and interest rate risks are measured
and monitored daily by Treasury Risk Management, independently
of Treasury, to ensure compliance with authorised limits.

The Bank monitors its exposure to market risk in its Treasury
portfolio through a combination of limits, based on Monte Carlo
simulation-based eVaR, also known as Expected Shortfall, and a
variety of additional risk measures. The Bank's overall eVaR limit

is laid down in the Board-approved T&TRMA. Foreign exchange
transactions are further constrained by an eVaR sub-limit dedicated
to foreign exchange exposures.

Additional eVaR measures are communicated to senior
management, in particular for drilling down from aggregate eVaR
measures to individual market factors (marginal evVaR and VaR
sensitivities). For the options portfolio, dedicated options evVaR
computations are performed, in order to factor in the non-linear
behaviour of option instruments.

For internal monitoring purposes, eVaR is defined as the average
potential loss that could be incurred, due to adverse fluctuations
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, over a one-day trading
horizon and computed with a 95 per cent confidence level.
Notwithstanding the adoption of eVaR as the Bank's preferred
methodology, parametric VaR*® numbers continue to be calculated
for the entire portfolio on a daily basis, although they are no longer
associated to any formal limit. Also, for enhanced comparability
across institutions, numbers displayed in the Financial Report are
VaR-based and scaled up to a 99 per cent confidence level over

a ten-trading-day horizon.
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O Banks 574
O Sovereigns 15.8
O ABS 8.5
T insurance companies 7.2
. Derivative product companies 5.3
Corporates 41
Multilateral arganisations 1.7

A number of other risk measures are employed to complement
eVaR and VaR data, with numbers produced using a different set of
assumptions. This is to ensure that material risks are not ignored
by focusing on one particular set of risk measures. Foreign
exchange risk and the various types of interest rate risks, whether
for outright exposures or for options, are monitored with sensitivity-
based measures independently for each currency and type of
option. A series of stress tests is also produced on a daily basis.
These primarily encompass:

(i) stress-testing the options portfolio for joint large changes in the
level of the price of the underlying security and that of volatility;

(i) analysing, for each currency separately, the profit and loss
impact of large deformations in the level and shape of the
yield curve;

(iii) producing stress tests covering the entire Treasury portfolio
based on historical scenarios; and

(iv) specific stress tests aimed at quantifying the impact of
a breakdown in correlation patterns.

* VaR is a statistical estimate of the maximum prebable loss that can be incurred, due to adverse
movements in major market drivers, over a given time horizon and estimated at a given confidence
level. Expected Shortfall, or evaR, is the average 10ss beyond the VaR level and is a more accurate
measure of large potential losses.

18 While computationally effective, parametric VaR methods require stringent assumptions about the
statistical behaviour of market drivers that can be relaxed when using Mo te Carlo simulation
methodology. In contrast to parametric methods, Monte Carlo-based mezsures can
also incorparate the non-linear behaviour of instruments such as options.




C. Currency risk

United

States Japanese Other
Net currency position at 31 December 2005 Euro dollars Sterling yen currencies Total

€ million € million € million € million € million € million

Assets
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 1,254.1 2,414.0 13.4 42.9 757 3,800.1
Collateralised placements 901.2 574.1 - - - 1,475.3
Debt securities 2,982.9 3,658.1 641.1 234.8 100.5 7,617.4
Derivative financial instruments 67.6 (6,910.4) 2,875.5 2,512.4 3,7731 2,318.2
Other assets 196.3 885.0 37.2 4.3 14.5 1,137.3
Loan investments 3,373.1 4,078.5 1.0 - 366.7 7,819.3
Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees (122.3) (180.2) (0.2) - (20.8) {323.5)
Share investments 4,179.3 - - - - 4,179.3
Intangible assets 16.2 - - - - 16.2
Property, technology and office equipment 12.3 - - - - 12.3
Paid-in capital receivable 168.8 125.3 - 32.5 = 326.6
Total assets at 31 December 2005 13,029.5 4,644.4 3,568.0 2,826.9 4,309.7 28,378.5
Liabilities and members’ equity
Amounts owed to credit institutions (843.9) (61.3) (4.4) - (68.5) (978.1)
Debts evidenced by certificates (1,772.8)  (4.344.2) (2,924.4) (2,773.3) (4,114.7) (15,929.4)
Derivative financial instruments (412.8) 698.7 (511.1} (34.1) (97.3) (356.6)
Other liabilities (150.1) (914.6) (144.1) (19.7) (33 1) (1,261.6)
Members’ equity (9,845.4) (6.9) (0.3) - .2)  (9,852.8)
Total liabilities and members’ equity at 31 December 2005 (13,025.0) (4,628.3) (3,684.3) (2,827.1) (4, 313 8) (28,378.5)
Currency position at 31 December 2005 4.5 16.1 (16.3) (0.2) (4.1) -

United
Restated States Japanese Other
Net currency pasition at 31 December 2004 Euro dollars Sterling yen currencies Total

€ million € million € million € million € million € milllon

Assets
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 66.1 521.8 1.4 91.9 3.3 684.5
Collateralised placements 995.0 650.0 - - 0.1 1,645.1
Debt securities 2,678.0 2,582.8 427.7 422.8 4.6 6,125.7
Derivative financial instruments (153.0) (5,051.8) 2,667.5 2,675.9 2,483.4 2,622.0
Other assets 61.4 456.6 44.1 4.6 30.6 597.3
toans 3,403.5 3,867.0 0.6 - 342.2 7,613.3
Provisions for impairment of loans (204.1) (284.0) (0.1) - (19.3) (507.5)
Share investments 2,651.8 - - - - 2,651.8
Intangible assets 18.1 - - - - 18.1
Property, technology and office equipment 13.86 - - - - 13.6
Paid—in capital receivable 325.8 182.6 - 59.3 - 567.7
Total assets at 31 December 2004 9,856.2 2,935.0 3,141.2 3,254.3 2,844.9 22,031.6
Liabilities and members’ equity
Amounts owed to credit institutions (806.6) (54.8) (5.5) (13.5) (32.9) (913.3)
Debts evidenced by certificates (1,045.9) (3,444.1) (2,711.8) (3,016.1) (2,747.7) (12,965.6)
Derivative financial instruments (988.7) 962.7 (299.1) (198.2) (46.9) (570.2)
Other liabilities (84.1) (440.6) (121.0) (24.9) (29.2) (699.8)
Members’ equity (6,876.6) 6.1) - - - (6,882.7)
Total liabilities and members’ equity at 31 December 2004 (9,801.9) (2,982.9) (3,137.4) (3,252.7) (2,856.7) (22,031.6}
Currency position at 31 December 2004 54.3 (47.9) 3.8 1.6 (11.8) -

In addition to the Bank's reporting currency, the euro, currencies
individually disclosed are those in which the Bank primarily raises
funds (see note 17) and which expose the Bank to exchange

rate risk.




D. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The length of time for
which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates to
what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk. The table below provides
information on the extent of the Bank’s interest rate exposure, based
either on the contractual maturity date of its financial instruments or,

in the case of instruments that reprice to a market rate of interest
before maturity, the next repricing date. Securities that comprise the
Bank's dealing portfolio are assumed to reprice within the “3 months

to 1 year” category.

Qver Over . Over
1 month 3 months 1year Nen-
Upto and up to and up to and up to interest-
Repricing interval andincluding  andincluding and including and including bearing
at 31 December 2005 1 month 3 months 1year Syears funds Total
€ million € million € million € million € million € mlllion
Assets
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 3,768.1 7.2 24.8 - - 3,800.1
Collateralised placements 1,475.3 - - - - 1,475.3
Debt securities 2,744.4 3,741.2 1,131.8 - - 7,617.4
Derivative financial instruments 565.8 620.5 1,080.7 1.2 50.0 2,318.2
Other assets 108.1 384 978.1 - 12.7 1,137.3
Loan investments 1,102.0 2,851.4 3,770.0 59.6 36.3 7,819.3
Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees (46.5) (119.4) (123.9) - (33.7) (323.5)
Share investments - - - - 4,179.3 4,179.3
Non interest earning assets including paid-in capital receivable - - - - 355.1 355.1
Total assets 9,717.2 7,139.3 6,861.5 60.8 4,599.7 28,378.5
Liabilities and members’ equity
Amounts owed to credit institutions (944.2) (21.5) (12.4) - - (978.1)
Debts evidenced by certificates (3,938.0) (5,884.5) (6,106.9) - - (15,929.9)
Derivative financial instruments (105.3) (147.3) (104.0) - - (356.6)
Other liabilities (4.5} (127.7) (1,101.2) - (28.2) (1,261.6)
Members' equity - — - — (9,852.8) (9,852.8)
Total liabilities and members’ equity (4,992.0} (6,181.0) (7,324.5) - (9,881.0) (28,378.5)
interest rate risk at 31 December 2005 4,725.2 958.3 (463.0) 60.8 (5,281.3) -~
Cumuiative interest rate risk at 31 December 2005 4,725.2 5,683.5 5,220.5 5,281.3 - -




Over Qver Over

1 month 3 months 1 year Non-
Upto and up to and up to and upto interest-
Restated and including andincluding  and including and including bearing
Repricing interval at 31 December 2004 1 month 3 months 1year S5years funds Total
€ million € million € million € million € million € milllon
Assets
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 680.5 4.0 - - - 684.5
Collateralised placements 635.5 1,009.6 - - - 1,645.1
Debt securities 2,130.3 3,580.7 414.7 - - 6,125.7
Derivative financial instruments 508.8 1,301.0 700.7 21.5 - 2,622.0
Other assets 459.3 50.1 27.7 0.2 60.0 597.3
Loans 1,369.7 2,927.4 3,238.4 20.9 56.9 7,613.3
Provisions for impairment of loans (11.5) (1.5) (5.7) - (488.8) (507.5)
Share investments - - - - 2,651.8 2,651.8
Non-interest-earning assets including paid-in capital receivable - - - - 599.4 599.4
Total assets 5,862.6 8,871.3 4,375.8 42.6 2,879.3 22,031.6
Liabilities and members’ equity
Amounts owed to credit institutions (898.4) 4.9) (10.0) - - (913.3)
Debts evidenced by certificates (2,493.7) (5,561.5) (4,910.4) - -~ {12,965.6)
Derivative financial instruments (150.3) (367.2) (52.7) - - (670.2)
Other liabilities (374.2) (120.6) (60.7) - (144.3) (699.8)
Members’ equity - - - - (6,882.7) (6,882.7)
Total liabilities and members’ equity (3,916.6) (6,054.2) (5,033.8) - (7,027.0) (22,031.6)
Interest rate risk at 31 December 2004 1,946.0 2,817.1 (658.0) 42.6 (4,147.7) -
Cumulative interest rate risk at 31 December 2004 1,946.0 4,763.1 4,105.1 4,147.7 - -
The Bank's interest rate risk measurement is complemented by
accepted market technigues including VaR, spread risk and volatility
risk, on which frequent management reporting takes place.
Effective interest rates
The table below gives indicative levels of interest rates applying at
year end on the Bank's interest-yielding assets and liabilities for the
principal currencies in which the Bank operates. Trading securities are
not included in this analysis, as the intention in holding such securities
is not for generating net interest margins but rather capital gains from
short-term price fluctuations.
2005 2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004 2004
EUR uss PY GBP EUR us$ JPY GBP
% % % % % % % %
Assets
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 2.39 4.35 - 4.75 2.17 2.44 0.35 -
Collateralised placements 2.86 4.91 - - 2.39 3.04 - -
Debt securities 2.69 4.87 0.23 5.67 2.36 3.02 0.16 5.01
Loans 4.31 7.14 - 6.54 3.82 5.23 - 6.88
Liabilities
Amounts owed to credit institutions (2.18) (3.60) - (4.75) (2.06) (1.47) - (4.82)

Debts evidenced by certificates (2.37) {4.35) 0.23 (4.19) (1.93) (2.44) 0.31 {4.53)




E. Liguidity risk

Liquidity is the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposit
withdrawals and other financial commitments as they fall due.

The Bank is committed to maintaining a strong liquidity position.

To ensure this, the Bank requires a minimum target liquidity ratio,
based on a multi-year context, of 45 per cent of its next three years’
net cash requirements, with full coverage of all committed but
undisbursed project financing plus one year’s debt service. In addition,
30 per cent of the Bank’s net Treasury investments must mature
within one year. This policy is implemented by maintaining liquidity

in an operating target zone of 90 per cent of the next three years’ net
cash reguirements and 100 per cent of committed but undisbursed
project financing, plus one year's debt service — above the required
minimum level.

The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and
members’ equity placed into relevant maturity groupings, based on

the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. It presents the most prudent maturity dates where
options or repayment patterns allow for early repayment possibilities.
Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible repayment
date is shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment
date. Assets held as part of Treasury’s dealing portfolio are assigned

a maturity of between 3 months and 1 year to reflect the typical holding
pattern of assets in that portfolio.

Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity
date are grouped together in the “maturity undefined” category.

Over

Over

QOver

1 month 3 months 1 year
Upto and up to and up to and up to
and including and including and including  and including Over Maturity

Liguidity risk at 31 December 2005 1 month 3 months 1year Syears Syears undefined Total

€ million € million € million € million € million € miltion € million
Assets .
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 3,768.1 - 24.8 7.2 - - 3,800.1
Collateralised placements 1,475.3 - - - - - 1,475.3
Debt securities 16.3 75.6 946.9 2,923.9 3,654.7 - 7,617.4
Derivative financial instruments 111.7 155.6 272.3 376.8 1,401.8 - 2,318.2
Other assets 104.6 52.9 952.0 0.2 25.1 25 1,137.3
Loan investments 192.2 406.1 1,247.8 4,153.2 1,739.0 81.0 7,819.3
Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees (11.5) (14.3) (38.3) (183.1) (47.7) (28.6) (323.5)
Share investments - - - - - 4,179.3 4,179.3
Intangible assets - - - - - 16.2 16.2
Property, technology and office equipment - - - - - 12.3 12.3
Paid-in capital receivable - - 133.2 156.5 - 36.9 326.6
Total assets 5,656.7 675.9 3,538.7 7,434.7 6,772.9 4,299.6 28,378.5
Liabilities and members’ equity
Amounts owed to credit institutions (944.2) {21.5) (12.4) - - - (978.1)
Debts evidenced by certificates (912.2) (770.6) (2,633.9) (3,729.4) (7,883.3) - (15,929.4)
Derivative financial instruments (72.5) (111.3) (107.0) (36.0) (29.8) - (356.6)
Other liabilities (9.6) (6.0) (1,107.2) - - (138.8) (1,261.6)
Members’ equity - - - - - (9,852.8) (9,852.8)
Total liabilities and members’ equity (1,938.5) (909.4) (3,860.5) (3,765.4) (7,913.1) (9,991.6) (28,378.5)
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 3,718.2 (233.5) (321.8) 3,669.3 (1,140.2) (5,692.0) -
Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 3,718.2 3,484.7 3,162.9 6,832.2 5,692.0 - -




Over QOver Over

1 month 3 months 1 year
Upto andup to andupto and up to

Restated and including andincluding  andincluding and including Over Maturity
Liquidity risk at 31 December 2004 1 month 3 months 1 year 5years 5years undefined Total

€ million € million € million € million € million € million € million
Assets
Piacements with and advances to credit institutions 680.5 - - 4.0 - - 684.5
Collateralised placements 635.5 1,009.6 - - - - 1,645.1
Debt securities 131.1 86.7 265.1 2,572.9 3,031.8 38.1 6,125.7
Derivative financial instruments 38.8 150.5 451.8 913.3 1,067.6 - 2,622.0
Other assets 438.6 39.3 32.8 17.7 68.9 - 597.3
Loans 158.8 371.4 1,155.2 4,114 .4 1,742.9 70.6 7,613.3
Provisions for impairment of loans (11.9) (24.9) (83.1) (246.8) (112.9) (27.9) (507.5)
Share investments - - - - - 2,651.8 2,651.8
Intangible assets - - - - - 181 18.1
Property, technology and office equipment - - - - - 13.6 13.6
Paid-in capital receivable - - 248.4 298.0 - 21.3 567.7
Total assets 2,071.4 1,632.6 2,070.2 7,673.5 5,798.3 2,785.6 22,031.6
Liabilities and members’ equity
Amounts owed to credit institutions 898.4) (4.9) (10.0) - - - (913.3)
Debts evidenced by certificates (110.9) (474.2) (1,645.6) (3,529.3) (7,205.6) - (12,965.6)
Derivative financial instruments - (160.4) (161.2) (167.7) (80G.9) - (570.2)
Other liabilities (322.7) (27.8) (245.8) (26.5) (43.8) (33.2) (699.8)
Members’ equity - - - - - (6,882.7) (6,882.7)
Total liabilities and members’ equity (1,332.0) (667.3) (2,062.6) (3,723.5) (7,330.3) (6,915.9) (22,031.6)
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2004 739.4 965.3 7.6 3,950.0 (1,532.0) (4,130.3) -
Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2004 739.4 1,704.7 1,712.3 5,662.3 4,130.3 - -

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The Bank’s balance sheet approximates to fair value in all financial
asset and liability categories, with the exception of Banking fixed rate
loans where interest rate risk has been hedged on a portfolio basis. As
a result, the Bank does not hedge account for such loans and therefore
the underlying changes to the fair value of these assets are not
recognised on the balance sheet. At 31 December 2005, the fair value
of these loans was €25.6 million above the current balance sheet value
(2004: €29.8 million).




1. Establishment of the Bank

i Agreement Establishing the Bank

The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
(“the Bank™), whose principal office is located in London,

is an international organisation formed under the Agreement
Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1290 (“the Agreement”).
At 31 December 2005, the Bank's shareholders comprised
60 countries, together with the European Community and

the European Investment Bank.

i1 Headquarters Agreement

The status, privileges and immunities of the Bank and persons
connected with the Bank in the United Kingdom are defined in
the Headquarters Agreement between the Government of the
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the
Bank (“Headquarters Agreement”). The Headquarters Agreement
was signed in London at the start of the Bank’s operations on

15 April 1991.

2. Segment information

Business segments

For management purposes, the business of the Bank comprises
primarily Banking and Treasury operations. Banking activities
represent investments in projects which, in accordance with the
Agreement, are made for the purpose of assisting the countries of
operations in their transition to a market economy, while applying
sound banking principles. The main investment products are loans,
share investments and guarantees. Treasury activities include
raising debt finance, investing surplus liquidity, managing the
Bank's foreign exchange and interest rate risks and assisting
clients in asset and liability management matters.




Primary reporting format - business segment

Restated Restated Restated
Banking Treasury Aggregated Banking Treasury Aggregated
2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004
€ million € miilion € milllon € million € miliion £ miltion
interest income 416.9 352.7 769.6 310.3 2156 525.8
Other income 1,158.3 9.3 1,167.6 305.5 24.0 329.5
Fair value movement on paid-in capital receivable
and associated hedges? 9.5 1.1 10.6 19.2 2.1 21.3
Total segment revenue 1,584.7 363.1 1,947.8 635.0 2417 876.7
Less interest expenses and similar charges? (258.7) (303.7) (562.4) 172.4) (162.1) (334.5)
Allocation of the return on capital*2 137.2 15.2 152.4 100.4 11.2 111.6
Fair value movement on non-qualifying hedges - 6.1 6.1 - 4.8 4.8
Less general administrative expenses (184.5) (17.3) (201.8) (158.4) (15.0) (173.4)
Less depreciation and amortisation (16.2) (0.9) (17.1) (15.5) (0.9) (16.4)
Segment result before provisions 1,262.5 62.5 1,325.0 389.1 79.7 468.8
Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees 200.6 - 200.6 (67.2) - (67.2)
Net profit for the year 1,463.1 62.5 1,525.6 321.9 79.7 401.6
Segment assets 11,878.5 16,173.4 28,051.9 9,905.0 11,558.9 21,4639
Paid-in capital receivable __326.6 5677
Total assets 28,378.5 22,031.6
Segment liabilities
Total liabilities 146.0 18,379.7 18,625.7 136.0 15,0129 15148.9
Capital expenditure 13.2 0.8 14.0 10.0 0.6 10.6
* Unwinding of interest income from the present value adjustment of paid-in capital receivable and the allocation of the return
on capital total €163.0 million (2004: €1.32.9 million), which is the Bank’s return on net paid-in capital used in segmentat results.
2 Interest expenses and similar charges and the allocation of the return on capital total €410.0 million (2004: €222.9 million).
This is the Bank's “Interest expenses and similar charges™ as reported in the income statement.
Secondary reporting format — geographical segment
The Bank’s activities are divided into four regions for internal management purposes.
Restated Restated
Segment revenue Segment revenue Segment assets Segment assets
2005 2004 2005 2004
€ miilion € million € million € million
Advanced countries? 923.0 312.8 4,548.4 4,144.4
Early/Intermediate countries? 333.3 171.9 4,749.4 3,693.3
Russian Federation 328.4 150.3 2,580.7 2,067.3
OECD (Treasury operations) 363.1 241.7 16,173.4 11,558.9
Total 1,947.8 876.7 28,051.9 21,463.9

Advanced countries are Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland,
Slovak Republic and Slovenia.

Early/Intermediate countries are Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan. Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria,
Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova, Romania,
Serbia and Montenegro, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Ukraine and Uzbekistan.




3. Net fee and commission income

The main components of net fee and commission income
are as follows:

2005 2004
€ million € million
Cancellation fees 5.6 3.2
Trade finance fees 5.2 4.3
Appraisal fees 3.4 3.7
Guarantee fees 3.1 4.0
Other 5.3 9.2
Equity fund fee expenses (3.2) (6.8)
Net fee and commission income 19.4 17.6
Front-end and commitment fees of €38.2 miilion {2004:
€48.0 million) received in 2005, together with related direct costs
of €5.7 million (2004 restated: €5.2 million), have been deferred
on the balance sheet. They will be recognised in interest income
over the period from disbursement to repayment of the related loan,
in accordance with IAS 18. In 2005, €12.6 million (2004 restated:
€8.2 million) of previously deferred fees and direct costs were
recognised in interest income.
4. Net galins from share investments at fair value through profit or loss
Restated
2005 2004
€ million € million
Net unrealised gains from associate share investments and high-risk equity funds 366.2 126.0
Net realised gains from associate share investments and high-risk equity funds 113.8 -
Net unrealised gains from equity-related derivatives 8.6 —
Net gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss 488.6 126.0
5. Net gains from available-for-sale share investments
Restated
2005 2004
€ miliion € million
Net realised gains from available-for-sale share investments 526.1 122.4
Recoveries of previously recognised impairment losses® 35.0 49.6
Impairment losses from available-for-sale share investments® (8.6) (63.3)
Net gains from available-for-sale share investments 552.5 108.7

t The 2004 comparative recoveries of previously recognised impairment [osses of €49.6 milfion and impairment (osses
from available-for-sale share investments of €63.3 million were together recorded within pravisions for impairment
in the 2004 income statement.




8. Net gains/{losses) from
available-for-sale Treasury assets

Restated

2005 2004

€ million € million

Realised gains from available-for-sale Treasury assets 3.3 2.3

Recoveries of previously recognised impairment losses 6.7 -

Impairment losses from available-for-sale Treasury assets? - (4.0)
Net gains/(losses) from available-for-sale

Treasury assets 10.0 (1.7)

! The 2004 comparative impairment losses from available-for-sale Treasury assets of €4.0 million
were recorded within provisions for impairment in the 2004 income statement.

Realised gains arose from the disposal of available-for-sale
debt securities.

7. Net (losses)/gains from dealing

While hedge accounting can be applied to most of the Bank's
derivative positions due to one-to-one hedging relationships, it may
not be possible to achieve 100 per cent hedge effectiveness where
the change in value of the derivative is exactly matched by the
change in value of the hedged asset or liability. Any ineffectiveness
in the offsetting valuations must be recognised in the income
statement. In 2005, this figure amounted to a gain of €0.8 million
(2004: €6.5 million).

During the year, the fair value movement of €1.7 million (2004:
€7.0 million) on swaps hedging the Bank's capital receivable in
US dollars and Japanese yen was reported in net interest, along
with the discounting effect on the capital receivable.

9. General administrative expenses

Restated

2005 2004
activities and foreign exchange €millon € milion
Personnel costs 145.4 118.9
2005 2004 Overhead expenses net of government grants 62.1 59.7
€ million € mittion General administrative expenses 207.5 178.6

Debt buy-backs 1.3 24.9 Deferral of direct costs related to loan
Foreign exchange (0.9) 1.0 origination and commitment maintenance (5.7) (5.2)
Dealing portfolio (1.1) (0.2)  Net general administrative expenses 201.8 173.4

Net (losses)/gains from dealing
activities and foreign exchange (0.7) 25.7

Net losses on the dealing portfolio includes both realised and
unrealised gains or losses, together with associated interest
income and expense.

8. Fair value movement on
non-qualifying hedges

The fair value movement on non-qualifying hedges does not derive
from dealing activities but is a consequence of the accounting
rules introduced by IAS 39. This accounting standard requires

all derivatives to be fair valued in the income statement. Where
derivatives are hedging non-derivative financial assets or liabilities,
the latter can also be re-measured to fair value for the specific risks
hedged and reported through the income statement. Hedge
accounting, as this process is known, can only be used where
hedge relationships can be specifically identified and close
correlation proven. Interest rate hedging on a portfolio basis, which
does not qualify for hedge accounting, is carried out against the
Bank's fixed-rate loan book. Derivatives are used to exchange the
fixed rate flows on the ioan assets in return for floating interest
payments, primarily through the use of swap contracts. The swaps
are subject to fair value accounting, but the fixed rate loan assets
are not. As the Bank is paying fixed rates of interest in these
contracts, increases in the relevant interest rates, primarily

the US dollar and the euro, will result in fair value gains on these
contracts, while the converse will happen if rates fall. In 2005,
both euro and US dollar rates rose, resulting in a net gain of

€5.3 million for the year (2004: loss of £1.7 million).

The increase in personnel costs in 2005 compared with 2004
largely reflects €22.9 million (£15.3 million) of one-off expenditure
relating to a restructuring of the Bank’s retirement plans. This
included adjustments to enhance the Bank's retirement plans,
reflecting the past service of personnel, and a change to the
actuarial estimate of the defined benefit scheme’s liabilities.

The average numbers of staff included in personnel costs during
the year were: 968 headquarters staff (2004: 864), 235 locally
hired staff in Resident Offices (2004: 233), 105 contract staff
(comprising special contract staff, interns/short-term staff

and locally hired general service contract staff), and 77 Board
of Directors personnel. Some 89 staff members were

externally funded.

Staff numbers at 31 December 2005 consisted of: 971
headquarters staff (comprising regular and analyst staff in Bank
Departments and Board support staff) (2004: 965), 232 locally
hired staff in Resident Offices (2004: 237), 111 contract staff
(comprising 31 special contract staff, 58 interns/short-term staff
and 22 locally hired general service contract staff), and 76 Board
of Directors personnel. Some 86 staff members were externally
funded. In addition, 90 Project Bureau staff (2004; 89) were
engaged by the Russia Small Business Fund on projects in the
Russian Federation.

During the year, government grants of €2.1 million
(2004 €2.1 million) were taken to the income statement.




The following fees for work performed by the Bank’s external auditors
were included in overhead expenses:

Audit and assurance services

2005 2004
€000 €000
Services as auditors of the bank 275 236
Retirement plan audit 21 21
Internal controls framework 127 158
Tax recovery audit 7 7
430 422
Sterling general administrative expenses totalled £148.3 million
(2004: £126.2 million).
Direct costs of €5.7 million (2004 restated: €5.2 million) relating
to loan origination and commitment maintenance in 2005, together
with received front-end and commitment fees of €38.2 million (2004
€48.0 million), have been deferred on the balance sheet in accordance
with 1AS 18. These figures will be recognised in interest income over
the period from disbursement to repayment of the related loan.
10. Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees
Restated
(Release)/charge for the year 2005 2004
€ miillon € millian
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Non-sovereign loan investments (134.7) 99.6
Sovereign loan investments (48.6) (0.7)
Guarantees (3.9) (8.3)
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments! (13.4) (23.4)
Provision for impairment of loan investments and guarantees > (200.6) 67.2
1 During the year new specific provisions far the identified impairment of loan investments of €22.3 million (2004: €14.7 million) were
made and €35.7 million (2004: €38.1 million) were released. This resulted In a net release to the income statement of €13.4 million
(2004: release of €23.4 million).
2 The 2004 comparative provision for impairment of loan investments and guarantees of €67.2 million was recorded within provisions
for impairment in the 2004 income statement.
$ €186.0 million of the overall release of the provision for impairment of loan investments and guarantees in 2005 is the result of the change
in provision estimate as described in the “changes in critical accounting estimates and judgements” section of the accounting policies.
2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004
Movement In provisions Loans Guarantees Total Loans Guarantees Total
€ million € million € mllllon € million € mitlion € million
At 1 January 507.5 32.0 539.5 465.1 40.3 505.4
(Release)/charge for the year (196.7) (3.9) (200.6) 75.5 (8.3) 67.2
Unwinding of the discount relating to the impairment of identified assets* {0.5) - {0.5) (0.6) - (0.6)
Foreign exchange adjustments 41.7 - 41.7 (18.8) - (18.8)
Release against amounts written off (28.5) - (28.5) (13.7) - (13.7)
At 31 December 323.5 28.1 351.6 507.5 32.0 539.5
Analysed between
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments
Non-sovereign loan investments 275.3 - 275.3 377.8 - 377.8
Sovereign loan investments 14.5 - 14.5 57.7 - 57.7
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments 33.7 — 33.7 72.0 - 72.0
Deducted from assets 3235 - 323.5 507.5 - 507.5
Included in other liabilities - 28.1 28.1 - 32.0 32.0
At 31 December 323.5 28.1 351.6 507.5 32.0 5395

1 Included in interest income is €0.5 mittion (2004: €0.6 million) relating to the unwinding of the net present value discount.



1. Debt securities

2005 2004
€ million €million
Available-for-sale portfolio 6,908.0 5,293.4
Dealing portfolio
Internally managed funds 1445 473.0
Externally managed funds 564.9 359.3
o 709.4 832.3
At 31 December 7,617.4 6,125.7
12. Other assets
Restated
2005 2004
€ million € million
Fair value of derivatives 2,318.2 2,622.0
Deals pending settlement 926.7 415.0
Interest receivable 151.5 117.8
Other 591 64.5
At 31 December 3,455.5 3,219.3
13. Loan investments
2005 Restated Restated Restated
2005 Non- 2005 2004 2004 2004
Sovereign sovereign Total Sovereign Non-sovereign Total
Operating assets foans loans loans loans loans loans
€ million € mililon € million € million € million € mitlion
At 1 January 1,891.2 5,722.1 7,613.3 2,028.6 4,696.9 6,725.5
Movement in fair value revaluation (0.8) (5.8) (6.6) (1.5) (2.4) (3.9)
Disbursements 379.4 2,629.0 3,008.4 500.3 4,335.3 4,835.6
Repayments and prepayments (414.6) (2,939.2) (3,353.8) (526.9) (3,122.1) (3,849.0)
Foreign exchange movements 186.9 423.7 610.6 {98.9) (147.9) (246.8)
Movement in net deferral of front-end fees and related direct costs 4.9) (15.0) (19.9) (10.4) (24.2) (34.6)
Written off - (32.7) 327 - (13.5) (13.5)
At 31 December 2,037.2 5,782.1 7,819.3 1,891.2 57221 7,613.3
Impairment at 31 December (14.5) (309.0) (323.5) (57.7) (449.8) (507.5)
Total operating assets net of impairment at 31 December 2,022.7 5,473.1 7,495.8 1,833.5 5,272.3 7,105.8

At 31 December 2005, the Bank categorised 11 loans as impaired,
with operating assets totalling €35.0 million (2004: 17 loans totalling
€85.8 million). Specific provisions on these assets amounted to
€33.7 million (2004: €72.0 million). The unwinding of the net present
value discount relating to provisions for the impairment of identified
loans has added €0.5 million (2004: €0.6 million) of income to

the income statement in the form of interest income from loans.




14. Share investments

Fair value Fair value Fair value
through through through Available- Available- Avallable-

profit oriass profit or loss profit or loss for-sale for-sate for-sale Total
unlisted share  listed share totai share unlisted share listed share total share share
investments  investments investments investments investments  Investments iInvestments
€ million € million € million € million € million € million € million

Outstanding disbursements
At 31 December 2003 - - - 1,747.2 566.3 2,313.5 2,313.5
Designated as fair value through profit or loss - 114.3 114.3 - (114.3) (114.3) -
At 1 January 2004 as restated - 114.3 114.3 1,747.2 452.0 2,199.2 2,313.5
Disbursements - - - 484.5 87.7 572.2 572.2
Disposals - - - (287.7) (103.2) (390.9) (390.9)
Written off - - - (56.8) (6.2) (62.8) (62.8)
At 31 December 2004 as restated - 114.3 114.3 1,887.4 430.3 2,317.7 2,432.0
Designated as fair value through profit or loss 1,096.1 — 1,096.1 (1,096.1) - (1,096.1) -
At 1 January 2005 as restated 1,096.1 114.3 1,210.4 791.3 430.3 1,221.6 2,432.0
Transfer between classes? (9.9) 9.9 - (110.1) 110.1 - -
Disbursements 239.5 1.6 241.1 84.7 52.5 137.2 378.3
Disposals (283.1) - {283.1) (171.0) (159.7) (330.7) (613.8)
Written off (12.3) - (12.3) (1.6) (9.9) (11.5) (23.8)
At 31 December 2005 1,030.3 125.8 1,156.1 593.3 423.3 1,016.6 2,172.7

Fair value adjustment

At 31 December 2003 - - - (544.7) 249.1 (295.6) (295.6)
Designated as fair value through profit or loss - (13.5) (13.5) - 13.5 13.5 -
At 1 January 2004 as restated - (13.5) (13.5) (544.7) 262.6 (282.1) (295.6)
Movement in fair value - 126.0 126.0 - 340.4 340.4 466.4
Movement in impairment provisions - - - 34.3 14.7 49.0 49.0
At 31 December 2004 as restated - 112.5 112.5 (510.4) 617.7 107.3 219.8
Transitional restatement of opening balance to fair value (84.8) - (84.8) - = - (84.8)
At 1 January 2005 as restated (84.8) 112.5 27.7 (510.4) 617.7 107.3 135.0
Transitional revaluation of opening balance to fair value - - - 329.8 — 329.8 329.8
At 1 January 2005 as revalued (84.8) 112.5 27.7 (180.86) 617.7 437.1 464.8
Movement in fair value revaluation 326.4 39.8 366.2 883.9 265.3 1,149.2 1,515.4
Impairment of available-for-sale share investments - - - 0.5 25.9 26.4 26.4
At 31 December 2005 241.6 152.3 393.9 703.8 908.9 1,612.7 2,006.6
Fair value at 31 December 2005 1,271.9 278.1 1,550.0 1,297.1 1,332.2 2,629.3 4,179.3
Fair value at 31 December 2004 - 226.8 226.8 1,377.0 1,048.0 2,425.0 2,651.8

1 This reflects unlisted share investments that became listed during 2005.

At 31 December 2005, the Bank categorised 18 available-for-sale
share investments as impaired, with operating assets totalling
€55.4 million (2004: 17 available-for-sale share investments
totalling €126.4 million).

Listed below are all share investments where the Bank owned greater
than or equal to 20 per cent of the investee share capital at

31 December 2005 and where the fair value of the Bank’s total
investment exceeded €40 million.

Percentage ownership

MPF Lafarge: Romcim 38
Winterthur MPF 35
Connex 35
Dalkia Lodz Cogeneration Privatisation 35
Baring Vostok Private Equity Fund 32
Danone MPF - Danone Industria LLC 30
Polish Enterprise Fund IV 23

Privredna Banka Zagreb 21




18. Intangible assets

2005 2004
Computer software Computer software
development costs development costs
€ million € million
Cost
At 1 January 54.9 73.3
Additions 8.2 8.3
Disposals - (26.7)
At 31 December 63.1 54.9
Amortisation
At 1 January 36.8 54.2
Charge 10.1 9.3
Disposals - ) (26.7)
At 31 December 46.9 36.8
Net book value at 31 December 16.2 181
46. Property, technology and office equipment
2005 2004
Technology Technology
2005 and office 2005 2004 and office 2004
Property equipment Total Property equipment Total
€ million € million € milllon € million € million € million
Cost
At 1 January 64.7 326 97.3 67.0 48.9 115.9
Additions 3.6 21 8.7 0.4 1.9 2.3
Disposals - (0.3) 0.3) (2.7) (18.2) (20.9)
At 31 December 68.3 34.4 102.7 64.7 3286 97.3
Depreciation
At 1 January 54.2 29.5 83.7 52.1 45.4 97.5
Charge 4.6 2.4 7.0 4.8 2.3 7.1
Disposals - (0.3) (0.3) (2.7) (18.2) (20.9)
At 31 December 58.8 31.6 920.4 54.2 29.5 83.7

Net book value at 31 December 9.5 2.8 123 10.5 3.1 13.6




17. Debts evidenced by certificates

The Bank's outstanding debts evidenced by certificates and related

fair value hedging swaps are summarised below:

Currency
Principal at Adjusted swaps  Net currency Net currency
nominal Fair vatue principal payable/ obligations obligations
value adjustment value (receivable) 2005 2004
e € million € million € million € million € million € million
Australian dollars 939.7 230.8 1,170.8 {1,170.5) - -
Canadian doliars 36.8 7.8 44.6 (44.6) - -
Czech koruna 138.0 {42.9) 95.1 {95.1) - -
Euro 1,615.1 181.2 1,796.3 347.1 2,143.4 1,420.3
Gold bullion 138.7 0.9 139.6 {139.6) - -
Hungarian forints 81.1 7.7 88.8 (85.5) 3.3 4.6
Japanese yen 2,691.0 (40.8) 2,650.2 (2,364.7) 285.5 392.5
Mexican peso 67.4 2.7 70.1 (70.1) - -
New Taiwan dollars 453.1 (0.8) 452.3 (452.3) - -
New Turkish lira 31.4 (1.6) 29.8 (29.8) - ~
New Zealand dollars 576.1 8.9 585.0 (585.0) - -
Polish zloty 14.0 (0.2} 13.8 (13.8}) - 45.9
Slovak koruna 16.1 7.2 23.3 (23.3) - -
South African rands 1,529.8 (201.1) 1,328.5 (1,328.5) - -
Sterling 2,607.5 693.8 3,301.3 (1,467.0) 1,834.3 1,712.1
Russian rouble 121.9 - 121.9 - 121.9 -
United States dollars 3,827.8 190.5 4,018.3 7,522.7 11,541.0 9,390.2
At 31 December 14,885.3 1,044.1 15,929.4 - 15,9294 12,965.6
During the year the Bank redeemed €54.8 million of bonds
and medium-term notes prior to maturity (2004: €358.0 million),
generating a net gain of £€1.3 million (2004: €24.9 million).
18. Other labilities
Restated
2005 2004
€ miltion € million
Fair value of derivatives 356.6 570.2
Treasury deals pending settiement 858.2 3147
Interest payable 144.2 131.8
Qther 259.2 253.3
At 31 December 1,618.2 1,270.0
19. Subscribed capital
2005 2005 2004 2004
Number of Total Number of Total
shares € million shares € million
Authorised share capital 2,000,000 20,000.0 2,000,000 20,000.0
of which
Subscriptions by members — initial capital 991,975 9,919.8 991,975 9,919.8
Subscriptions by members — capital increase 986,975 9,869.7 986,975 9,868.7
Subtotal — subscribed capital 1,978,950 19,789.5 1,978,950 19,789.5
Unaliocated shares? 6,050 60.5 6,050 60.9
Authorised and issued share capital 1,985,000 19,850.0 1,985,000 19,850.0
Not yet subscribed 15,000 150.0 15,000 150.0
At 31 December 2,000,000 20,000.0 2,000,000 20,000.0

1 Shares potentially available to new or existing members.




The Bank’s capital stock is divided into paid-in shares and callable
shares. Each share has a par value of €10,000. Payment for the
paid-in shares subscribed to by members is made over a period of
years determined in advance. Article 6.4 of the Agreement states
that payment of the amount subscribed to the callable capital is
subject to call by the Bank, taking account of Articles 17 and 42 of
the Agreement, only as and when required by the Bank to meet its
liabilities. Article 42.1 states that in the event of the termination of
the Bank’s operations, the liability of all members for all uncalled
subscriptions to the capital stock will continue until all claims of
creditors, including all contingent claims, have been discharged.

The Agreement allows for a member to withdraw from the Bank, in
which case the Bank is required to repurchase the former member's
shares. No member has ever withdrawn its membership, nor has
any indicated to the Bank that it is intending to do so. The stability
in the membership reflects the fact that the members are 60 states
and two inter-governmental organisations, and that the purpose of
the Bank is to foster the transition process in politically qualifying
countries in central and eastern Europe. Moreover, there is a
financial disincentive to withdrawing membership. The upper limit
of the amount of the repurchase price of the former member's
shares is the amount of its paid-in capital, yet a former member
remains liable for its direct obligations and its contingent liabilities
to the Bank for as long as any part of the loans, equity investments
or guarantees contracted before it ceased to be a member

are outstanding.

Were a member to withdraw from the Bank, the Bank would be

able to impose conditions and set dates in respect of payments for
shares repurchased. If, for example, paying a former member would
have adverse consequences for the Bank's financial position, the
Bank could defer payment until the risk had passed, and indefinitely
if appropriate. If a payment was then made to a former member,

the member would be required to repay, on demand, the amount by
which the repurchase price would have been reduced if the losses
for which the former member remained liable had been taken into
account at the time of payment.

Under the Agreement, payment for the paid-in shares of the original
capital stock subscribed to by members was made in five equal
annual instalments. Of each instalment, up to 50 per cent was
payable in non-negotiable, non-interest-bearing promissory notes
or other abligations issued by the subscribing member and payable
to the Bank at par value upon demand. Under Resolution No. 59,
payment for the paid-in shares subscribed to by members under the
capital increase is to be made in eight equal annual instalments.

A member may pay up to 80 per cent of each instalment in
non-negotiable, non-interest-bearing promissory notes or other
obligations issued by the member and payable to the Bank at

par value upon demand. The Board of Directors agreed a policy
of encashment in three equal annual instaiments for promissory
notes relating to initial capital, and five equal annual instalments
for promissory notes relating to the capital increase.

A statement of capital subscriptions showing the amount of paid-in
and callable shares subscribed to by each member, together with
the amount of unallocated shares and votes, is set out in the
following table. Under Article 29 of the Agreement, the voting rights
of members that have failed to pay any part of the amounts due in
respect of their capital subscription are proportionately reduced
until payment is made.

Summary of paid-in capital receivable 2005 2004
€ million € million

Paid-in subscribed capital

Cash and promissory note encashments not yet due 289.7 546.4
Cash and promissory notes due but not yet received 244 18.1
Promissory note encashments due but not yet received 12.5 3.2
Paid-in capital receivable at 31 December 326.6 567.7

Paid-in capital receivable has been stated at its present value
on the balance sheet to reflect future receipt by instalments.




19. Subscribed capital (continued)

Statement of capital subscriptions Total Resuiting Total Caliable Paid-in
At 31 December 2005 shares votes?t capital capital capital
(number) {number) € million € million € million
Members
Albania 2,000 1,539 20.0 14.8 5.2
Armenia 1,000 743 10.0 7.4 2.6
Australia 20,000 20,000 200.0 147.5 52.5
Austria 45,600 45,600 456.0 336.3 119.7
Azerbaijan 2,000 1,141 20.0 14.8 5.2
Belarus 4,000 4,000 40.0 29.5 10.5
Belgium 45,600 45,600 456.0 336.3 119.7
Bosnia and Herzegovina 3,380 3,380 33.8 24.9 8.9
Bulgaria 15,800 15,800 158.0 116.5 41.5
Canada 68,000 68,000 680.0 501.5 178.5
Croatia 7,292 7,292 72.9 53.8 19.1
Cyprus 2,000 2,000 20.0 14.8 5.2
Czech Republic 17,066 17,066 170.7 125.8 449
Denmark 24,000 24,000 240.0 177.0 63.0
Egypt 2,000 1,750 20.0 14.8 5.2
Estonia 2,000 2,000 20.0 14.8 5.2
European Community 60,000 60,000 600.0 442.5 157.5
European Investment Bank 60,000 60,000 600.0 442.5 157.5
Finland 25,000 25,000 250.0 184.4 65.6
Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia 1,382 1,382 13.8 10.2 3.6
France 170,350 170,350 1,703.5 1,256.3 447.2
Georgia 2,000 367 20.0 14.8 52
Germany 170,350 170,350 1,703.5 1,256.3 447.2
Greece 13,000 13,000 130.0 95.8 34.2
Hungary 15,800 15,207 158.0 116.5 41.5
icefand 2,000 2,000 20.0 14.8 5.2
freland 8,000 6,000 60.0 44.2 15.8
Israel 13,000 13,000 130.0 95.8 34.2
Italy 170,350 170,350 1,703.5 1,256.3 447.2
Japan 170,350 170,350 1,703.5 1,256.3 447.2
Kazakhstan 4,600 4,600 46.0 33.9 12.1
Korea, Republic of 20,000 20,000 200.0 1475 52.5
Kyrgyz Republic 2,000 667 20.0 14.8 5.2
Latvia 2,000 2,000 20.0 14.8 5.2
Liechtenstein 400 400 4.0 29 1.1
Lithuania 2,000 2,000 20.0 14.8 5.2
Luxembourg 4,000 3,850 40.0 29.5 10.5
Malta 200 200 2.0 1.5 0.5
Mexico 3,000 3,000 30.0 21.0 2.0
Moldova 2,000 951 20.0 14.8 5.2
Mongolia 200 200 2.0 1.5 0.5
Morocco 1,000 1,000 10.0 7.0 3.0
Netherlands 49,600 49,600 496.0 365.8 130.2
New Zealand 1,000 1,000 10.0 7.0 3.0
Norway 25,000 25,000 250.0 184.4 65.6
Poland 25,600 25,600 256.0 188.8 67.2
Portugal 8,400 8,400 84.0 61.9 22.1
Romania 9,600 9,600 96.0 70.8 25.2
Russian Federation 80,000 77,000 800.0 590.0 210.0
Serbia and Montenegro 9,350 8,999 93.5 68.9 24.6
Slovak Republic 8,634 8,534 85.3 62.9 22.4
Slovenia 4,196 4,039 42.0 30.9 11.1
Spain 68,000 68,000 680.0 501.5 178.5
Sweden 45,600 45,600 458.0 336.3 119.7
Switzerland 45,600 45,600 456.0 336.3 119.7
Tajikistan 2,000 261 20.0 14.8 8.2
Turkey 23,000 23,000 230.0 169.6 60.4
Turkmenistan 200 139 2.0 1.5 0.5
Ukraine 16,000 13,520 180.0 118.0 42.0
United Kingdom 170,350 170,350 1,703.5 1,256.3 447.2
United States of America 200,000 199,645 2,000.0 1,475.0 525.0
Uzbekistan 4,200 4,147 42.0 30.9 11.1
Capital subscribed by members 1,978,950 1,964,169 19,789.5 14,592.8 5,196.7
Unallocated shares 6,050 60.5
Authorised and issued share capital 1,985,000 19,850.0

1 Voting rights are restricted for non-payment of amounts due in respect of the member’s obligations in relation to paid-in shares.
Total votes before restrictions amount to 1,878,850 (2004: 1,978,950).




20. Reserves and retained earnings

Restated
2005 2004
€ million € million
Revaluation reserve — available-for-sale assets
At 1 January 663.9 291.8
Transitional restatement of opening balance for fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (848 13.5
At 1 January as restated 579.1 305.1
Transitional revaluation of opening balance for fair value of available-for-sale share investments 329.8 -
Transitional revaluation of opening balance for fair value of equity derivatives 42.7 -
At 1 January as revaiued 951.6 305.1
Net gains from changes in fair value 1,323.9 523.4
Transfer to the income statement - (126.0)
Net gains transferred to net profit on disposal (171.8) (38.6)
At 31 December 2,103.7 663.9
Hedging reserve — cash flow hedges
At 1 January 0.4) 9.7)
Gains from changes in fair value o B %4 9.3
At 31 December - (0.4)
Other
At 1 January 138.6 119.1
Internal tax for the year 4.3 4.6
Transferred from retained earnings 7.7 14.9
At 31 December 150.6 138.6
Retained earnings
At 1 January 710.2 4257
Prior year restatement for changes in accounting policies - (77.9)
Reserve transfer for fair value movement of listed financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - (13.5)
At 1 January as restated 710.2 334.3
Qualifying fees and commissions from the prior year (13.9) (10.8)
Transferred to general reserve (7.7) (14.9)
Transferred to loan loss reserve (292.0) -
Net profit for the year 1,525.6 401.6
At 31 December 1,922.2 710.2
Total general reserve 4,176.5 1,512.3
Loan loss reserve
At 1 January - -
Transferred from retained earnings 292.0 -
At 31 December 292.0 -
Special reserve
At 1 January 173.7 162.9
Qualifying fees and commissions from the prior year 13.9 10.8
At 31 December 187.6 173.7
Total reserves and retained earnings 4,656.1 1.686.0

The general reserve includes the retention of internal tax paid in
accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.
This requires that all Directors, Alternate Directors, officers and
employees of the Bank be subject to an internal tax imposed by

the Bank on salaries and emoluments paid by the Bank and which is
retained for its benefit. The balance at the end of the year relating to
internal tax is €57.0 million (2004: €52.7 million). The general reserve
includes the effect of restating the Bank's paid-in capital receivable to
a present value basis. Capital receivable and reserves will be accreted
back to their future value by 2009 when the final capital instalment is
due. The unwinding of the balance sheet reduction will be recognised in
the income statement during this period and a transfer from retained
earnings to general reserves processed to reflect this.




The special reserve is maintained, in accordance with the
Agreement, for meeting certain defined losses of the Bank. The
special reserve has been established, in accordance with the
Bank's financial policies, by setting aside 100 per cent of qualifying
fees and commissions received by the Bank associated with loans,
guarantees and underwriting the sale of securities, until such time
as the Board of Directors decides that the size of the special
reserve is adequate. In accordance with the Agreement, €13.6
million (2004: €13.9 million) of qualifying fees and commissions
recognised in the income statement will be appropriated in 2006
from the profit for 2005 and set aside to the special reserve.

In response to developments in the best practice application of
incurred loss provision models on a portfolio basis, the Bank has
revised its provisioning estimate for the 2005 financial year. The
impact on the Bank’s financial statements has been to reduce
portfolio provisions for the impairment of loan investments by
€186.0 million as at 31 December 2005. The Bank also created
a loan loss reserve of €292.0 million, within members’ equity, to
set aside an amount of retained earnings equal to the difference
between the impairment losses expected over the life of the loan
portfolio and the amount recognised through the Bank's income
statement.

21. Operating lease commitments

The Bank leases its headquarters building in London and certain

of its Resident Office buildings in countries of operations. These
are standard operating leases and include renewal options, periodic
escalation clauses and are mostly non-cancellable in the normal
course of business without the Bank incurring substantial penalties.
The most significant lease is that for the Bank’s headquarters
building. Rent payable under the terms of this lease is reviewed
every five years and is based on market rates. The last review

was concluded in March 2002 and was effective from

25 December 2001.

Minimum future lease payments under long-term non-cancellable
operating leases and payments made under such leases during
the year are shown below.

Payable 2005 2004

€ million € million
Not later than one year 8.8 1.7
Later than one year and not later than five years 113.1 85.1
Later than five years 327.4 348.9
At 31 December 449.3 435.7
Expenditure 25.4 25.5

Reserves and retained earnings emzu‘l’l‘:: . nﬁﬁg‘n’ The Bank has entered into sub-lease arrangements for one floor
Special reserve 187.6 1737 Ofits headquarters building and a portion of its Moscow Resident
Loan loss reserve 292.0 - Office. The total minimum future lease payments expected to be
Unrealised gains 2,474.6 7760 yeceived under these sub-leases and income received during the
Total restricted reserves 2,954.2 2497

year are shown below.
Unrestricted general reserves 1,701.9 736.3

Receivable 2005 2004
At 31 December 4,656.1 1,686.0 € million € million

Not later than one year 0.8 3.1

, . ) . Later than one year and not later than five years - 0.8

The Bank’s reserves are used in a number of prudential ratio At 31 December 0.8 3.9
calculations as well as in determining, in accordance with the Income 2.7 4.4

Agreement Establishing the Bank, when distributions shall be made
to its members. For the purposes of these calculations, the Bank
uses unrestricted general reserves to reflect the conservative

and prudent financial management practices of the Bank.




22. Staff retirement schemes

Defined benefit scheme

A qualified actuary performs a full actuarial valuation of the defined
benefit scheme at least every three years using the projected unit
method. For IAS 19 purposes this is rolled forward annually to

31 December. The most recent valuation date was 30 June 2005.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation and current
service cost was calculated using the projected unit credit method.

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

2005 2004
€ milllon € million
Fair value of plan assets 128.2 101.4
Present value of the defined benefit obligation (122.1) (89.8)
6.1 11.8
Unrecognised actuarial losses® 19.0 25.3
Prepayment at 31 December 25.1 37.1
Movement in the prepayment (included in “other assets”):
At 1 January 37.1 36.2
Exchange differences 1.4 -
Contributions paid 13.4 12.8
Total expense as below N (26.8) 11.9)
At 31 December 25.1 37.1
* These unrecognised actuarial losses represent the cumulative effect of the historical differences between the actuarial assumptions
used in the production of these disclosures and the actual experience of the plan. The primary historical causes of the losses are
a lower than expected investment return on plan assets, and a decline in the discount rate used to value the plan’s liabilities.
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
2005 2004
€ million € million
Current service cost (13.7) (12.5)
Interest cost (5.7) (4.8)
Prior service cost {13.6) -
Expected return on assets? 7.6 6.7
Amortisation of actuarial loss (1.4) (1.3)
Total included in staff costs (26.8) (11.9})
1 The actual return on assets during the year was €21.6 million (2004: €10.3 million}.
Principal actuarial assumptions used:
Discount rate 4.75% 5.30%
Expected return on plan assets 6.50% 7.00%
Future salary increases 4.25% 4.00%
Average remaining working life of employees 15 years 15 years

Actuarial gains and losses in excess of a corridor (10 per cent of the
greater of assets or liabilities) are amortised over the remaining
working life of employees.

Defined contribution scheme

The pension charge recognised under the defined contribution
scheme was €13.2 million (2004: €6.1 miltion) and is included
in “general administrative expenses”.




23. Related parties

The Bank has no related parties other than key management
personnel. Salaries and other short-term benefits paid to key
management personnel in 2005 amounted to £5.6 million
(2004: £5.2 million). Key management personnel do not receive
post- employment benefits, other long-term benefits, termination
benefits or share-based payments.

Key management personnel comprise the President and

Vice Presidents, members of the Bank's Executive Committee,
as well as Business Group Directors, Corporate Directors,

the Treasurer, the Director of Risk Management, the Controller,
the Director of Human Resources, the Head of internal Audit
and the Chief Compliance Officer.

24, Other fund agreements

In addition to the Bank’s ordinary operations and the Special
Funds programme, the Bank administers numerous hilateral

and multilateral grant agreements to provide technical assistance
and investment support in its countries of operations. These
agreements focus primarily on project preparation, project
implementation (including goods and works), advisory services
and training. The resources provided by these fund agreements
are held separately from the ordinary capital resources of the
Bank and are subject to external audit.

At 31 December 2005, the Bank administered 116 technical
cooperation fund agreements (2004; 105) amounting to an
aggregate of €862.5 million (2004: €811.5 million). This includes
€304.5 million for the Tacis and Phare programmes of the
European Commission under the Bangkok and Investment
Preparation Facilities. Of this pledged amount, funds received at
31 December 2005 totalled €817.6 million. The total uncommitted
balance of the funds at 31 December 2005 was €96.0 million.

In addition, the Bank administered 82 project-specific technical
cooperation agreements totalling €53.1 million.

For the specific purpose of co-financing EBRD projects, the Bank
also administered 17 investment cooperation fund agreements
totalling €116.0 million, and two EU Pre-accession Preparation
Funds totalling €34.8 million.

Following a proposal by the G-7 countries for a multilateral
programme of action to improve safety in nuclear power plants
in the countries of operations, the Nuclear Safety Account (NSA)
was established by the Bank in March 1993. The NSA funds are
in the form of grants and are used for funding immediate safety
improvement measures. At 31 December 2005, 15 contributors
had made pledges totalling €267.6 million, using the fixed
exchange rates defined in the rules of the NSA.

At their Denver Summit in June 1997, the G-7 countries and the
EU endorsed the setting up of the Chernobyl Shelter Fund (CSF).
The CSF was established on 7 November 1997, when the rules

of the CSF were approved by the Board. It became operational

on 8 December 1997, when the required eight contributors had
entered into contribution agreements with the Bank. The objective
of the CSF is to assist Ukraine in transforming the existing
Chernobyl sarcophagus into a safe and environmentally stable
system. At 31 December 2005, 24 contributors had made pledges
totalling €618.1 million using the fixed exchange rates defined

in the rules of the CSF.

In 1999, in pursuit of their policy to accede to the EU, Lithuania,
Bulgaria and the Slovak Republic gave firm commitments 1o close
and decommission their nuclear power plant units with RBMK and
VVER 440/230 reactors by certain dates. In response to this, the
European Commission announced its intention to support the
decommissioning of these reactors with substantial grants over

a period of eight to ten years, and invited the Bank to administer
three International Decommissioning Support Funds (IDSFs).

On 12 June 2000, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved the
rules of the Ignalina, Kozloduy and Bohunice IDSFs and the role
of the Bank as their administrator. The funds will finance selective
projects to help carry out the first phase of decommissioning the
designated reactors. They will also finance measures to facilitate
the necessary restructuring, upgrading and modernisation of the
energy production, transmission and distribution sectors and
improvements in energy efficiency which are a consequence

of the closure decisions.

At 31 December 2005, 16 contributors had made pledges to the
Ignalina IDSF totalling €422.5 million; 11 contributors had made
pledges to the Kozloduy IDSF totalling €254.9 million; and nine
contributors had made pledges to the Bohunice IDSF totalling
€167.4 million, using the fixed exchange rates defined in the
rules of the funds.



In 2001, the Nordic investment Bank hosted a meeting with
participants from Belgium, Finland, Sweden, the European
Commission and international financia!l institutions with activities
in the Northern Dimension Area (NDA). At this meeting, participants
agreed to establish the Northern Dimension Environmental
Partnership to strengthen and coordinate financing of important
environmental projects with cross-border effects in the NDA,

On 11 December 2001, the Bank’s Board of Directors approved
the rules of the Northern Dimension Environmental Partnership
Support Fund and the role of the Bank as fund manager.

At 31 December 2005, 11 contributors had made pledges
totalling €225.3 million.

Audit fees payable to the Bank’s auditors for the 2005 audits of the
technical cooperation and nuclear safety funds totalled €313,000
(2004: €245,000). In addition, during 2005 the Bank’s auditors, on
a global basis, earned €0.2 million (2004: €0.6 million) in respect
of due diligence and general business consultancy services funded
by the technical cooperation funds. This represents 0.4 per cent

of the total spend in 2005 (2004: 0.8 per cent) by the technical
cooperation funds on services from consultancy providers in
support of the Bank’s investments in the countries of operations.
These consultancy contracts are awarded in accordance with

the Bank’s standard procurement rules. Payments to the auditors
for consulting and advisory services during the period of audit
appointment are recorded on a cash basis and reflect payments

to PricewaterhouseCoopers.

25. Post-balance sheet events

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would
require disclosure or adjustment to these financia! statements.
On 7 March 20086, the Board of Directors reviewed the financial
statements and authorised them for issue. These financial
statements will be submitted for approval to the Annual Meeting
of Governors to be held on 21 May 2006.




Special Funds are established in accordance with Article 18 of

the Agreement Establishing the Bank and are administered under
the terms of rules and regulations approved by the Bank’s Board
of Directors. At 31 December 2005, the Bank administered 12
Special Funds: nine Investment Special Funds and three Technical
Cooperation Special Funds. Extracts from the financial statements
of the Special Funds are summarised in the following tables,
together with a summary of contributions pledged by donor country.
Financial statements for each Special Fund have been separately
audited. The audited financial statements are available on
application to the Bank. Audit fees payable to the Bank’s auditors
for the 2005 audit of the Special Funds totalled €74,000

(2004: €70,000).

The objectives of the Special Funds are as follows:

2 Baltic Investment Special Fund and the Baltic Technical
Assistance Special Fund
To promote private sector development through support
for small and medium-sized enterprises in Estonia, Latvia
and Lithuania.

) Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund and the Russia
Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund
To assist the development of small businesses in the private
sector in the Russian Federation.

7 Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund
To support financial intermediaries in the countries of
operations of the Bank.

T Italian Investment Special Fund

To assist the modernisation, restructuring, expansion and
development of small and medium-sized enterprises in certain
countries of operations of the Bank.

0

SME Finance Facility Special Fund

To alleviate the financing problems of small and medium-sized
enterprises in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary,
Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovak Republic

and Slovenia.

1 Balkan Region Special Fund
To assist the reconstruction of Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
Bulgaria, Croatia, Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia,
Romania and Serbia and Montenegro.

1

n

0]

EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund
To serve as a facility for financing technical cooperation
projects in countries of operations of the Bank.

EBRD SME Special Fund

To assist the development of small and medium-sized
enterprises in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria,
Croatia, Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Romania
and Serbia and Montenegro.

Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund

To provide a risk-sharing facility for SME credit lines, micro
finance programmes, the Direct Investment Facility and the
Trade Facilitation Programme in the Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan,
Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan.

Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund

To alieviate the financing problems of municipalities and their
utility companies for small infrastructure investments in
Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania,
Poland, Romania, Slovak Republic and Slovenia.

Accounting convention - Investment Special Funds

The financial statements for the Investment Special Funds have
been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the overall principles
of the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual
Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other
Financial Institutions. The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified

for the revaluation of share investments.

Accounting convention - Technical Cooperation Special Funds
The financial statements for the Technical Cooperation Special
Funds have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
Contributions and disbursements are accounted for on a cash
basis. Interest income and operating expenses are accounted
for on an accruals basis.




investment Special Funds

Russia Smalt
Baltic Business
Extract from the income statement for the year ended investment Investment
31 December 2005 Special Fund Speclal Fund
€ 000 € 000
Operating profit/{loss) before provisions 1,839 16,628
Release/(charge) for provisions for impairment of loans and guarantees 12 (1,955)
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,851 14,673
Extract from the balance sheet at
31 December 2005
Loans - 31,443
Provisions for impairment - (4,450)
- 26,993
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss 371 -
Available-for-sale share investments 5,415 767
5,786 767
Placements and other assets 37,382 28,482
Contributions receivable ~ - -
Total assets 43,168 56,242
Other liabilities and provisions for impairment and payments under guarantees 7 16,013
Contributions 41,500 59,351
Reserves and retained earnings 1,661 (19,122)
Total liabilities and contributors’ resources 43,168 56,242
Undrawn commitments and guarantees 4,158 47,986
Technical Cooperation Special Funds
Baltic Technical
Extract from the of t in furd bal Assistance
and balance sheet for the year ended 31 December 2005 Special Fund
€000
Balance of fund brought forward 1,598
Interest and other income 23
Disbursements (252)
Other operating expenses 4)
Balance of fund available 1,365
Cumulative commitments approved 23,564
Cumulative disbursements (22,958)
Allocated fund balance 606
Unallocated fund balance 759
Balance of fund available 1,365
Special Fund contributions pledged by donor country ;
Russia Smail Financial
Baltic Business Intermediary Italian SME Finance
Investment Investment Investment Investment Facility
Special Fund Special Fund Special Fund Special Fund Special Fund
€000 €000 €000 €000 € 000
Austria - - - - -
Canada - 2,707 - - -
Denmark 8,940 - - - -
European Community - - - - 173,000
Finland 8,629 - - - -
France - 7,686 - - -
Germany - 9,843 - - -
Iceland 427 - - - -
Italy - 8,401 - 21,915 -
Japan - 21,182 - - -
Netherlands - - 9,500 - -
Norway 7,732 - - - -
Sweden 15,772 - - - -
Switzerland - 2,360 - - -
Taipei China - - 20,058 - -
United Kingdom - - - - -
United States of America - 7,192 1,716 - -
Total at 31 December 2005 41,500 59,351 31,275 21,915 173,000




Financial Municipal
Intermediary {talian SME Finance Balkan EBRD Central Asia Finance Aggregated
Investment Investment Facility Region SME Risk Sharing Facility Investment
Special Fund Special Fund Speclal Fund Special Fund Speclal Fund Speclal Fund Speclal Fund Speclal Funds
€000 €000 €000 €000 € 000 €000 € 000 € 000
1,670 2,257 (18,550) (388) (1,226) 821 (230) 2,821
(705) 158 - - 311 (2,550) - (4,729)
965 2,415 (18,550) (388) (915) 1,729) (230) (1,908)
| 8,645 4,510 - - 7,137 - - 51,735
(1,573) (1,372) - - (619) - - (8,014)
7,072 3,138 - - 6,518 - - 43,721
- 733 1,392 - - - - 2,496
540 - 2,253 - - - - 8,975
540 733 3,645 - - - - 11,471
17,894 19,562 29,462 8,730 3,788 9,866 14,045 169,211
- - 67,000 - 2,059 - 16,000 85,059
25,506 23,433 100,107 8,730 12,365 9,866 30,045 309,462
340 1,801 3,531 295 3,219 3,505 242 28,953
26,203 21,915 173,000 10,997 37,490 9,443 30,000 408,899
- (1,037) (283) (76,424) (2,562) (28,344) (3,082) (197) (129,390)
25,506 23,433 100,107 8,730 12,365 9,866 30,045 309,462
7,388 1,615 35,074 6,751 5,248 3,259 7,783 119,262
Russla Small Business EBRD Aggregated
Technical Cooperation Technlcal Cooperation Technical Cooperation
Special Fund Special Fund Spectal Funds
- €000 €000 €000
8,357 80 10,035
1,678 1 1,702
(2,274) (45) (2,571)
(4) 1) )
7,757 35 9,157
72,038 1,076 96,678
(67,518) {1,052) (91,528)
4,520 24 5,150
3,237 11 4,007
7,757 35 9,157
Munlcipal Baitic Russla Small EBRD
Balkan EBRD Central Asia Finance Technlcal Busil Technical Technical
Reglon SME Risk Sharing Facility Assistance Cooperation Cooperation Aggregated
Speclal Fund Special Fund Special Fund Speclal Fund Speclal Fund Special Fund Special Fund Special Funds
€000 €000 € 000 €000 €000 € 000 €000 € 000
276 - - - - - - 276
1,472 - - - - 4,309 - 8,488
750 - - - 1,450 - - 11,140
- - - 30,000 - - - 203,000
- - - - 1,411 - - 10,040
- - - - - 4,980 - 12,666
58 - 2,389 - - 3,025 - 15,315
- - - - 69 - - 496
- - - - - 1,360 - 31,676
- - - - - 3,295 - 24,457
1,160 - - - - - - 10,660
1,568 - - - 1,256 - - 10,556
- -~ - - 2,564 - - 18,336
4,218 - 7,054 - - 1,244 - 14,876
1,495 - - - - - - 21,554
- - - - - 12,824 247 13,071
- 37,490 - - - 29,695 - 76,093
10,997 37,490 9,443 30,000 6,750 60,732 247 482,700




Responsibility for external financial reporting

Management’s responsibility

Management’s report regarding the effectiveness of internal
controls over external financial reporting

The management of the European Bank for Reconstruction

and Development (“the Bank”) is responsible for the preparation,
integrity and fair presentation of its published financial statements
and all other information presented in this Financial Report.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board and in accordance
with the overall principles of the European Community’s Council
Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of

Banks and Other Financial Institutions.

The financial statements have been audited by an independent
accounting firm, which has been given unrestricted access to

all financial records and related data, including minutes of all
meetings of the Board of Directors and committees of the Board.
Management belfieves that all representations made to the external
auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate. The external
auditors’ report accompanies the audited financial statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over external financial reporting for
financial presentations in conformity with IFRS. The system of
internal control contains monitoring mechanisms, and actions are
taken to correct deficiencies identified. Management believes that
internal controls for external financial reporting, which are subject
to scrutiny and testing by management and internal audit, and are
revised as considered necessary, support the integrity and
reliability of the financial statements.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system

of internal control, including the possibility of human error and the
circumvention of overriding controls. Accordingly, even an effective
internal control system can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to financial statements. Furthermore, the effectiveness

of an internal control system can change with circumstances.

The Bank's Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee,
which assists the Board in its responsibility to ensure the
soundness of the Bank’s accounting practices and the effective
implementation of the internal controls that management has
established relating to finance and accounting matters. The

Audit Committee is comprised entirely of members of the Board of
Directors. A member of the Audit Committee joins, as an cbserver,
the panel assembled for the selection of the Bank’s external

auditors. The Audit Committee meets periodically with manage-
ment in order to review and monitor the financial, accounting

and auditing procedures of the Bank and related financial reports.
The external auditors and the internal auditors regularly meet

with the Audit Committee, with and without other members of
management being present, to discuss the adequacy of internal
controls over financial reporting and any other matters which they
believe should be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee.

The Bank has assessed its internal controls over external financial
reporting for 2005. Management’s assessment includes the
Special Funds and other fund agreements referred to in pages
53-55 of the Financial Report, and the pension plans. However,

the nature of the assessment is restricted to the controls over the
reporting and disclosure of these funds, rather than the operational,
accounting and administration controls in place for each fund.

The Bank's assessment was based on the criteria for effective
internal control over financiat reporting described in the “internal
Control - Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission {COSQ).
Based upon this assessment, management asserts that, at

31 December 2005, the Bank maintained effective internal
controls over its financial reporting as contained in the

Financial Report for 2005.

The Bank’s external auditors have provided an audit opinion

on the fairness of the financial statements presented within the
Financial Report. In addition, they have issued an attestation report
on management’'s assessment of the Bank's internal contro!l over
financial reporting, as set out on page 57.

Y

@W”M

Steven Kaempfer
Vice President, Finance

Jean Lemierre
President

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
London

7 March 2006




Responsibility for external financial reporting

Report of the independent auditors

To the Governors of the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development

We have audited management’s assessment that the European
Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) maintained
effective internal controls over financial reporting as contained in
the Bank’s Financial Report for 2005, hased on the criteria for
effective internal controls over financial reporting described in the
“Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission.
Management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
controls over financial reporting and for the assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's
assertion over the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with the International
Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (revised).

Our review included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, evaluating the management’s assessment
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our work provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A bank’s internal controls over financial reporting are designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A bank’s internal controls over financial reporting
include those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the bank; (2) provide reasonable assurance that the transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the bank are

being made only in accordance with the authorisations of
management of the bank; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised
acquisition, use, or disposition of the bank’s assets that

could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

in our opinion, management’s assertion that the Bank maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting, as contained in
the Bank's Financial Report for 2005, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on the criteria for effective internal controls over
financial reporting described in the “Internal Control — Integrated
Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with International Standards

on Auditing, the financial statements of the Bank and, in our report
dated 7 March 2006, we have expressed an unqualified opinion.

Beouddoasso Logsos L0

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
London

7 March 2006




independent auditors’ report to the Governors of the European Banlk

for Reconstruction and Development

We have audited the financial statements of the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) for the year ended
31 December 2005 which comprise the income statement, the
balance sheet, the statement of changes in members' equity,

the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies, the risk
management policies and the notes to the financial statements
(“financial statements”). These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

Respective responsibiiities of the President and auditors

The President is responsible for preparing the financial statements
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and

in accordance with the overall principles of the European
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and
Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance
with the International Standards on Auditing. This report, including
the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Board of
Governors as a body in accordance with Article 24 of the Agreement
Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to

whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come,

save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
are presented fairly in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the overall principles of the European
Community’'s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and
Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions.
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section
of the Financial Report is not consistent with the financial
statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting records,

or if we have not received all the information and explanations

we require for our audit.

We read the other information contained in the Financial Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the financial statements.
The other information comprises only the highlights, financial
results and Summary of Special Funds. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any

other information.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International
Standards on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board. An audit includes examination, on

a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of
the significant estimates and judgements made by management
in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Bank’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary

in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of
the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Bank at 31 December 2005
and its profit for the year then ended and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
and the overall principles of the European Community’s Council
Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks
and Other Financial Institutions.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London

7 March 2006
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- Transmittal letter to Governors

Lenden, 7 Mereh 2006

In accordance with Article 35 of the
Agreement Establishing the Bank and
= Section 11 of its By-Laws, the enclosed

- Annual Report of the Bank for 2005 is
submitted by the Board of Directors to
the Board of Governors.

The Annual Report includes the
approved and audited financial
statements required to be submitted
under Article 27 of the Agreement

and Section 13 of the By-Laws. It also
contains a separate statement on the
Special Funds resources, in accordance
with Article 10 of the Agreement
Establishing the Bank, and covers

the environmental impact of the Bank’s
operations, as required under Article 35
of the Agreement.
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The EBRD’s Annual Report 2005 comprises two
f@\ (T separate companion volumes: the Annual Review
{ U ”\QJJ Page 86 }_ E Page 100 and the Financial Report, which includes the financial
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the complete Annual Review (in a fully searchable
format), the Financial Report and a complete list

of all projects signed by the Bank since 1991,
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invested in 151 projects, the EBRD’s disbursed in 2005
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* “Investments” signify EBRD financing committed under signed agreements, * Disbursement levels for 2005 are explained on page 13.
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invested in early
and intermediate
transition countries?
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2004 2005

= = M Advanced countries 23% 16%

€0 .70 bl I E i@ E@ _] Early/intermediate countries 47% 58%
30% 26%

in advanced Russia

transition countries?

EBRD investments by region

2004 2005

@ Central Europe and the Baltic states 23% 16%

] South-eastern Europe 25% 28%

1 Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bosnia and Western CIS and the Caucasus 14% 22%
Herzegovina, Bulgaria, FYR Macedonia, Georgia, [J Russia 30% 26%
Kazakhstan, Ryrgyz Republic, Moldova, Romania, B Central Asia 8% 8%

Serbia and Montenegro, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan,

Ukraine, Uzbekistan.

2 Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia,
Lithuania, Poland, Slovak Republic, Slovenia.




Over one-third

Financial institutions Manufacturing
Of |nvestment Bank equity Manufacturing
. . 197.3 | a89.8
deveted to financial ] oae 7 ss42
institutions to support Bank lending*
local enterprises | 8589 Other sectors
( | 7987 Agribusiness
Equity funds ' 408.1
FE B0 | 185.5 | 4807
@‘:% [ ]es4a Property and tourism
. Non-bank financial institutions \ 210.3
of investment 1739 ] 1635
Supported IﬂfTaSU‘UCtu i’e :l 196.1 Telecommunications
H H Small business finance? . 262.8
developments, including ey ] 1230
municipal and transport ] ss7
prOJeCtS Figures in € million
infrastructure
- 2004
Municipal infrastructure j
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1 i 1 A total of €199 million of bank lending was devoted
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energy efflC!eﬂCy upgl’ades r - - J 668.0 2 Small business finance comprises investments in
L ) microfinance banks and microfinance programmes,
aCI‘OSS a ” SeCT.OTS such as the Russia Small Business Fund and the
Energy US/EBRD SME Finance Facility.
B 3 ¥ Energy effici ly refers to i tments with
Energy efficiency spec aliea energy efficiency frms, sueh a4 enerey
1 60.8 service companies, The energy efficiency components
[] 16.0 within all EBRD projects signed in 2005 totalled
€205 million compared with €201 million in 2004.
Natural resources
| 4396
196.2
Power and energy
| 2716
{ 528.4
Annual investments 2001-05 cumslati
umulative
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 1991-2005
Number of projects 151 129 119 102 102 1,301
EBRD financing (€ million) 4,277 4,133 3,721 3,899 3,656 30,313
Resources mobilised (€ million) 6,221 8,799 5,307 4,862 6,212 64,095
Total valve (€ millien) i10¥499 12,982 ©,028 8,764 9,868 04,408 |
Financial results 2001-05
(€ million) 2005 20041 2003* 20021 20011
Operating income * 1,543.9 658.6 538.1 330.7 379.5
Expenses and depreciation * (218.9) (189.8) (198.6) (218.5) (206.7)
Operating profit before provisions 1,325.0 468.8 339.5 112.2 172.8
Provisions for impairment of loans and guarantees 200.6 (67.2) (11.3) (45.5) (15.8)
| Net prefit for the yeer L3083 404.8 328.2 86.7 157.2 |
Reserves and retained earnings 4,656.1 1,686.0 911.7 619.7 488.7
Provisions for impairment of loans and guarantees (cumulative) 351.6 539.5 505.4 570.3 617.5
Tetel reserves and provisions ' - BOGTT. 2,228.8 1,417.4 1,180.0 1,108.2 \

t Amendments to and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Standards in 2005 have resulted in a number
of changes to the Bank's accounting policies as explained in the “accounting policies” section of the financial statements.
The figures from previous years have been restated to conform to the new accounting policies,




Progress in a region that was once in the grip

of central planning has put the EBRD at a historic
juncture as it promotes transition to democracy
and market economies.

After 15 years of transition, the model

of investing to encourage robust private
sector development in a context of
democratic practice works well. Now the
challenge for the EBRD is to be innovative
in constantly adapting the model to new
realities in each of the 27 countries
where we operate.

In some countries — in south-eastern
Europe, the Caucasus and Central
Asia — the approaches that were first
tested in 1991 are still having an
important impact on transition.

These basic tools of loans and equity
investments in infrastructure, banking
and businesses have been combined
with specialised tools (for example,
instruments to promote trade) and
new approaches, such as streamlining

smaller transactions and promoting
investments in the poorest countries. The
result is that the Bank’s sharpest growth
in activity in 2005 was in these countries.

In Russia, where the EBRD invested more
than one-quarter of its business volume in
2005, the challenge is to meet the needs
of a country rich in natural resources

that is aiming to achieve widespread,
sustainable development of the economy
beyond the petroleum sector in the
country's major cities as well as in remote
regions. Foreign investment is needed

to build a solid private sector, and private
enterprise will be key to providing essential
services, such as reliable heating, water
and public transport. Reform accompanied
by fair and predictable rules will help
attract investors.

A different approach will be needed

in central Europe. In these countries,
transition got under way early and

was accelerated both by the lure of
membership of the European Union and
an entrepreneurial culture that pre-dated
the era of central planning. The needs
for EBRD investment have become more
closely linked to particular parts of the
economy, such as helping middle-sized
businesses to expand by using equity
investments and diversifying the products
that the banking sector can offer.

Just how to address the quite different
needs of each country has been the
subject of deep reflection by the Bank’s
management and its Board of Directors
as we have worked together for much
of the past year to prepare the medium-




term strategy — contained in the Capital
Resources Review — that will guide the
EBRD’s work over the next five years.

The consensus is that the Bank will

look rather different five years from

now than it has over the past 15 years.
The market test will certainly mean

that some countries will be sufficiently
attractive to capital markets to need

no further EBRD investment. Graduation
of some countries from EBRD operations
will mark the success of transition.

Even as we envisage a day when some
countries will stop needing EBRD
financing, Mongolia is due to become

a country of operations in 2006.

Beyond geographical changes, the EBRD
has constantly developed new approaches
and innovated to meet particular needs.

The Early Transition Countries Initiative

is a good example of how the Bank
adapted to the especially onerous

task of attracting investment to the
poorest countries of the region. In

2005 we doubled the projects under

the initiative — a programme that aims

to spur investment in difficult investment
environments. This is achieved by taking
more risk on the Bank’s books, devoting
extra resources to smaller and riskier
transactions, and using donor funding to
help prepare projects or make investment
more feasible — for example, by supporting
legal reform.

A similar donor fund has now been
launched for the Western Balkans to
restore war-ravaged energy infrastructure
and to build up the financial industries
that, in turn, support the real economy.
The EBRD-donor partnership has proven
a valuable accelerator for development
of the market economy in some of the
neediest EBRD countries.

New priorities evolve as the region and
the world evolve. Certainly one emerging
priority, recognised by the G8 at its 2005
summit, is addressing the legacy of
energy waste. Rising oil prices, questions
about security of supply and the threat
of climate change are powerful reasons

for every country in the region — resource-
rich and energy-importing countries alike -
to address the terrible loss of energy
through inefficiency.

As energy efficiency becomes ever

more important to the economic
competitiveness of the region, the

EBRD is launching an initiative to scale
up its investments to address inefficiency
and to limit climate change. Building on
its experience in energy audits, energy
efficiency upgrades in factories and
utilities and credit lines to improve energy
efficiency in smaller businesses and
housing, the EBRD is taking a lead in
helping its countries of operations to
save energy both for economic reasons
and to limit global warming.

In many other ways the EBRD has adapted
to changing opportunities and needs.

The Bank launched its first rouble bond in
2005, setting a benchmark in the Russian
capital markets and making it possible for
the EBRD to make loans in local currency
so that municipalities, electricity utilities
and small businesses do not have to bear
exchange risk. Local currency lending will
follow for other countries.

The EBRD will not only shift to include
new products and perhaps new sectors,
it will continue to build on its reputation
for consultation and dialogue with
affected people and non-governmental
organisations on the Bank'’s policies

and to offer viewpoints and expertise on
complex projects, especially those that
may affect the environment. That dialogue
was, in part, responsible last year for
the EBRD supporting implementation

of the Extractive Industries Transparency
Initiative to promote accountable revenue
management in resource-rich countries.

The structure of the Bank has changed
too, to reflect greater need for staff
based close to its clients. The trend

of reallocating positions from London
headquarters to countries of operations
will continue, with more staff outside the
capitals of Russia and Ukraine, more
sector specialists in Resident Offices
and closure of some offices in the most

advanced countries. We will build on the
quality and volume of operations in 2005,
and the high profits of 2005 will allow the
Bank to take on more risk in pioneering
projects in difficult environments over

the coming years.

There will be other new approaches

to banking, new priorities and a focus
that will certainly continue to shift from
the basic structures of establishing a
market economy to ensuring that the
economy provides people with prosperity
and sustainable development. As we

end a decade and a half of working for
transition, we will continue to monitor
what progress entrepreneurs see in the
tackling of corruption, the fair application
of regulations and laws, and the ability to
do good business freely and transparently.
We will now also start to monitor how
well transition has improved the lives of
people in the region and if they perceive
gaps where transition has not lived up

to expectations.

Through monitoring, dialogue and
especially through operations with
clients and investors, the EBRD will
keep a constant watch on the particular
approach to transition in each country
and the most relevant ways for the Bank
to support progress.

A

va(,vv(,

Jean Lemierre
President







g o It eritered s Heentn year of
k. operations, the EBRD took stock
“ee———— Of progress across the region and
began the development of a new
= ousiness model to adapt o new

| market conditions and to focus on
§ the areas of greatest need. The Bank
supported reform efforts, invested in
businesses of all sizes and assisted
the region in developing sustainable

! market economies.

. <« Small businesses, such as Bulgarian furniture
; company Niki, have used EBRD loans to expand
their production and boost sales.




Through investment and regular dialogue with
governments, the EBRD supports economic and
democratic reform. The Bank worked closely with
national and local authorities in 2005 to develop
sound iegal frameworks, to improve corporate
governance and 1o encourage progress

in democratic reform.




A record level of EBRD investment in
2005 reflected important progress across
the EBRD region. There was strong growth
in central Europe and the Baltic states,
with continuing integration of the eight
countries that are now part of the
European Union. For oil-rich countries
further east, rising oil prices put a new
priority on the use of revenues to foster
further reform while in the energy-
consuming countries the need to promote
careful economic reform and energy
efficiency became ever more important.

In 2005 Croatia began formal negotiations
on EU membership while the Former
Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia achieved
EU candidate status, confirming both
countries’ progress in embracing
economic reform. Elsewhere in the
Western Balkans, Serbia and Montenegro
and Bosnia and Herzegovina faunched the
long process that could eventually lead

to membership of the European Union.
Both Bulgaria and Romania are on

course for EU membership in 2007,

In Russia, foreign direct investment
reached a record high in the first half
of 2005 but there were concerns about
new forms of state intervention in the

economy, selective regulation and the
state’s level of commitment to democratic
processes. In other countries of the
former Soviet Union, the picture was
mixed. Ukraine introduced some economic
reforms — including undertaking
privatisations that undid earlier unfair
processes — despite a difficult political
context. Moldova adopted a stronger
commitment to democratic and

market reform and global integration.

In Uzbekistan, on the other hand, there
were further reversals of democracy.

To encourage democratic reform, the
EBRD continued to review progress in
each country of operations and to assess
democratic practices. In the Bank’s
published strategy for each country,

we updated our assessment of the
country’s compliance with Article 1

of the Bank's Founding Agreement,

which commits countries to promote
democracy and a market economy.

In adopting a new strategy for Uzbekistan
in July 2005, the EBRD expressed
concerns that the country’s progress
towards implementing Article 1 continued
to be slow and characterised by setbacks.
No improvement has been made

in Uzbekistan's political environment

and prospects for political liberalisation
remain remote. Limited progress has
been achieved since the previous strategy
in terms of economic reform. A particular
cause of serious concern for the Bank
was the state's indiscriminate and
disproportionate use of force against
civilians in April 2005 in the city of
Andijan. The incident provoked widespread
condemnation internationally.

Because of its concerns about
Uzbekistan, the EBRD has restricted

its investments since July 2005 to
private sector activities although existing
public sector commitments will still be
implemented. Similar restrictions apply
to Belarus and Turkmenistan due to their
lack of progress towards implementing
Article 1. In both countries the EBRD
continues to seek ways of improving the
investment climate and supporting
reform efforts.

Combating money faundering is a key

to improving the investment climate.

In 2005 the EBRD launched an ambitious
programme to raise awareness of this
issue across the region, starting with

two pilot training courses.




Serbian law reform boosts small business

“Back in Tie's cey, when Serbla wes part of soclelist Yugoslavia, eredit wes
consideree halfway @ gft. Deblers wers protected above all end nebody had
sympethy with lenders,” seys Professeor Micdiag G, ® Supreme Court judge
in Yugesley dmes.

Strking the balance debiors’ and erediters’ Aghts s a delicete aet.

With teehnical suppert from the EBRD, Ol ane Serblen cconemic
and legal reformers heve transformed the system of seeurng leans threvgh
28 colleteral. The pew “rsgistered plecgs” law protects beth trusting
benkers from welehing clients and dewn-on-thelr-luek berrowers frem

rapeciovs crediers.

“it's & huge difference. We can avtheriss loans mush quickly themn
befere, with eertainty thet the Is secured by edequets colleteral,”
Vieden Redikis, a lewyer with Seibia’s ProCredit Bank.

To ensurs et the new lew was ellermede to Serbie's needs, the EBRD's legel
studied the country's exdsting leglsletion weays of ecepting
znd Impreving it while siill respesiing Serble’s legal radiions. The Banlk's efforts
were funded by the Unitsd Kingdom and By the muli-cener Balken Spestal
Fund, which is supperted by Canade, Denmerk end Talpel Ching.

The new lew Incorperates feeturss thet were unthinkelble befors. ean,
i by the parties, ke place e Judiclel process, Mmalking & quicker
and eheaper. Lenders can aceept & variely of 2ssels 88 seeurtly, and pledges
are in en enline detakese. When cefault, lencers san selze the
strafighiawey to lesing them.

The legisletion has been baeksd up by & new plecEs register esteblighed in 2008,
where lenclers ean file the plecEes made te them and verly thet the collateral has
mefk been pleciged to someens cles as well. The reform hes already made 8 big
differenss (o the ability of benks o lend te small businesses, the engnes of
economic development and job creatien.

ProCrecit Benk endorses the new system: “Befiors, we hed to go belore & judge
se the berrewear could pledgs the celleteral; Hhis whele precess ek twe weeks.
The new register is enline and we can see &ll the nformetion we need gbout &
plediged asset on eur instantly. it's all very guick. We cam lend with
eonfidence the seme dey ther the pleces s registered enling.”




The first was aimed at banks in the
Western Balkans and countries further
east where systems to combat money
laundering have been established but
largely untested. Three pilot seminars
were undertaken in Bosnia and
Herzegovina, FYR Macedonia and
Kazakhstan. The second pilot was
targeted at countries in Central Asia that
do not yet have an effective anti money-
laundering system in place. For this group,
the course consisted of working with the
relevant regulator to develop an action
plan and providing training for banks

and regulators to increase awareness

of best practice.

Building on these pilot courses, the EBRD
visited 16 countries from January to April
to gather detailed information on how
each country addresses money-laundering
issues. These fact-finding visits allowed
the Bank to consider the training needs of
each country and to develop a programme
with the support of the European Union
and the Swiss government.

A series of workshops began in

May 2005 and were completed by the
end of November. Each seminar was
conducted over two days and targeted

20 to 30 people from financial institutions
and relevant regulators, such as national
central banks and government ministries.
The seminars provided an overview of
money-laundering risks and provided

The El

guidance to banks on how to recognise
suspicious transactions and to create
effective reporting systems. So far,
210 bankers from 177 institutions in
ten countries have been trained on
the programme.

Because a strong legal framework is often
the first step towards creating a sound
market economy, the EBRD stepped up its
legal assistance programme in 2005 with
a renewed focus on the poorest countries
where the Bank operates. With the help
of donor funding, we completed work on
two important legal reforms in these
countries, with the entry into force of

a new leasing law in Moldova and the
adoption of new legal provisions on
secured transactions in Georgia.

The EBRD has worked on leasing law
because access to finance for major
equipment purchases remains difficult for
many small enterprises and leasing is of
vital importance. Other areas to benefit
from the Bank’s assistance in 2005
included mortgage legislation, insolvency
law, rural access to telecommunications
and investor protection in Georgia,
Moldova and the Kyrgyz Republic.

The EBRD also witnessed the results

of groundbreaking work that it has
undertaken in Serbia on a law that allows
small businesses to secure loans through
the use of collateral (see box).

 RD stepped up ifs iegal

assistance programme in 2005,
with a renewed focus on the

poorest countries.

The EBRD strengthened its commitment
to improving the guality of local judiciary.
In particular, the Bank launched a
programme in 2005 to develop judicial
skills in the Kyrgyz Republic. An action
plan — prepared by the EBRD in
cooperation with the International
Development Law Organization and
endorsed by the Kyrgyz government —
includes training all Kyrgyz judges

who deal with commercial matters,
strengthening the judicial training centre
and creating a law library.

The EBRD continued to develop legal
frameworks for public-private partnerships
in the countries where we operate.

We also undertook a survey on the
effectiveness of corporate governance
across the region, examining in particular
the protection of minority shareholders.
The results were published in the EBRD's
Transition Report 2005 along with
recommendations as to how the legal
framework could be improved.

Mongolia moved closer to becoming a

new country of operations as most of

the EBRD’s shareholders finished the
acceptance processes requiring each
existing shareholder to ratify the new
admission. The donor-funded Mongolia
Cooperation Fund has assisted Mongolia’s
progress towards operational status.




EBRD investment in enterprises both large and

small brings benefits to all sections of society, from
entrepreneurs running the businesses to customers
benefiting from improved services. In 2005 the EBRD
financed projects totalling €4.3 billion, our highest
level of investment. Our focus on the poorest
countries led us to finance many smaller

projects aimed at helping the least well-off.

Business

growth




The EBRD signed a record number of
new projects in 2005 - 151 compared
with 129 the previous year — and
exceeded the Bank’s target for business
volume, reaching a total of €4.3 billion.
We continued with the trend of signing
projects of all sizes but we particularly
increased the number of smaller projects,
in line with the region’s needs, especially
in less developed markets.

The EBRD’s investments reflect the

strategy of moving further south and east.

Some 58 per cent of the Bank’s business
volume in 2005 was invested in the early
and intermediate transition countries

of south-eastern Europe, the Caucasus,
Central Asia and the western extremity of
the former Soviet Union. Russia attracted

26 per cent of EBRD investment while
16 per cent of business volume was
devoted to the advanced transition
countries of central Europe. Since 2003,
our annual investment in central Europe
has declined from €1.2 billion to its
current level of €700 million, reflecting
a diminishing need for EBRD assistance
in this area as other sources of finance
become available.

The number of equity investments signed
by the EBRD increased by 41 per cent,
from 22 in 2004 to 31 in 2005. Some
85 per cent of the Bank’s projects signed
in 2005 were rated as “excelient”

or “good” in terms of their potential
impact on the transition process.

A five-star loan for Bulgarian tourism

Disbursements of EBRD financing
decreased from €3.4 billion in 2004 to
€2.2 billion in 2005. This is partly due to
a number of clients postponing the draw-
down of funds because of high market
liquidity and to the Bank signing a higher
volume of guarantees, which tend not

to disburse. Our disbursements in 2005
were also reduced by the exceptional
level of disbursement in the last

quarter of 2004.

Repayments increased by 19 per cent
between 2004 and 2005. Our portfolio
of projects is €16.8 billion, up

10 per cent from the end of 2004,

Teurism alorg Bulgarie's Bleck $ea coast s booming, with
the numiber of forsign vislors increasing all the Ume. British
Alrweys, for exemple, hes just started twies-weskly fights te
he coastal ety of Yama, end UK tourist numbers to Bulgars
have increased fve-fold since 2004.

Untll recently, eccommedation in the ReW resert arsas was
limnited to three-star hotels suitable fior buegst tour grovps.
Litde was availeble to etract betterheslied ellentsle with
greater dispesable income whese spending pewer could
further develop the seeter and ereets Jolss. Te ®l this
@ap In the merkst, the EBRD previded a €23 million loan
in 2005 to help fnence construction ef the coast’s first
five-star hetel, part of the &lite Kempinek! ehalin.

Some €40 milllen of the loan has been syndisated

o commercial banks.

The 733-reem hotel is ewned by Sigmea Group, ong of the
leading investers in Bulgare’s Black Se8 coast. The new
hetel will primarily Cerman end UR toursis ard is
meneged by Kempinskl, considersd the eldest lvwry hetel
chain in the werld.

Witth Kempinskl new in Bulgaria's top three travel
destinations (e Black Sea, Seffe and the winter resert of
Banske), thers are increased epperiunites to erose-sell the
brend netienelly ane internetionally. By bringing experiencsd
staff to train local peesle In previding serviee to top-end
clients, the hotel is raising standards through eemele

and cempetition.




The EBRD’s investments were spread
across a variety of sectors. About

34 per cent of the Bank’s business
volume in 2005 was devoted to financial
institutions to support local enterprises.
Some 22 per cent was provided for
infrastructure projects — compared with
12 per cent in 2004 — while 17 per cent
was dedicated to the energy sector.

The increase in infrastructure projects
reflects the urgent need for investment
in roads, railways and water services,
especially in the Western Balkans and
further east, where infrastructure reform
is at an early stage. Manufacturing
projects received 9 per cent of EBRD
investment in 2005 while the remaining
18 per cent of business volume was
devoted to agribusiness, property/tourism
and telecommunications.

EBRD projects reached out to all corners
of the region, helping to improve the way
of life for all parts of society. In central
and south-eastern Europe the Bank
invested, for example, in a new transport
network that will improve the comfort
and reliability of journeys across a variety
of countries (see page 16). In Russia

we increased the availability of financing
for consumer goods by investing in

the Russian Standard Bank, which is

at the forefront of the consumer lending
business (see box). Further east we
helped to develop tourism in Central Asia
through an innovative eco-project in the
Kyrgyz Republic that is bringing increased
numbers of tourists to Lake Issyk-Kul,
the “Pearl of Central Asia” (see page 72).

In 2005 the EBRD began developing a
new business model that will set out

the Bank's investment strategy over the
coming years. This review of how we use
our capital, which is carried out every five
years, is due to be approved by the Bank's
Board of Governors at the 2006 Annual
Meeting in London. The review is expected
to confirm the Bank’s gradual shift further
south and east and the need for the EBRD
to accept riskier projects in countries
where other sources of financing are

not available.

One of the EBRD's most innovative
projects in 2005 was a landmark five-year
rouble bond issue in Russia to raise local
currency that will be used to provide long-
term project loans without exchange risk
to the Russian economy. The Bank’s
inaugural 5 billion rouble (€140 million)
floating-rate issue breaks new ground

as the first placed in Russia by an
international financial institution.

The proceeds from the EBRD's rouble
bond will be used to meet growing
funding needs for the renewal of Russia’s
municipal infrastructure and to finance
small businesses and other Russian
borrowers who cannot rely on export
revenues to repay foreign currency loans.

Another illustration of how local currency
can be used to good effect was a

5 billion rouble (€140 million) loan

to Russia's electricity transmission
monopoly, the Federal Grid Company,

to fund a modernisation programme.
The loan is the largest that the EBRD

has made in roubles and is the latest in
a series of efforts by the Bank to provide
financial backing for the wide-ranging
reform of the power sector launched

by the Russian government in 2001.

The project is due to lead to a significant
increase in electricity flows from the east
of the country, Siberia and the Urals
towards central Russia as well as greater
power supplies for the Caucasus region.

Excellent returns on the sale of equity
positions in central Europe contributed
to profits for the EBRD of over €1 billion.
This strong performance will allow the
Bank to invest in a large number of
projects, particularly in more difficult
and riskier environments.

The Bank’s initiative to support some of
the poorest countries where we operate
took a major step forward in 2005.
Almost two years since its launch, the
EBRD’s Early Transition Countries (ETC)
Initiative is already showing strong
results. The initiative was established to
help the Bank’s poorest countries of
operations build the foundations of a
fledgling market economy. And that

is exactly what is beginning to happen
in the seven countries covered by the
initiative: Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia,
the Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova, Tajikistan
and Uzbekistan.

in 2005 the EBRD signed 61 new

operations {excluding oil and gas deals)
in these countries compared with 32 in
2004 and 18 in 2003. The value of new

One of the Bank's most innovative
projects in 2005 was a landmark
rouble bond issue in Russia.



Revolutionising the Russian consumer market

Most Russlans heve ne debt. Whlle this might seund like a thing te the
spendlirfts of this world, it 1s largely because very fiew Russian banks ans willing
1o provide small leens to erdinary peepls for essentlsl consumer iems.

Russian Stancere Bank (RSB) Is an exespiion. With it hi-tech, enline eradit
seoring system Uhet 28858888 & pPersen’s ability to repay on & serfes ef
simple guestions, bermewers ¢an walk away with 8 new washing mashine within
13 minutes. Most of REE's loans are areund the €500 mark and can usually e
previded In-sters (aliheugh they can semetinmes be provided in the banlk itself).

Commen praciies in the West meybe but highly innevative in Russla, where many
banks are net prepared o take he risk on small consumers whose eash-low
situation ean be hard o evalugte. Yet smell leans are famously vital for @ thitving
eeonamy that depends en consumer conficence and avallabie credit.

In ene of the Arst (and largest) ever securiisation projects in eastem Eureps,

RSB has securttised (effectively sold o Investors) & €280 milllen pertielle of small
consumer leans, thersby genereting new funds fior expanding the consumer lerding
business that is revolutionising the Russian market. The EBRD pleyed & key rele In
he ransaction by buying €8.8 millien of “mezzening netes”, the higherrsk leans
50 vital to & seeuritisation’s sussEss.

“This letest ploneering deal invelving RSB shews the market hew local bermowers
ean use thelr income © aceess sophisticated new forms of fnancing thet mateh
thelr funding nesds,” said Jenathan Wesllett, eirecter of non-banking fnanclial
Institutions &t the EBRD.

In & separats ransaction, the EBRD hes glse lent REB the rouble equivalent of
€25 million to fund consumer lending in what is now its Biggest area,
he Russian regiens.




Improving transport links

With the end 6f central plenning in eentral and casterm Eurepe came the
off thet famously efficient, virtuelly free Wrenspert system. Svedenty there
Ao Meney for new rains or buses end ne meney te maeintalin the old ones.
witlle senvies standerds plummetee

In shert, there was & gap In the merket end privete companies were ready to step
inte it. Véelle Transpert, one of Eurepe’s leaders (formerty known &
Connex) Is now well-established in the area. In Slovenria, for exampie, it
mejertty sheres In Centus, of the eeuntry's leecing bus companies, nd
eperates he Hublena interurban enc intemetienal rain lnes (SAP Turbus).
Véelte Transpert hes also besn the largsst operater of publie ranspert

In the Czeeh Republic since 2000, with & 24 cent shame ef Sepyicesh

New the EBRD I golng to provide €74 millien in eeuly funding te Weells Transpert
o help local autherites Impreve thelr publie transpernt netwerks: busses first, but
glse expanding into trams, metres, reins and ferres. will be an inklel focus
on Crogtls, the Czaeh Repulblic, Peland, (he Slevek Republis 2ne Slovanie, followsd
by Bulgaria, Hungery, Romenis and Sersia and Montenegre.

“The goal of the partnership betwesn the EBRD and Véolla Transpert [s (o
strengthen and eceslerate the development ef privete menagsment of publie
ransport even further in central Eureps ane Increasingly In souih-casterm Eurepe.
Privete meneagsment will essist in atteining betier quaily and mers reliable
renspert services in the region,” saic Stephane Righard, Chlef Exseutive
Offficer of Véalia.

The is people will find thelr buses and rains gffordelle end Mere
efficlent = efter &ll, the relies en people e werk. By invesing in
rural trein serviees, Véells Trenspert is alse alming to maintain lines it
otherwise heve closee becauss of maintenanes difficulties.




signings is also on the rise: around
€250 million in 2005 versus €92 million
in 2004 and €53 million in 2003.

In addition, we have significantly
increased our support under the Trade
Facilitation Programme, from 305
transactions in 2004 to 486 in 2005.

The success of the ETC Initiative rests on
three pillars: the Bank’s readiness to take
on a higher level of risk in ETC projects
as long as sound banking principles are
respected; our commitment to increase
dedicated resources at HQ and in the
Bank's local offices; and increased
support from the donor community.

Under the initiative, an array of new and
modified tools are being used to support
medium-sized enterprises. For example,
the EBRD has established a Direct
Lending Facility (DLF), which provides
loans directly to medium-sized enterprises
in areas where no local banks are
available to act as intermediaries.

The EBRD has also considerably expanded
its lending to micro and small enterprises
through local banks, particularly in rural
areas and to small farming enterprises
that find it difficult to obtain

loans elsewhere.

An increase in EBRD investment has been
accompanied by a 40 per cent increase in
donor-funded commitments, which totalled
€18 million in 2005. About half of this is
provided through the ETC Multi-Donor
Fund launched in November 2004, which
provides grant financing in support of
EBRD projects (see page 25).

At its three Assemblies in 2005 the ETC

Fund approved a wide variety of grant-
funded projects aimed at encouraging

the development of the private sector
across the ETCs. These include support
for microfinance programmes, the
development of small municipal projects
and the financing of environmental
initiatives. It has also approved funding
to assist companies and governments in
financing energy efficiency and renewable
energy projects.

As of the end of 2005, the Fund had
approved funding for 46 projects totalling
around €16 million. Following the success
of the ETC Initiative, the EBRD has

begun plans to establish a simiiar
donor-supported initiative in the

Western Balkans.

Co-financing from the private sector allows
the Bank to extend the reach of our
projects even further. In 2005 the EBRD
raised €1.9 billion in co-financing from
private sector sources, predominantly
commercial banks, for projects in 16

of the Bank’s countries of operations.
This volume is significantly lower than the
equivalent figure for 2004 (€3.5 billion),
partly due to the Bank investing in a
greater number of smaller projects

in sectors and countries where the
opportunities for co-financing are

more limited.

Nevertheless, private sector co-financing
increased in Azerbaijan, Serbia and
Montenegro and Ukraine. It was also
provided for the first time in Georgia.

In the small business sector, the EBRD
succeeded in raising private sector co-
financing from a number of financial
institutions that specialise in lending

to small businesses.

RD investment in the poorest

countries almost trebled -
from €92 million in 2004
to €250 miilion in 2005.

The larger countries where the EBRD
operates continued to attract significant
amounts of private sector co-financing

in 2005. Russian companies received
€459 million from private sector sources,
and the EBRD raised significant co-
financing in the manufacturing and service
sectors, helping the country to diversify
beyond oil and gas.

Co-financing was provided for the first
time in 2005 in local currencies.
Kommunalkredit of Austria provided
financing denominated in Polish zloty
alongside an EBRD loan supporting
Krakow urban transport while RZB-Austria
supported the lasi district heating project
with a loan denominated partially in
Romanian lei.

Partner agencies from the public sector
contributed co-financing of €704 million
in 2005 in support of EBRD projects,
mainly in the form of loans and equity.
The largest public sector co-financing
institutions in 2005 were the European
Investment Bank (EIB), Export
Development Canada, Kreditanstalt

flr Wiederaufbau, the Netherlands
Development Finance Company (FMO)
and the International Finance Corporation.
For example, the EIB provided close to
€200 million to co-finance infrastructure
projects in Albania and Serbia

and Montenegro.




Every EBRD project is intended tc help countries
move towards a future that is self-sustaining.
The Bank pays particular attention to the
environmental and social impact of our projects,
taking account of local concerns. In 2005 the
EBRD increased its focus on environmental

and social issues and expanded its investments
in energy efficiency and clean-up operations.

yustainability



The EBRD’s commitment to promoting
environmentally sound and sustainable
development is enshrined within the
Bank’s Founding Agreement. As well
as including rigorous environmental
requirements in all EBRD investments,
the Bank finances many projects that
are specifically designed to improve
environmental conditions in our
countries of operations.

In 2005, EBRD projects with a strong
environmental component included

a €9 million investment to improve
Ukraine's energy efficiency technology
(see page 57), a €6 million project to
improve district heating in Timisoara
(Romania) and a €15 million

investment to improve environmental
conditions and energy efficiency in
Bosnia and Herzegovina’s steel
manufacturing industry.

In total, the Bank invested approximately
€350 million in energy efficiency,
municipal infrastructure and clean-up
operations in 2005. Some €205 million
of this financed energy efficiency
upgrades across a range of sectors
(excluding energy-saving investments

in power generation and transmission).
This included €102 million to finance
energy-saving activities in the industrial
sector and €30 million that was
channelled through Bulgarian banks to
fund residential energy efficiency projects.

ofthe-ent demestic appliances.

plants and o reduce emissions.

Keeping the city lights burning

The dim lighting ef Moscew in its Soviet days s long gone,
wihen gloemy strests were almest piteh blaek at night and
blecks ef flats were visible enly by their pale yellow glow.
New the eentrs ef the ety is characterised by its Las Vegas
style lighting and the eity burms with brighter street lemps,
glaring cafés and restaurants and househelds full ef state-

But the grid keeping the bright ights shining n Russia’s
capital eity is In need of nvestment, &S cemenstratesd by
Izst spring’s blackeut when the whole ety was virtualy
paralysed for two days. Conseguently, the EBRD is
leneing Mosenerge, the Meoseow utility @fd cempany,
2.8 billior roubles (€88 millien) to Medemise s existing

This s & ploneering trensastion for the EBRD in terms

of inaneing in local curreney 28 part of the lean will be
synedlieated in reubles via reputable banks based in Russia.
Mesenearnge, which new muns 17 clectries) power plamts,

Is & leng-ierm client of the EBRD ane this loan is &
continuatien of engsing suppert for the electichy gent.

The upgrade ef exdisting plents sheuld mean & mere reliable
electrielty supply for Moseow, and new ieehnelogy will
improve procuction eficiency and make heuseheld bilis
cesier o faee. Most imperiantly, envirenmentally friendly
technology will lbe Intredused, vastly reducing sulphur diedds
emissions = & Mejer cause of cangsrous alr pellution.

Dmitr Vesilhyey, Chief Finanelal Offcer of Mosenerge,
eonfirmed:; “The investment pregramme is helping
Mesenerge te Improve efficlensy and envirenmentel
performanss, ineluding recueing air emissions, and

o strengihen e environmantel Management system.”

The EBRD also provided its first credit line
to a Russian bank (Spurt Bank) to finance
specific energy efficiency activities.

The EBRD undertakes an environmental
appraisal before investing in any project
so that it can determine the action that
the client needs to take to comply with
the Bank’s Environmental Policy. These
requirements become binding when the
project is signed. in 2005 the EBRD
provided financing of approximately
€350 million to cover the environmental
requirements of projects in the
manufacturing, heavy industry

and agribusiness sectors.
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The EBRD makes an assessment of
greenhouse gas emissions for all
industrial projects. Around 30 of the
projects signed by the Bank in 2005 were
assessed as having significant levels

of emissions. These were mainly in the
power and energy, natural resources and
other industrial sectors. All projects where
the Bank has invested in modernising
existing facilities and improving energy
efficiency are expected to lead to lower
emissions or to a reduction in emissions
per unit output if capacity increases. If the
EBRD is financing the construction of new
facilities, the Bank aims to ensure that
greenhouse gas emissions are in line

with current best practice.

As well as considering ecological issues,
the EBRD examines the social aspects of
its projects, including health and safety,
child labour, forced labour, involuntary
resettlement, discrimination at the
workplace and the impact of the project
on local communities. In 2005 the EBRD
increased its focus on social issues by
engaging a full-time social development
expert. The main focus of the role is

to assess the social impact of EBRD
projects on local communities, particularly
in the oil and gas, mining, heavy industry
and infrastructure sectors, and to work
with the client on tackling potentially
negative effects. The Bank also consults
with experts in international labour rights
who provide advice on specific issues
related to EBRD projects.

Good progress was made in 2005 on
drafting the EBRD's new Energy Policy,
which will bring together all aspects

of the Bank’s activities in the energy
sector — from extraction to energy
consumption. This new policy will allow
the Bank to demonstrate a unified
approach to the energy sector, from
the development of infrastructure

to the sustainable use of resources.

The energy sector plays a vital part in the
transition process. Reliable, cost-effective
energy supplies are fundamental to
economic growth and the functioning of
modern society. On the down side, the
energy sector — in particular, the burning
of fossil fuels — is also associated with
some of the most pressing environmental
problems faced by society today, from

air pollution to global climate change.

Although the Bank's approach to

the energy sector has always taken
account of wider issues, recent global
developments have emphasised the need
for a review of our Energy Policy. Oil prices
have increased and the long-term forecast
is for significantly higher prices than

were predicted three to five years ago.
The combination of prices and the
pressure of climate change raises

the priority for energy efficiency and
renewables. There is also an increasing
focus on issues such as transparency,
the management of state revenues from
natural resource development, corporate
responsibility and the environmental and
social impact of energy activities.

In drafting the new policy, the Bank has
drawn on its extensive experience and
lessons learned from previous operations.
We have also taken account of a number
of other developments, such as the
ratification of the Kyoto Protocol and the
need to reduce carbon dioxide emissions.

The new policy has benefited from the
work of the EBRD’s Evaluation Department
and two recently commissioned
background papers from leading
independent experts in the field of power
and energy and natural resources.

These and other relevant papers have
been published on the Bank’s web site.

In 2005 the Bank held three open forums
in London, Sofia and Moscow to consult
with non-governmental organisations
(NGOs), research institutes and think-tank
organisations. We also consulted widely
with governments and within industry.

As a result of this, the Bank has been
able to refine its investment strategy and
its approach to sustainability. Summaries
of these discussions are available on the
Bank's web site.

The new policy will mandate the EBRD to
expand its investment in energy efficiency
as a means of increasing energy security,
reducing energy investment needs and
addressing environmental concerns. The
Bank will also promote renewable energy
technologies to help countries reduce
their dependence on external supply and
to address the threat of climate change.
The EBRD aims to raise the standards

The EBRD consulted widely in 2005
to develop a new Energy Policy that

responds to giobal developments.




of corporate governance in the energy
sector and to promote a transparent
approach to revenue management.

The policy began its final 45-day
consultation period in March 2006.

After final modification, the policy will

be submitted to the EBRD's Board of
Directors for final approval. Publication of
the final policy is expected in mid-20086.

Alongside the new Energy Policy, the EBRD
is proposing a climate change initiative.
This will complement the EU Green Paper
on Energy Efficiency and respond to the
G8-Gleneagles call for IFls to develop new
ways 1o support clean energy as part of

the wider campaign on global warming.
By improving energy security, affordability
and sustainability while aiming to reduce
industry’s negative impact on greenhouse
gases, the initiative is fully in keeping
with the Bank's mandate of promoting
sustainable development. it would also
help new EU member states and future
accession countries to meet the EU
renewable electricity targets.

To address the issue of greenhouse gas

emissions worldwide, the EBRD began to
work with the European Investment Bank
(EIB) on developing a Multilateral Carbon
Credit Fund. This will help countries and

private enterprises to meet emission

e verge of a revival.

flo meke significant energy savings.

efielensy in the plant.

® from certifled sources.

Improving Bulgaria’s energy efficiency

The Bulzerlen tewn of Svishtey, situated on the banks

ef the Danube River, s homs o Bulgare’s lergest pulp
plant. Baeck In the lete 18608, when the plent was first
cstablished, Svilesa played @ demingnt rele in the losal
eecenomy, shipping in Umber frem the furthest

of the Union and empleying theusands of people.

In mere reeent Umes it hes seen & gradual deeling, redusing
fts werkiioree and soursing its raw meterials exlusively from
e local aree. But with the help of the EBRD, the plant is en

Ar €18 milllen EBRD loan is expestad to lead o & doubiing
of production &t the mill and an expansion In regienal
threugh experts © countries sueh &8 Breecs and Turkey.
Mueh ef the lean will be used o fnence substantial
improvements in energy effeiency, enabling the company

This Is being aehieved threvugh (he intreduction ef mederm
eouipment that will help to redues electriely and water
consumpiien, waste-weler cischangss and afr emissions
off suliphur, dust and other gases. New Investments include
{he construetien of @ waste-water treetment slant end the
estalbiishment ef new lBndilis. The EBRD has also camied
out & study to Identify weys teo further Increase energy

Svllesa will Implement & comprehensive Ervirenmental
Action Plan (EAP) to achieve full complianes with EY
envirenmental etenderds. The cempany hes &les
o set up & procurement process based en principles
of sustalnable forest meanegement ane wil prefierence

reduction targets under the Kyoto Protocol
and other related agreements. Under

the proposed scheme, governments

and companies will be able to purchase
carbon credits resulting from projects
financed by the EBRD and the EIB. These
credits are generated when a project
achieves a reduction in the emission of
greenhouse gases. The Fund is expected
to be established in 20086.

General advice on environmental

issues is provided to the EBRD by the
Environmental Advisory Council (ENVAC),

a group of independent experts that meets
twice a year. In 2005 the topics discussed
included the EBRD’s new Transport Policy,




Helping to clean up north-west Russia

The Nerthern Dimensien Envirenmental Partnership (NOEPR) implementsd fis frst
in 2608. The St Petersburg Seutlwest Weste Weter Treatment Plant,
Ineugureted in September, will halve the ermeurt of untreeiee efuem released
sash cay by the ety of $t Petersburg inte the Neve River = and conseguently inte
{ive GUI of Finland end the Bealtie Sea.

The senstruciion costs of €138 millien heve been finensed from & RUMBEr of
SOUrses,; including NDEP rants end & loen frem (e EBRD. Thanks t© the plant,
only 18 per oent of St Pelersburg's weste weler s now clscherged into e
Neva vnireetad.

NDEP wes estebiished to ederess the pressing envirenmenial o]
Russia. Censisting of the Russien gevernment, the eener community
ane intemeatienal Trencial institutions (IFs), including the EBRD, NDE? mebillses
investment to teekie longstanding ervirenmental sms (R arses sueh &8
supply, energy efficiency end Rusiesr seifety:

The NDEP Suppert Fund (s by the EBRD uncer the superision of an
Assembly ef Contrituters. At the end of 2008, contrioutions te the Fund ameunted
e €225 million, ef which €148 millen was carmeriee for nusiear safely.

In 2008 new unding wes by e Ewrepsan Community, Denmark, Finland,
Nerwey, Russie and Sweden. The Assemizly of Contributers es approved NDEP
co-fneneing ef millien for ten ervirenmenisl prejeets, with & el value
of &1 billien, This ineludes & of €867 millien from IFls.

The nuslear “wincdew” ef NDEPR, dealing with the nusleer legaey of the former Seviet
nuelear fest In neri-west Russle, entered the implementaiion in 2008.
approved funeing of €19 milllon for five high-prierty prefests. These include
he instelletion ef a reciation Monitordng and EMEREERY RSPONSE SyStem in the
Murmenek regien and Uhe ereatien ef safie conditions for the sterege and unleading
of spent nuekear fuel from submerdnes in Gremikhe.

Deners glse approved funding for the second phese of the Siretede Master Plen,
witleh previcdes an everview of all reguirements raleted to spent nuelesr fuel and
weste es well 28 the envirenmental upgrade of el coastal beses.




the application of the Bank's
Environmental Policy to capital and
retirement funds and the EBRD's draft
Energy Policy. Several members of ENVAC
also participated in the EBRD’s regional
workshops on the Energy Policy.

The EBRD addressed a number

of health and safety issues in our
countries of operations in 2005,
utilising grant financing provided by
donors (see page 25). In Moldova the
Bank joined forces with the government
and the Canadian International
Development Agency to establish an
electrical safety awareness campaign.
This initiative was prompted by the high
rate of electrocutions in Moldova —

100 times higher than the UK level -
caused mainly by poor people trying

to steal electricity through illegal
hook-ups to power lines and sub-stations.
An Electrical Safety Awareness Week
targeted at schoolchildren kicked

off the campaign in November.

The EBRD published its first Sustainability
Report in 2005. Following on from the
Bank’s Environmental Report, this new
publication addresses every aspect of
the Bank's commitment to sustainable

development and corporate
responsibility in our investment
activities and our internal operations.
It will be produced annually.

The EBRD works closely with other
international bodies, such as the Global
Environment Facility (GEF), to tackle global
environmental issues, such as water
poliution, climate change and biodiversity.
The EBRD and GEF are currently co-
funding an Environmental Credit Facility
in Slovenia that aims to reduce pollution
entering the Danube River Basin. In 2005
the EBRD disbursed approximately

€22 million to four local banks for on-
lending to local businesses and small
municipalities that invest in pollution-
reduction projects.

The EBRD harnesses donor funding

to finance a range of nuclear safety
measures aimed at tackling the region's
nuclear legacy. The Bank manages six
nuclear safety funds on behalf of

28 donor countries and the European
Community: the Nuclear Safety Account
(NSA), the Chernobyl Shelter Fund (CSF),
three international decommissioning
support funds (IDSFs) for Bulgaria
(Kozloduy), Lithuania (Ignalina) and the

The EBRD published its first
Sustainabiiity Report in 2005,

outlining the

Jank's commitment

to sustainable development.

Slovak Republic (Bohunice) and the
nuclear “window” of NDEP (see box).
Overall some €2 billion has been
contributed to these funds.

The CSF-funded Shelter Implementation
Plan — which aims to convert the
destroyed Chernoby! unit into an
environmentally safe state — made good
progress in 2005. All infrastructure and
preparatory projects were completed,
and the complicated stabilisation work
to prevent the collapse of the existing
sarcophagus remains on schedule.

The tender for the new safe confinement,
which will enclose the unit and provide
safe working conditions for future work,
was published in March 2005. The NSA
approved the construction of a liquid
radioactive waste treatment facility in
Chernobyl, which is on schedule for
completion in 2006.

The IDSFs, which are helping to close
outdated Soviet-designed reactors as part
of the EU accession process, made good
progress in 2005. Major projects were
launched, such as the environmental
upgrade of a thermal power plant and the
construction of a storage facility for solid
radioactive waste in Lithuania.




Funding provided by donor governments and
agencies allows the EBRD to prepare the way

for future investments and to increase the impact
of our operations. In 2005, donor assistance
underpinned the delivery of expertise across a
range of EBRD programmes, including iending to
small businesses, trade finance and turnaround
management programmes.

nding
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The continuing shift of the EBRD towards
the south and the east has been
accompanied by strong partnerships with
donor countries and donor institutions.
These have generously supported the
Bank’s emphasis on promoting private
sector development in the poorer
countries where we operate. By assisting
these countries (in the Caucasus, Central
Asia and the Western Balkans), the EBRD
aims to generate the employment and
income growth needed to address poverty
and social problems. Developing the
infrastructure needed to provide basic
services and raising the standards of
corporate governance are key target
areas for financial assistance.

Grant funding from donor governments
and agencies — in the form of “technical
cooperation” funds — allows the Bank
to hire experts who provide valuable
advice on preparing and implementing
EBRD projects, strengthening public
institutions and improving standards

of corporate governance.

The strongest growth in donor-funded
activity in 2005 was in the Western
Balkans and the Early Transition Countries
(ETCs — see page 14). In the ETCs the
donor programme was boosted by greater
cooperation under the ETC Fund and
significant additional contributions

from the European Community and

the United States.

By the end of 2005, pledges to the

ETC Fund amounted to €32 million,
including contributions from Canada,
Finland, Ireland, Japan, Luxembourg,

the Netherlands, Norway, Spain, Sweden,
Switzerland, Taipei China and the United
Kingdom. The largest contributors are
Japan (€11 million), the United Kingdom
(€8 million) and the Netherlands

(€7 million).

In the Western Balkans, growth in donor
support was led by Italy and the European
Agency for Reconstruction (EAR). The main
focus of activity was support for small
business and municipal projects.

New initiatives in 2005 included the Italy-
EBRD Private Sector Development Fund
for the Western Balkans and EAR funding
for @ municipal infrastructure programme
in Serbia and Montenegro. Overall,
technical cooperation spending by the
EBRD in 2005 was €78 million, a slight
reduction on the previous year.

Grants from public sector sources in
support of EBRD projects amounted to
€15 million provided by the European
Community and the Northern Dimension
Environmental Partnership multi-donor
fund (see page 22). The main projects
to benefit were in the transport, energy
and small business sectors. More
detailed information about donor support
for EBRD projects can be found in the
2006 EBRD Donor Report.

A particular focus of donor activity is
support for small businesses, which are
vital for the development of a vibrant
market economy. As well as creating jobs,
they provide the framework for a country's




long-term growth. The EBRD has worked
alongside donors for many years to assist
these businesses across the Bank’s
countries of operations. Financing

is provided through local banks and
specialist microfinance organisations that
on-lend to micro and small enterprises.
The Bank also invests in private equity
funds that support small business and
makes direct equity investments in
medium-sized companies with up to

250 employees.

One of the main ways of reaching small
businesses is through the donor-
supported Micro and Smail Business
Programme, which operates in 19
countries. A total of 54 institutions act as
financial intermediaries for EBRD finance,
disbursing loans through over 1,000
branches. In 2005 some 480,000 loans
totalling €2.5 billion were disbursed to
small business. By the end of 2005 some
1.26 million loans totalling €6.9 billion
had been disbursed since the start of the
programme. The vast majority of loans are
repaid on time.

The Bank makes use of donor funding

to ensure that EBRD-financed loans are
distributed efficiently. Specialist advisers
are appointed to provide training to bank
staff and to develop swift lending
procedures for small business clients.

In 2005 the Bank introduced a new
framework for on-lending funds through
institutions other than banks, such as
non-governmental organisations, in some
of the poorest countries. Under this
framework, four new partners received
funds: Imon in Tajikistan, Finac and Bai
Tushum in the Kyrgyz Republic and the
Rural Finance Corporation in Moldova.

This has led to interest from similar
organisations in other countries.

In Kazakhstan the EBRD extended its
first loan to a microfinance institution
in local currency.

Support for rural communities continued
to be a priority in 2005. In addition to
firmly established rural lending
programmes in FYR Macedonia, Georgia,
Kazakhstan, Moldova, Russia, Serbia and
Montenegro and Ukraine, the Bank sought
new partners specialising in agricultural
and rural financing in other countries.

We also introduced existing financial
partners to agricultural and rural lending.

in 2005 the EBRD sold part of its stake
in KMB Bank Russia to Banca Intesa, one
of taly's largest banks. Banca Intesa was
chosen after a highly competitive process
because of its outstanding commitment
to developing KMB’s micro and small
lending business.

The United States is the largest supporter
of the EBRD’s micro-finance programmes,
providing €71 million in technical
assistance for projects in 15 countries.
The US/EBRD SME Finance Facility
promotes private sector growth and
economic development in south-eastern
Europe as well as Armenia, Belarus,
Georgia, Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic,
Tajikistan and Ukraine. The funding
provided by the United States is mostly
used to train staff in local banks and

to develop a more efficient legal and
regulatory framework for small business
finance. By the end of 2005, the facility
had provided almost 800,000 loans
totaliing €4.2 billion. The facility is also
supported by a number of other donors.

The EBRD’s largest individual programme
is the Russia Small Business Fund
(RSBF), which was established in 1994 by
the EBRD and the G7 countries (Canada,
France, Germany, ltaly, Japan, the United
Kingdom and the United States) with the
additional support of Switzerland. It is
dedicated to providing Russian micro
and small enterprises (MSEs) with better
access to finance and to strengthening
the technical capacity of the Russian
banking sector to provide finance to
MSEs. Participating banks provide

loans of up to €170,000. To date, over
290,000 loans totalling €2.2 billion

have been disbursed.

The EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility
provides financing to small businesses

in 11 countries in central Europe. This is
channelled through local banks, leasing
companies and equity funds. In 2005 the
EBRD increased the funding available
through this facility to €1.1 billion,
including at least €50 million earmarked
for farmers and small businesses in rural
areas where financing is in short supply.
In addition to loan financing, four equity
funds totalling €32.5 million have been
established under the facility to provide
much-needed equity support to small
enterprises. The European Community's
contribution to the facility totals

€157 mitlion.

The facility provides training to local staff
to improve the quality of service for small
businesses and to increase efficiency
levels. It also provides financial incentives
to local financial intermediaries to
encourage them to participate in

the facility. By the end of 2005, the EBRD
had provided 87 credit lines totalling

In 2005 some 480,000 loans
totalling €2.5 biilion were disbursed
through the Bank’s Micro and

Small

usiness Programme.



€935 million to 34 banks and 32 leasing
companies. In total, over 63,200 trans-
actions worth more than €1.4 billion have
been undertaken with small businesses
throughout the region. The average sub-
loan size for each business is as low as
€23,100 while leases average €18,200.
These low levels ensure that even very
small businesses are able to benefit
from the facility.

A new scheme, the EU/EBRD Preparatory
Action Programme, was set up in 2005
to encourage increased lending to micro
and small businesses in the eight new
EU member states. The first project was
signed with Istrobanka in the Slovak

Republic to provide financing to local
businesses with an average portfolio
size of less than €25,000. In addition,
grant funding is provided to help the
participating financial intermediaries
adapt to the new programme. The EC’s
contribution totals €4 million.

To reach slightly larger businesses,

the EBRD has developed the Direct
Investment Facility (DIF), which makes
equity investments in private enterprises
in some of the poorer regions that are not
well covered by other sources of funding.
By the end of 2005, the DIF had financed
30 operations in 15 countries and had
disbursed more than €28.3 million.

Investments ranging from €0.4 million to
€2 million are provided to entrepreneurs
along with advice on professional
management practices, transparency
and good corporate governance.

The EBRD’s Trade Facilitation Programme
(TFP) makes use of donor funding

to oil the wheels of cross-border trade.
TFP provides guarantees that help
businesses to grow. It also provides loans
to banks for on-lending to local exporters
and importers.

In 2005 the TFP guaranteed a record
number of trade transactions, financing
1,204 operations with a total value of

The King of White Gold

8 wider area.

comfertable way of lifs.

“The King of White Geld” = Kamiljen Meldeshev = lives in
Belehevlk, & village in the Rare-Suu reglon of the
Repullic. He Is an expert In erep procuetion, Reving gained
over 20 years of experience from working at the Kere-Suy
collective farm. He glse reises his own lvestoek = cows,
bulls and seme shesp. His annvel earmings from sales
of = knewn lecally a8 “white gold” = funded his
Investment In livestosk eaeh year but his Inceme was net
sufficient for him to meke & sulbstantial Investment,

Se In 2004 Kemillan turmed to his loes] micrefingnce
Instiutien, Bel Tushum, ene of the newest reeruits to the
EBRD’s microfinance pregramme. Kemijen applied for & loan
and reeeived & sum ef 40,000 som (glbout E870), whish he
used sucesssiully to expand his growing. He repaid
e loan on Yme and vsed the frem Ris seles

o pay for the reconstructien of his house and fBrm ErEmises.

One yeer later, Kemilan rented an additenal three hestares
of Infigeted land and, with the help of a larger loan frem

Bel Tushum, expended his cetion grewing even further.

The prefits from this wers used io increase his [vestock.

In the ned twe vears, Kemilan toek eut & third end & feurth
lean ameunting to 140,000 sem, allewing him te plant ever

All i hard werk has rewareed with a rieh harvest of
ereps, enaliing him t repay the leens en tme ane to |
earn loesl neterety for the raplid epansion of his “kingdem”.
His family new hes & langs livestosk helding and @ mueh




Bringing modern practices to an olde-worlde
venture in St Petersburg

The tza they sell et “Untslya” on Nevsky Prospekt eomes in very eld-fashionsd
looking packets = brown-flecked paper packets, with @ squars stamped on the
Fromt. When yeu buy your 1e8, it is weighad eut from big gless jars with brass
welghts, and the name ef the partfouler veriely of sa you heve chesen is hand-
witien with & euill pen, in clegent Russien coppenslete, on e your pesket.

These olde-worlde easheps (heie are 14 of em around St Petersbung) it
easlly inte Rusele’s old imparial capital, now ence egein looking elegant
and sophisticated with Ks cenirel srests repeinted sinee 1t
enniversary in 2008. But e stores are entirely mederm.

As ceputy dirsctorgenaral Olge Aksyeneve expleing, thelr founder, Sergs! Nikolapay,
the first shop in 2002, His company, Kiessilke, has gone on Frowing ever
sinee. Twe hundred ether cafés and restaurants in St Petersburg serve he 128

and it can be bovudht In 40 ether Russian eitles.

Klessika now empleys 70 peepie and turned over €1 millien in 2004. “Now we're
working on mearksting idezs,” says Clga ova), & ellew he business @
ExpEnd even further.

This fe wihere the EBRD comes in to Klasslke's suceess stom. IR 2008 e
Benkk's Business Aevisery Servies (BAS), wivich is In its TRk in $t Petersburg,
wes 80 impreseed by Klessike's axesllent shep and the quality of s erginal
bugihess idea thet & developsd & merteting plan for the company’s cpension.
The plan was prepered by 8 locs! consultant, guided by amnd unded

by 8 €5,000 gremt from the Programme.

“It helpee signifcantly,” Clga Aksyanove says. “it was &ll ¢ene 56 fEst = Mesdmum
results for Minimum decumentation, wiish is ffor growing compenies like ours.
As & result, we Inmproved; we gt 2 better ldee ef whet we needed.”

The ehop hes brovught in leyalty eards. Every fifth cunee of e comes free. There
fs & menthly tea newspaper for clients, deserbing new lines end flevours, end the
compeny as esteblished an elite lIne of zas to drew in wealihy cliems. With the
help of BAS, the company hes entered the net stegs of i success storny.




€549 million. Most of these supported
small businesses, with more than

50 per cent of all deals under €100,000.
Many of these transactions would not
have occurred without the programme.

As well as helping to create jobs, the

TFP encourages greater cooperation and
understanding between countries through
better trade relations. Since the start of
the programme in 1999, the number of
trade transactions between countries in
the Bank’s region of operations has
increased each year, with 170 financed

in 2005.

In August the programme achieved the
milestone of 4,000 transactions. This
landmark transaction involved a guarantee
that cleared the way for a Kyrgyz company
to import trucks from Russia. It is a good
example of how TFP is succeeding in
breaking down trade barriers. As well as
Western banks in the programme being
prepared to take risks in countries such
as Russia and Kazakhstan, local banks

in the more advanced transition countries
are increasingly willing to provide similar
assistance to less advanced countries in
the region, such as the Kyrgyz Republic.

Over 100 local banks and more than
570 banks worldwide participate in the
programme. New TFP facilities totalling
€102 million were signed in 2005 with
17 banks in nine of the EBRD’s countries
of operations. The TFP is a particularly
important too! in the poorest countries

The EB

where the Bank operates, helping to
stimulate market activity by financing
many small-scale projects. In 2005 the
programme financed 486 transactions in
these countries.

To build stronger businesses in the
EBRD’s countries of operations, the
Bank utilises two donor-funded tools:
the TurnAround Management (TAM)
Programme and the Business Advisory
Services (BAS) Programme.

Both TAM and BAS work directly with
enterprises that are looking for help in
structuring and operating their businesses
effectively. TAM helps senior management
to learn new business skills by drawing

on the expertise of former executives
from industrialised countries. The BAS
Programme uses local consultants to help
small enterprises develop marketing,
financial and strategic know-how.

As well as helping enterprises expand,
BAS develops the skills of local
consultancy services.

Donors provided a further €32 million for
TAM/BAS activities in 2005, bringing the
total funding for the two programmes
since their inception to €134 million.
The EBRD fully integrated TAM/BAS

into the Bank’s investment activities in
2005 to maximise the impact of these
programmes. As a result, the link between
TAM/BAS operations and EBRD-financed
projects was further strengthened. Since
the start of the programmes, some

3RD heiped to strengthen

cross-border trade by guaranteeing
a record number of trade
transactions in 2005.

120 TAM/BAS enterprises have gone
on to attract a total of €660 million
from the EBRD or from EBRD-financed
intermediaries. This has attracted a
further €850 million in co-financing.

In 2005, TAM started 103 new projects,
a 15 per cent increase on 2004. The
majority of projects were concentrated
in the Western Balkans and the Early
Transition Countries in line with the
Bank's gradual shift in this direction.
TAM also began projects elsewhere

in Central Asia, in the EU candidate
countries of Romania and Bulgaria and
in Russia and Ukraine, mostly outside
the large cities.

BAS started 987 projects in 14 countries
in 2005, an increase of 38 per cent on
the previous year. New BAS offices were
opened in the capital cities of Kosovo,
the Ryrgyz Republic and Moldova.

In Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan, four

new offices were established outside the
capital cities to provide assistance to
enterprises in the more remote parts of
these countries. In the Caucasus a new
initiative was launched with the aim of
helping women entrepreneurs set up

and develop successful businesses.

Since 1993, over 1,200 TAM projects
and 4,400 BAS projects have been
undertaken. On average, these have led
to a 28 per cent increase in productivity
per enterprise.




The EBRD places the highest importance on ethical
behaviour and integrity. We make every effort to
ensure that EBRD financing is used properly and
all projects are monitored throughout their lifetime.
We also undertake extensive public consultation.
In 2005 the EBRD published information about

181 projects under consideration for financing.

Inte o I'ity *




The EBRD is committed to transparency
and accountability. One of the key ways
of achieving this is through the work of

in 2005 the EBRD established new
procedures for investigating allegations of
fraud, corruption and collusive or coercive

the Chief Compliance Office {CCO), which
assists in safeguarding the integrity and
reputation of the Bank. The CCO, which
was further strengthened in 2005,
provides advice on the suitability

of prospective clients, investigates
allegations of fraud, corruption and
misconduct, handles complaints from
groups adversely affected by EBRD
projects and protects the institution
from acts of criminality, such as money
laundering and terrorist financing.

practices in the Bank’s procurement
operations. As a consequence, the
Bank increased its cooperation within
the Multilateral Development Bank

the investigative units of the EBRD, the
World Bank, the Asian Development Bank,
the Inter American Development Bank
and the African Development Bank.

This collaboration will shortly lead to

a unified approach to the definition and
investigation of fraud and corruption

Investigators Forum, which brings together

BTC: Monitoring environmental and social commitments

The EBRD’s €108 milllen investment in the Bakyu-Thillel-Ceyhan (ETC) &l pipsline
was slgned in but the Bank’s interest in the prejest cid net end &t that peint.
EBRD staf continue o spend consideraible Ume meniterng cempliance with

EBRD poliey ane intemetiensl stancards and with company commitients

in terms ef envirenmentsl and secial impact.

Experts frem the EBRD's Environment Department make regular and etensive
menitering visits te the pipeline to 2ssess compiiencs ane prognass. On the
environmentsl frent, they have helped o ensurs thet the highest pessible
Internetionsl stendands are adhersd t@ and enloresd.

The EBRD hes else begun, togsther with the client company, t© deeal with the seclal
impaet of he pipeline in & more preactive way. The Bank’s new seclal spacialist
focuses speelfically on these kings of issues. One of these, lend compensaiion,
has been especially preblematie in Georgie. This ie mestly due to the complesdties
of the land registration system in this eeuniry end the fact that pasture lends were
net privetised. In fact, ©0 per cent of lene peresls heve new been compensated
athough mere tme will be needed t unreve) the most cortentious

remaliiing cases.

The elient eempany is channeling some €26 million te community nvestment
programmes. These rangs from the rencvation of seheel bulldings te the
esteblishment ef irfigetion systems anel frem loeal Misrofnancs o SEwWer systems.

For example, & preject o Impreve 8 leeal sehoel (new roel, new foer and heeting
stave) ane e constrvet 2 water supply system in Samshvilide village in Geergda,
meaning thet villagers will ne lengsr heve to carry waksr in buekets frem the loeal
spring, Is belng funded on & 90/10 per eent basls by Uhe ol company end the
villagers. This is @ small investment but it represents & big imprevement =

and it Is typleal of the many small prejects that ars & direct result of the plesiine,

across the world's five international
financial institutions. The EBRD also
started to prepare an anti-corruption
report, setting out what the Bank is doing
to combat corruption, such as money
taundering and terrorist financing.

It will be published before the EBRD’s
Annual Meeting in May and will be
produced annually.

During the year the EBRD delivered a
training programme designed to remind all
staff members of their ethical obligations
as employees of an inter-governmental
organisation. Work also continued on




Sakhalin Island: Engaging in constructive dialogue

in the Russian Fer East, Sakhalin islond stretelhes km frem
G} ana s o 600,000 peopls, representing 470 ethnie grovps.
it is alse the site of e world’s biggest off end gas projest.

Salkhelin Energy Investment Cempany = which is held 88 per cent by Shell,
eng 25 per eent end 20 per cent respestivaly by the Japenesse comertons
Mt and Mitsublishi = hees aslked for financing from the fior Phess 2
ef an effshore development. 1 wes finanesd by the Bank in 18€7.

To determing the Implications of the projest, the EBRD hes underaien extensive
consultetion with loce! semmunities ane specialist interest groups. The Benk
hes also discussed with Sekhelin Energy how to aderess some ef the mest
pressing [ssues.

At the Benlk’s Annual Mesting in May discussions ook with 8 varisty

of nor-govermmental erganisetions (NGOs). In Cceteber the Bank's met
with representaiives of the Werd Wildlife Fund (WWE), Selkhelin Environment
Werely, Envirenment and CEE Bankweateh to cissuss thelr partievler
ebout the project. These include the &ffeet of pipsline eenstruction on (e islend’s
vers, the Impact of the project en the Western Gray Whals ane the seclel aspects
of the proposed Investment.

The EBRD enterec a new stg@s of discussion en the potentel ineneing of Selkhalin
I (Phese 2) on 20 December 2005 when it began en official 120-day pered of
consultation. A fing) decision en whether o previce fnaneing for the will

be maee efter (e consuligtion concludes on 20 Al 2008 and the Banlk e
essessed the fndings.

Furiher public consuliatiens ek place In eary on Sekhelln (sland and
on the neerby Jepanese isiend of Helklalde. Mestings were alse held in Meseow
end Lendon e heear the views of NGOs ane other interesied paries.

In response o meny quesiions about the EBRD’s petentle! invelvement n the
Sakhalin Il (Phese 2) project, & spesific areg on the EBRD’s web site (www.ebrd.
comy/salkhalin) prevides infermetien about the prejest. We heve also set up &
emall account to reeeive the public’s comments, wileh ars ehanncliee
o the relevant people In the Bank: sakhalinfeedback@sbrd.com.




developing two new Codes of Conduct for
the Bank, covering the behaviour expected
of the Board of Directors and EBRD staff,
It is expected that the Bank’s Board of
Governors will adopt the new codes later
in 2006.

The first Annual Report of the Bank's
Independent Recourse Mechanism (IRM)
was published in 2005. The IRM gives
local groups that may be adversely
affected by a Bank project a means of
complaining to the Bank. Complaints

are investigated by independent experts
together with the Bank’s CCO. In 2005
two eligible complaints were received
concerning a possible EBRD investment
on Sakhalin Island in the Russian Far East
(see box} and the Bank's 2004 investment
in the Baku-Thilisi-Ceyhan (BTC) pipeline
(see box on page 31).

The Sakhalin complaint was filed by

a number of individuals and local
enterprises involved in fishing and fish
processing. The group claims that
construction vessels travelling to and
from the gas plant and the construction
of loading terminals are restricting safe
access of fishermen to their nets, causing
damage to the nets and reducing the
guality and quantity of fish caught in
Aniva Bay.

A W
Statement

The BTC complaint was received from a
group of residents of Gyrakh Kesemenli
village in the Akstafa district of Azerbaijan.
The residents allege that their property
has sustained vibration damage caused
by the passing of trucks involved in the
construction of the pipeline. Following an
initial assessment of both complaints, the
Bank will determine whether a Problem-
solving Initiative would helip to resolve the
issues underlying the complaints.

The CCO has overall responsibility for
ensuring that EBRD staff uphold the
highest standards of ethical behaviour
in all Bank activities. In recognition that
whistieblowing is an important way of
ensuring good governance within the
institution, the Bank published on its
web site in 2005 a Whistleblower
Protection Statement.

The statement confirms the EBRD’s
commitment to maintaining a working
environment that protects employees
who, in good faith, report instances of
suspected misconduct. This is defined as
an “intentional or negligent failure” by an
employee to observe the rules of conduct
or standards of behaviour prescribed

by the EBRD.

histieblower Protection
sublished in 2005

encourages the highest standards
of ethical behaviocur in all

RD activities.

An employee who complies in good faith
with his or her duty to report suspected
misconduct and who discloses information
to the CCO will be protected by the EBRD
from “pressure, retaliation or reprisal”

in connection with this cooperation.
Publication of the whistleblowing
statement is designed to encourage
employees to disclose information that
may not otherwise be discovered.

The EBRD's Public Information Policy (PIP)
underscores the Bank’s commitment to
enhance the transparency of its activities
and to promote good governance. The
annual report on the implementation of
the policy found that the Bank had fulfilled
all of its commitments.

By the end of 2005, 22 country strategies
had been translated into local languages,
with work in progress on the remaining
five new strategies. The Bank also
continued to translate the PIP, the
Environmental Policy and the Independent
Recourse Mechanism into the Bank’s
local languages. In late 2005 the Bank
began the process of conducting its
three-year review of the PIP which will

be completed in 2006.
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roreign direct investiment in

central Europe increased by almost
- 50 per cent in 2005. In recognition
- of the decreasing need for EBRD
~investment in this region, the Bank
gradually scaled down ifts business
- volume but continued to respond

- to market needs.

. f < Hungary is expanding its nationwide road
e network with the assistance of EBRD investment
™|  inthe M5 motorway.

LT . ~
/ ~ \\ 7 \/\,\\ \\,
3/ ) : \\ //‘ ; ;
e
/,/" //éé— Cem L ,//‘7‘
N ’ /
RV A




Inflation is generally low but
unemployment remains a major problem.

investment climate

The boom in investment and exports experienced by
central Europe and the Baltic states (CEB) in 2004 as
eight countries from the region joined the European
Union subsided slightly in 2005. Nevertheless, GDP
growth remained robust at around 4.2 per cent for
the region as a whole (down from 5.1 per cent in
2004). Croatia remains outside the EU but formal
negotiations on EU membership started in

October 2005.

Despite rising oil prices, average inflation in CEB fell
to 3.3 per cent in 2005 from 4.3 per cent in 2004.
This largely reflects tighter monetary policies over a
two to three-year period in Hungary, Poland and the
Slovak Republic while the Czech Republic has seen
a substantial increase in productive capacity. As a
result, all of these countries were able to lower
interest rates several times during 2005.

Inflation is generally low in the region though it has
been growing in some countries, including the three
Baltic states. The higher rates in these countries are
partly due to rapid credit growth, rising wages and
increases in food and administrative prices but also
to the oil price boom and the recent euro depreciation
against the US dollar. Unemployment, however, is still
a major problem throughout the region, reflecting
ongoing problems with restructuring and, in some
cases, the lack of necessary skills.

Fiscal deficits deteriorated in 2005 in almost all of
the CEB countries except the Czech Republic, Poland,
the Slovak Republic and Slovenia. The average deficit
across the region reached 3 per cent of GDP in 2005
compared with 2.4 per cent in 2004. The Czech
Republic witnessed a marked improvement in its
fiscal deficit to around 3 per cent on the back of
much higher than expected tax revenues. Hungary,
on the other hand, witnessed an increase in its fiscal

deficit in 2005 from 5.4 per cent to 6.1 per cent.
Despite some fiscal consolidation in 2004 and 2005,
Croatia continues to run a relatively high fiscal deficit
of around 4 per cent of GDP.

The average current account deficit across CEB

in 2005 decreased to 6.2 per cent of GDP (from
6.6 per cent in 2004). In most countries, exports
continued to increase at double-digit rates although
slightly below the pace in 2004. As a result, trade
deficits have narrowed, most notably in the Czech
Republic. However, the current account deficit in
Hungary remains high in comparison with its
neighbours and declined only slightly to 8 per cent
of GDP in 2005 from 8.9 per cent the previous year.
Current account deficits remain especially high

in the Baltic states, where ongoing increases in
consumption and investment, fuelled by expanding
credit, have led to higher import levels.

Two countries in the region, Latvia and the Slovak
Republic, joined the Exchange Rate Mechanism Il
(ERM 1) during 2005 (with Estonia, Lithuania

and Slovenia having joined the previous year).
International liquidity and EU accession have
underpinned further inflows of foreign direct
investment (FDI) into the CEB countries. Net FDI
inflows rose by nearly 50 per cent to US$ 25.3 billion
in 2005 (compared with US$ 17.2 billion in 2004).
Particularly large increases in FDI over the past two
years (relative to the 2003 ievel) have been achieved
by the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Poland and
the Slovak Republic.

Significant progress in reform was achieved across
the CEB region, as countries face up to the remaining
challenges in the transition process. Poland made
progress in the financial sector, with a decrease in
the role of state-owned banks and the introduction

of stronger supervision, and made improvements




in governance and enterprise restructuring.
Improvements over the past few years — and the
market response to them — have kept Poland
among the leading transition countries.

The Czech Republic made progress in the financial
sector, especially in the areas of banking sector
reform and stock market capitalisation. Hungary
made significant improvements in governance and
enterprise restructuring and its maturing securities
markets. Lithuania saw further progress in large-
scale privatisation and banking reform while the
Slovak Republic made advances in governance and
enterprise restructuring. In general, the banking
sector in the region is now strong, with high foreign
ownership and relatively good supervision but some
risks remain if credit growth decelerates, highlighting
the need for sound fiscal policies by governments in
the region.

The new EU members continued to harmonise
their legal frameworks with EU legislation in 2005.
The business environment was improved by reducing
bureaucratic procedures for company registration
and licensing (the Czech Republic), enhancing civil
enforcement procedures (Estonia and the Slovak
Republic), establishing rules allowing majority
shareholders to buy out minority shareholdings
(the Czech Republic, Estonia and Lithuania) and
enhancing securities regulations (Lithuania and
the Slovak Republic).

The Czech Republic undertook major amendments

to its commercial code, substantially shortening and
simplifying the registration procedure for companies.
Estonia passed a new civil procedure code that aims
to speed up court proceedings for civil matters and
to make them more efficient and less costly. Hungary
made a number of amendments to its Competition
Act to align it with EU regulations and amended its

company laws. The Slovak Republic simplified the
enforcement of civil court judgments. Croatia made
some progress in simplifying business and land
registration procedures but reform of the judicial
system and of public administration has advanced
only slowly and remains a major challenge.

The CEB countries have evidently achieved a number
of reforms over the past few years. However, once the
eight EU candidates had “closed” the final chapters
of the acquis communautaire (the entire body of

EU laws) in 2002, there was a weakening of popular
support for painful restructuring. Meanwhile,

CEB governments have concentrated on longer-term,
institution-building projects in order to implement

EU laws effectively. Consequently, there has been

a strong market response in many CEB countries,
with higher levels of investment and access to
international capital markets. In addition, evidence
from the 2005 EBRD/World Bank Business
Environment and Enterprise Performance Survey
(BEEPS) suggests that obstacles to doing business
in the region have diminished over the past three
years, with the sharpest improvement in the

Slovak Republic.

EBRD investment

In response to market needs, the EBRD invested
€700 million in central Europe and the Baltic states
{CEB)} in 2005, compared with €964 million in 2004
and €1.2 biliion in 2003. This gradual decline in
investment reflects the diminishing need for EBRD
financing in this region as other sources of finance
become available. The number of EBRD projects
signed in 2005 totalled 21, one less than the
previous year. The Bank’s total investment in

CEB since 1991 amounts to €10.6 billion.




Cleaning up Poland’s power sector

Constructed in 1966, Patnow is one of three power
plants at Patnow Adamow Konin (PAK) near the Polish
town of Konin on Lake Goplo. It is typical of the vast,
polluting Soviet-era power stations on which most

of the country still relies for its power. In past years,
Patnow has even found itself on the World Wildlife
Fund’s “Dirty Thirty” list, naming and shaming the

30 worst polluters in Europe.

As the industry begins slowly to privatise, things PAK is already one of Poland’s largest and lowest-
have clearly got to change. The EBRD has provided cost electricity producers and one of only three
PAK with €63 million over 14 years as part big power providers to privatise so far. Since its
of a €550 million project to construct a new privatisation in 1999, the company (responsible
environmentally friendly unit at Patnow Il using for 13 per cent of the country’s electricity) has
new technology that will reduce emissions into been owned and controlled by Elektrim S.A.

the atmosphere, create jobs and provide cheaper
electricity for consumers.




Roman Jarosinski, Vice President of Elektrim S.A.’s
Management Board, said: “It should be underlined
that presently this is the biggest ever investment in
the Polish power industry.” Analysts’ predictions show
that operating profits for the Patnow Il plant should
increase substantially by 2020 as a result of the new
efficiency measures. Along with the environmentally
friendly technology, the new unit will set a standard
for all Polish coal-fired power plants.

Low fuel costs, low transportation costs due to its
proximity to the lignite mines (which have reserves
to supply the plant for 40 vears) and high efficiency
due to the new technology mean that PAK will act as
a benchmark for other energy competitors in Poland.

The key environmental issue is, of course, air
emissions. Sulphur emissions will be reduced by

an impressive 50 per cent when modernisation is
complete. This is basically because the new unit will
replace two old and inefficient mazut-fired units and
will use state-of-the-art pollution-control technology.

Construction of the new lignite-fired unit will be
finished by SNC of Canada, one of the industry’s
leading contractors. It will meet the relevant EU
emission standards (which would otherwise have
rendered the plant illegal) and the client will have
to submit annual environmental reports to the
Bank, detailing environmental and health and
safety performance.

Environment Protection Director, Dr Maciej Kabata,
says the new unit meets “the stringent ecological
parameters of Polish and European standards.

By installing such ecological devices, the negative
influence on the natural environment near to the
power station as well as in the whole Wielkopolska
region will be considerably reduced.”

Reducing sulphur dioxide emissions

Mest peeple egree these days that the planst s gstting hotter and ene of the kay
eulpris ts sulphur diexide. SO, 's released inte the etmesphere in hugs quentities
By, emeng other things, electrely generating plants like Patnew.

Suiphyr diexide s @ stinging ges het can eventuelly transferm inte sulphurie
acie mist. High expesure produces breaihing problems, respiratery liness and
cereievascuar cisease. The main precurser of acid raln, it alse dameges rees
and ereps, acidifies lakes, corredes bulldings and contrioutes to smeg.

It Is meinly emitied during the combustion of sulphurcontaining fossll fusle, sueh
&8 eruds ell ane eogl. Sulphur dioide concentrations in the alr have decreased in
the lgst two decades, mainly because we Uss mere nen-sulphur certaining fuels
for the generation of energy.

i

108
1
!

Hewever, unlike other European countries, Peland’s 35 powsr plants are

85 per cont coel-fired. Because of the substantial ceal reserves and Ne
myerepewe? potential, this will continue t© be the case for the foresesable future.
Patnow I aims to demonsirate that with the help of investment, envirenmaentally
Fenely units can be buflt that will dremetically eut emissions.




Innovative EBRD financing has improved
essential services across the region.

Poland was the largest recipient of funds in 2005,
with a total investment of €340 million. EBRD
financing was spread across most sectors but there
were three projects of particular significance signed
during the year. The Bank provided €63 million to
finance the construction of a new power plant in
Poland, representing an important step towards the
establishment of a competitive energy market owned
and operated by the private sector (see page 40).

In Bydgoszcz the Bank agreed to purchase

€42 million of revenue bonds issued by the city’s
water company ~ the first project of its kind in central
Europe and an example of how other infrastructure
projects could be financed by the capital markets.
The third project involved the development of a
modern hypermarket chain, supporting the expansion
of Kaufland into Poland following its successes in
Croatia, the Czech Republic and the Slovak Republic.

The EBRD continued to support small businesses
across the region, extending its cooperation with the
European Union. Within the EU/EBRD SME Finance
Facility, 15 new loans were extended to financial
intermediaries, such as leasing companies that
provide much-needed assistance to small business.

A new initiative, the EU/EBRD Preparatory Action
Programme, was launched to provide financing to
micro and small enterprises in the new EU member
states. The first institution to join the programme
was Istrobanka, a medium-sized bank in the Slovak
Republic, which received a credit line of €10 million
for on-lending to small business.

In 2005, 29 per cent of the Bank’s signed projects
in CEB were equity investments. Six equity funds
received €113 million of EBRD capital. These include

four funds that have already established a successful
track record. One of the new funds - the BPH
Property Fund - will invest in medium-sized property
in Poland.

Local companies in CEB are increasingly investing
cross-border. One example is a joint project launched
by a Lithuanian property developer and a large DIY
retailer owned by Kesko of Finland. The project
involved the establishment of three modern retail
outlets in Minsk in cooperation with the Belarussian
retailer OMA. The EBRD supported the project with

a €11 million loan.

In the infrastructure sector, the EBRD supports
projects that promote private sector involvement.
For example, the Bank invested €71 million in Véolia
Transport (formerly known as Connex), a leading
public transport operator, to increase private sector
involvement in the passenger transport market

(see page 16). In the Polish city of Krakow the EBRD
extended a syndicated loan to MPK, the provider

of bus and tram services, to improve basic
infrastructure and to support the city in introducing
a more commercial approach through a iong-term
public service contract.

In Hungary the Bank provided €32 million to support
the construction of the M6 motorway under a public-
private partnership scheme. A private consortium will
construct and operate the motorway. In Croatia the
EBRD lent €27 million to the Port of Dubrovnik
Authority to extend facilities in the port of Gruz and
to help the borrower introduce modern commerciat
practices, such as a transparent procurement
process, making use of private sector involvement.




EBRD investments
in 2005

€700

million

Share of the Bank’s
total investments in 2005

6%

In Croatia the EBRD also provided a loan of

€10 million to VKK, a company owned by the city of
Karlovac, to construct a waste-water treatment plant
and to modernise the sewerage network. The project
will contribute to greater commercialisation and lower
pollution levels in the local rivers. EBRD financing has
been accompanied by an EU grant of €22 million.

Looking ahead

Over the next five years the EBRD is likely to devote
a diminishing share of its business volume to central
Europe and the Baltic states (CEB). Our investments
will continue to be driven by the market. The EBRD
will provide financing only if it can provide added
value and if the funding is not available elsewhere.
EBRD investments in central Europe are projected
10 be €550 million in 2006.

In 2005 the EBRD approved new country strategies
for Croatia, the Czech Republic, Hungary and Latvia.
Over the next couple of years the Bank will strive

to address some of the remaining gaps in these
countries’ transition to a fully developed market
economy. In the enterprise sector the EBRD will
continue to put an emphasis on small business and
will support local enterprises and foreign companies
involved in cross-border investments. The Bank will
support projects that, because of their large size,
their complexity or their political sensitivity, call for
the EBRD’s involvement.

In infrastructure the EBRD will participate in road
projects where the Bank’s know-how in public-private
partnerships brings an advantage, complementing
the financing provided by EU structural funds and the
European Investment Bank. We will encourage public
transport restructuring to achieve better services and
increase efficiency. In the municipal sector we will

offer innovative products and financing that does
not require government guarantees. The Bank will
promote energy efficiency through direct investment
and through facilities managed by financial
intermediaries.

The EBRD will continue to support local banks,
insurance and leasing companies and equity funds.
We will also encourage the development of local
capital markets. increasingly, the EBRD will focus on
riskier products, such as various forms of equity and
loans with longer maturities. An important objective
will be to continue our close cooperation with the

EU on infrastructure projects, particularly in the
municipal and transport sectors.







cU membership became a Closer
prospect for Bulgaria and Remania

in 2005 while other countries in

the region took steps in the same
direction. In line with the Bank’s

new strategy of moving further

south and east, the EBRD increased
the proportion of its financing devoted
to this region.

"1 <4Homeowners in Bulgaria are undertaking energy-
| saving home improvements thanks to a residential
credit line financed by the EBRD.




Progress with structural reforms has
underpinned strong economic growth.

Investment climate

South-eastern Europe (SEE) made significant
progress in 2005 towards further integration with

the European Union. Buigaria and Romania remain

on track for membership in January 2007. However,

in Bulgaria, enhanced efforts are still needed to
improve the functioning of the judiciary and to combat
corruption efficiently while in Romania, improvements
are needed in the enforcement of state aid control

as well as in the fight against corruption.

The Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia also
became an EU candidate country in December 2005
following a positive recommendation from the
European Commission. For Bosnia and Herzegovina
and Serbia and Montenegro, the EU considered that
the conditions have been met to start negotiating

a Stabilisation and Association Agreement (SAA).
Albania witnessed a peaceful change of government
following parliamentary elections in July, paving the
way for the signing of an SAA (this occurred in
February 2006).

Political stability throughout the region and further
progress with structural reforms continued to
underpin strong economic growth. This is estimated
at 5 per cent for 2005 compared with 6.5 per cent
in 2004. Growth in Bulgaria and Romania was driven
primarily by increased private consumption, fuelled
in turn by higher incomes and strong credit growth as
banking systems have developed further. Investment
continued to be driven by the prospect of EU
accession, ongoing privatisations and, in the case
of Romania, sharp reductions in interest rates.
However, flood damage in summer 2005 contributed
to a contraction in agricultural output.

A slight slow-down in growth occurred in Serbia
and Montenegro, declining to 6 per cent for 2005
compared with 7.2 per cent in 2004. Industrial
production stagnated while the agricultural sector
failed to match the very high growth rate achieved
in 2004. However, other sectors, such as transport

and services, grew rapidly, and exports rose by
approximately 30-40 per cent compared with the
previous year. Other Western Balkans countries,
such as Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina and FYR
Macedonia, all recorded another year of solid growth.

Average inflation in SEE rose again, to 5.8 per cent
in 2005 compared with 5.4 per cent in 2004.

This regional increase stemmed from a marked
acceleration in Serbia from 9.5 per cent in 2004 to
an end-year rate of 17.5 per cent in 2005, due mainly
to factors such as stronger nominal depreciation,
the introduction of VAT in January 2005, increases
in administered prices and high oil prices. The rate
of inflation is falling in most other SEE countries.

In Romania, for example, average inflation dropped
to 9.2 per cent in 2005 from 12 per cent the
previous yeatr.

The average general government deficit in SEE
remained largely unchanged in 2005, at about

1.8 per cent of gross domestic product (GDP).

The highest deficit in the region was in Albania,

at 3.3 per cent of GDP. In Bulgaria the consolidated
general government balance recorded a surplus for
the third year in a row. However, the decision to raise
the minimum wage by 25 per cent during 2004 led to
lengthy discussions with the International Monetary
Fund (IMF) regarding the country’s precautionary
standby programme. Following this, the programme
was put back on track.

The Romanian authorities reached an initial
agreement with the IMF on a new 2005 budget
deficit target of 0.7 per cent of GDP. However, the
government subsequently increased the target

to 1 per cent of GDP to deal with the costs of
widespread flooding in summer 2005 and decided to
raise public sector wages. The country’s readiness to
consolidate public finances was deemed insufficient
by the IMF. A combination of factors, including the
government’s unwillingness to pursue a more prudent
public sector wage policy and to bring domestic gas



prices in line with world prices as well as some
sluggishness on structural reforms (in particular,
the upgrading of the heating sector, the reform

of the Labour Code and the implementation of
specific measures to tackle corruption and improve
governance) caused the IMF to declare the standby
arrangement off-track in October 2005.

One of the consequences of rapid credit growth

in the SEE region has been the continued high current
account deficits. These averaged 10.3 per cent

of GDP in 2004 and fell only slightly to 9 per cent

in 2005. Nevertheless, the year also witnessed
record inflows of foreign direct investment (FDI) of
US$ 11.6 billion, up from US$ 9.2 billion in 2004,
They remained concentrated in Bulgaria and Romania
as well as in Serbia and Montenegro, which is
becoming an important recipient of FDI. FYR
Macedonia diversified its sources of international
finance by launching its first eurobond in late 2005.

Reform efforts in SEE slowed slightly in 2005.

The main exception to this trend was Serbia

and Montenegro, which saw significant progress

in large-scale privatisation, governance and
enterprise restructuring, trade and foreign exchange
liberalisation, and banking reform. A new competition
protection law (applicable in Serbia only) came into
force, aimed at preventing distortions in the local
market. These reforms were achieved despite
continuing political uncertainty over the future of the
State Union and the final status of Kosovo. However,
Serbia and Montenegro still has a long way to go to
catch up with the more advanced countries in the
SEE region.

Other advances in market reform were more modest.
Bosnia and Herzegovina made some welcome
progress in large-scale privatisation and Bulgaria
implemented improvements in the legal framework
for competition policy, consistent with EU regulations.
Following elections, the reform process was resumed
and more than 55 new pieces of legislation have

been adopted by the new Bulgarian parliament within
the framework of EU accession. Meanwhile, the
Romanian government has made the fight against
corruption one of its top priorities.

Bulgaria and Romania paid special attention to the
upgrading of their regulatory frameworks in line with
EU regulations. Romania increased the minimum
capital requirements for limited liability companies
and joint-stock companies and Bulgaria enacted

a new code of private international law.

Evidence from the 2005 EBRD/World Bank Business
Environment and Enterprise Performance Survey
(BEEPS) suggests that the business climate has
improved over the past three years but obstacles to
doing business typically remain higher than in central
Europe. The levels of bribes paid to public officials
have fallen significantly across the region but
businesses are still concerned about how certain
laws are applied and the guality of the judiciary.
Many businesses, especially in the Western Balkans,
are still forced to spend a considerable amount of
time dealing with public officials.

EBRD investment

EBRD investments in south-eastern Europe (SEE)
totalled €1.2 biilion in 2005, up from €1.0 billion

in 2004, This represents a 28 per cent share of the
Bank’s total investments in 2005, compared with
25 per cent in 2004. During the year the Bank
significantly stepped up its support for infrastructure
and the financial sector. A total of 41 projects were
signed by the EBRD in 2005, up from 38 the previous
year. Total EBRD investments in SEE since 1991
amount to €6.5 billion.

The two most advanced EU candidate countries —
Bulgaria and Romania — were the largest recipients
of EBRD finance, receiving €285 million and

€500 million respectively. This has helped both
countries to advance their reform programme in
preparation for EU accession in January 2007.




uccess story

Take-off at Tirana Airport

The 2,750 m runway at Tirana’s Mother Theresa Airport
was originally built in 1957 with the help of the Soviet
Union. The airport, 27 km away from Tirana itself and
near Durres, the country’s most important Adriatic port,
was intended solely for military use.

In 1970, China helped to build a civilian terminal

but few changes were made to the airport after this.

In fact, an official report remarked that the airport’s
“civilian facilities fall significantly short of
international guidance standards”.

The economic problems facing the country meant
that much-needed investment was in short supply —
until last year. In 2005 the EBRD agreed to lend
€21 million to Tirana Airport Partners (TAP),

a consortium led by Germany's Hochtief Airport,

to support a €50 million refurbishment project.
Tirana will be the fifth airport in Hochtief’s portfolio,

alongside Athens, Dusseldorf, Hamburg and Sydney.

TAP began its 20-year responsibility for the whole
airport in April last year, quickly introducing changes
to the maintenance of the airport and the quality

of the catering facilities. It has agreed to pay a
concession to the Albanian government in return

for all airport profits.

The new airport will be of a thoroughly modern variety
to rival any in the world. Rescue and fire fighting
services will of course be developed in compliance
with international standards, including staff training,
inspections and development of emergency
procedures.




The foundation stone for the new terminal was laid

in May 2005, marking the start of what will be one
of the most modern infrastructures in the country
serving a million passengers a year. The construction
project will also provide a much-needed new 7 km
road to service the new airport.

Ten airlines already fly passengers from Tirana to
15 destinations worldwide. In March 20086, British
Airways (BA) launched its thrice-weekly London-Tirana
service. “What we have seen during these last five
years is that Tirana, as a city, has been expanded
and lots of construction is under way. As we know,
there are many Albanians in London who would go
to Albania to visit their families back home. This will
be a good market for BA,” said David Roucham,
Executive Manager for Eastern and Central Europe
and the Mediterranean, when the route was
announced. He expects 25,000 passengers on

the route in the first year, increasing incrementally
after that.

The number of flights in and out of the airport on
a daily basis is predicted to increase from today’s
25 to at least 65 over the 20-year concession period.

Already passenger numbers have risen from
100,000 people using the airport in 1992
to over 560,000 in 2003.

TAP will create 2,650 jobs in and around the airport
in the first few years of operation and a further
5,000 jobs over the next two decades. As of now,
the aeronautical revenues make up 90 per cent of
the airport’s income. Rent, food, retail and car park
concessions are more than ten times below the
European average so there is huge potential for
profit once the modern terminal becomes operational
in 2007.

The airport will be of particular benefit to Albania’s
substantial migrant workforce. Over 20 per cent of
the country’s population work abroad (mostly in ltaly),
a migration that has caused a population decrease
of 3 per cent over the past decade.

Lending a helping hand from afar

The Albanian econemy depends heavily on remittances sent home by its weorkers

living albroad = ever half of them aetually deliverad In persen. South-sastem Eureps
a8 & whole stiracts in excess of USS 16 billion a year in remittances through
official chennels and, along with e unciiicial deliveres, they ameunt t® mere

then 18 per cent of Albania’s gross domestie product.

A massive 25 per eent of Albania’s werkferes left the countyy In the 18908,
including half of ali prefiessionais. The Untversity of Tireng says that helf of
it graduates emigrete, mostly seeking employment epporiunities in the
United States or Canada. However, most emigrants meve to Greees and Kaly.

Remittances to developing countries ade up to an annvel total in 2008 of

US$ 187 biillen, according to recent Werld Bank estimetes. As the Westem Unlen
slogan reads: “If you can’t be there, yeur meney can.” The preblen, In ecenemie
terms, s geltting this meney inte the country’s banking system, especielly in &
country ke Albanis wihere B0 per cent of the pepulation lves In rural arses and
i not accustemed t© using baniks.

“Remittances ars one of the mest impertant seurces of fhanes for develeping
natiens anc thersfors we must establish an envirenment that can enhanes thelr
impesct on the overal developmant process,” sald Adran Fullani, Geverner ef the
Bank ef Albenia. Jear-Mare Petersehmitt, EBRD Director for Bank Lending, agrees:

It is & guestion of educating peepls o use locsl banks and epeEn &R SCEOUNL.”

n September 2005 the Bank hosted & one-day ssminar en remitiances, atisnded
by central bankers end otrer intermational fnenclel insttutions. The Swiss
Zovernmant (s currently supperting the Benk's researeh inte this arsa.
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Key infrastructure projects received
significant EBRD investment in 2005.

In Romania the EBRD continued its support for
energy sector reform by participating alongside

Gaz de France in the privatisation of the gas sector.
The Bank also supported major infrastructure
projects, including a loan of €144 million (provided
in Romanian lei) for construction of the Constanta
by-pass. This project includes the renovation of ten
bridges crossing the Danube and Black Sea channei
and emergency repairs to the national road network
following the severe floods in 2005.

The EBRD signed three municipal urban transport
projects in the cities of Arad, Brasov and Sibiu, which
was selected as the Cultural Capital of Europe for
2007. The EBRD’s financing will help Sibiu upgrade
key aspects of its infrastructure and introduce
commercial practices to its public transport system.
The Bank also undertook its first district heating
project outside of Bucharest, lending €13 million
(including a local currency component) to the city of
lasi. In the manufacturing sector, the EBRD helped
to finance the construction of a major particleboard
production plant in northern Romania, which will
create up to 700 new jobs.

A significant milestone in the privatisation of the
banking sector was achieved with the successful
sale of a majority stake in BCR, the largest bank
in Romania, to a strategic investor, Erste Bank of
Austria. After taking a 25 per cent stake in BCR

in 2004, the EBRD and the International Finance
Corporation (IFC) helped the bank to adopt
international best practice in corporate governance
and to set specific financial performance targets.
The successful implementation of these measures
made BCR a stronger and more attractive bank for
international investors. As a result, the Romanian
government was able to sell its 38 per cent stake
together with the stake held by the EBRD and IFC
for €3.8 billion.

To support Bulgaria’s reform programme, the
EBRD made a number of significant investments,
particularly in the energy sector. The most valuable
was a loan of €114 million to Maritza East | Power
Company to support the construction of a new
600 MW lignite-fired power plant. The Bank also
supported the privatisation of two electricity
distribution companies serving the north-east

of Bulgaria.

Energy efficiency projects included a €18 million

loan to local pulp producer Svilosa to fund environ-
mental and energy efficiency improvements and an
expansion in production (see page 21). The Bank also
launched a €50 million energy efficiency credit line
for the residential sector, using grant co-financing
from the Kozloduy International Decommissioning
Support Fund. The credit line follows on from a
similar project launched last year for the

industrial sector.

In the Western Balkans, the EBRD continued to
invest across the region and to cooperate with

other international financial institutions operating

in the region. The Bank significantly increased its
investments in Serbia and Montenegro and roughly
matched its 2004 investment levels in Albania and
Bosnia and Herzegovina. However, in FYR Macedonia
the Bank's financing declined slightly.

The EBRD invested €195 million in Serbia and
Montenegro in 2005, supporting 16 projects. These
investments marked a successful shift in the Bank’s
portfolio to a more private sector focus, supporting a
diverse range of sectors. In the financial sector, local
banks benefited from a mortgage financing facility,
small business credit lines and equity investments.

To assist the reform of Serbia and Montenegro's
infrastructure sector, the EBRD provided finance

to the Air Navigation Services to improve air safety,
to the Montenegrin government to upgrade the



EBRD investments
in 2005

€1.2

billion

‘ Share of the Bank’s |
| total investments in 2005 i
|

28%

regional road network and to the Serbian Roads
Directorate to improve the motorway between
Belgrade and Novi Sad. The EBRD continued to
coordinate closely with the European investment
Bank (EIB), the European Union and the World Bank,
ensuring that financing was provided for the key
infrastructure projects that will have the greatest
impact on the transition process.

In Bosnia and Herzegovina the EBRD was the largest
lender for the second year in a row, providing

€108 million in new commitments. The Bank
supported a critical railway project that will provide
businesses with reliable transport for their goods
and provided financing for energy efficiency and
environmental improvements at the Mittal Steel
plant in Zenica. Other projects included a loan for
Nasicecement to establish a brick-making factory
outside Sarajevo.

In Albania the Bank financed three projects totalling
€60 million. These included a €35 million investment
to upgrade a segment of the country’s north-south
road corridor and €21 million to improve facilities at
the new Tirana Airport Terminal, the country’s first
major public-private partnership project (see page 48).

The EBRD’s major investment in FYR Macedonia was
a €25 million loan to Mittal Steel Skopje to improve
the energy efficiency of the steel mills, to provide
working capital and to support further regional
integration of the steel industry. Since taking over the
two steel-rolling mills in Skopje in 2004, Mittal Steel
Skopje has revived a crucial part of the economy that
would otherwise have remained stagnant.

The EBRD maintained a high level of activity under
its TurnAround Management (TAM) and Business
Advisory Services (BAS) Programmes, which provide
expert assistance to local companies (see page 29).
In 2005, 60 TAM projects and 247 BAS projects were
started. A new BAS office was opened in Kosovo.

Strong support was provided to rural regions and
environmental projects. TAM/BAS activities have
led to EBRD investment of €225 million since 1991.

Looking ahead

The EBRD intends to devote an increasing share

of its business volume to south-eastern Europe.
Emphasis will be placed on projects that have a
regional focus and the ability to strengthen economic
links in the region — for example, projects involving
power, transport, trade facilitation, regional
integration of private business and the regional
expansion of financial institutions. The Bank also
aims to enhance cooperation with local authorities,
particularly in the area of municipal utilities.

In Buigaria and Romania the EBRD will continue

to support infrastructure projects and energy
development, particularly through the transfer of
state companies to private ownership and through
the commercialisation of energy utilities. The Bank
will place an increasing emphasis on lending in local
currency and on developing local capital markets.

In particular, the EBRD will support local enterprises
to help them improve their competitiveness ahead
of EU accession.

In the Western Balkans the EBRD aims to increase
its support for the privatisation process. The Bank
will continue to finance key infrastructure projects
where there is a clear benefit to the transition
process. Priority will be given to projects with

a strong regional dimension. The Bank will advance
commercial financing to municipalities and will
support corporate restructuring in the energy and
transport sectors. The EBRD will continue to work
with the EIB and the EU in these sectors and will
focus on municipal projects and projects with regional
linkages. In the financial sector the Bank's priorities
will include the implementation of an EU/EBRD
Western Balkans small business framework.







Slrong aomestlic aemand contriduted
to another year of high growth

in 2005. The EBRD doubled its
investment in Ukraine and deveted

| an increasing share of its financing
 to the rest of the region, which
includes four of the poorest
countries where the Bank operates.

4 Production at the Gostomel glass factory in Kiev is
set to increase following the construction of a new
furnace backed by EBRD financing.




Armenia led the way in

terms of reforms in 2005.

investment climate

Growth in the western region of the Commonwealth
of Independent States (Belarus, Moldova and
Ukraine) and the Caucasus (Armenia, Azerbaijan

and Georgia) remained robust in 2005 on the back
of strong domestic demand. However, growth
declined slightly from 2004 levels in some countries.

The most significant slow-down was in Ukraine,
where growth fell from 12.1 per cent in 2004 to

2.4 per cent in 2005. This was due to a sharp
decline in external demand for steel and other
metals and a reduction in investment because of
continuing uncertainty over the business and political
environment. Under the new leadership elected

at the end of 2004, Ukraine has built on the previous
government'’s reforms and affirmed its commitment
to democratic and market reform and European
integration. It has reached several milestones

on the way towards membership of the World

Trade Organization (WTO).

In the banking sector, Ukraine repealed the
burdensome regulations that had required all
investments to be made only in local currency and
through local bank accounts. An improved regulatory
framework has ied to increased foreign investment
and growth in lending to the private sector. The
transparent re-sale of the Kryvorizhstal steelworks
has set a new standard for the privatisation of state-
owned assets and has eased concerns about the
investment climate. Despite these achievements,
progress in other reform areas has been slower
than expected.

Rapid growth was achieved in the Caucasus in

2005 - most notably in Azerbaijan, which saw a
doubling of its growth rate from 10.2 per centin
2004 to 20 per cent in 2005 following an increase
in oil production and higher oil prices. Armenia’s
strong growth (13.9 per cent in 2005) continued to
be underpinned by a boom in construction and in the

services sector and a good harvest. Georgia's

growth of 7.5 per cent reflects particularly strong
improvements in the industrial sector following recent
privatisations. Growth also remained robust in
Belarus and Moldova.

The rate of inflation remained high (averaging at

10 per cent) across the region, except in Armenia
where it stood at 0.6 per cent. Reducing inflation will
require prudent management of the revenue gained
from oil exports. In addition, rapid credit growth has
created a challenge for monetary policy and banking
supervision in many countries. In Belarus, inflation
declined considerably to 10.6 per cent and is now
comparable with other countries in the region.

This was achieved through the tightening of monetary
policy and exchange rate stability but price controls
on basic goods and utility services have also

played a role.

Armenia led the way in terms of reforms in 2005,
making further progress in large-scale privatisation
and banking reform and strengthening its competition
policy. It established a new deposit insurance fund
with mandatory contributions from local banks and
passed legislation providing for mandatory disclosure
of financial transactions over a specified threshold,
with a view to combating money laundering. However,
opposition parties and independent observers
denounced the results of a national referendum on
key constitutional reforms in November 2005, raising
concerns about the prospects for transparency

and fairness in forthcoming parliamentary and
presidential elections.

Georgia made significant progress in the transition
process in 2005. The election of a democratic and
market-oriented government at the end of 2003 has
yielded a number of reforms over the past two years.
The government has made improvements in large-
scale privatisation, enterprise restructuring and
governance, including new legislation on secured




transactions. In Azerbaijan, progress in transition
has been slower. However, the country recently
accepted the International Monetary Fund’s Article
VIII obligations and has taken some steps towards
meeting the membership requirements of the WTO.
It has also established a special commission for
dealing with corruption.

In the run-up to national elections in Moldova in
2005 the government reduced its interference

in the economy and introduced important reforms

in governance and enterprise restructuring. As in
Georgia and Ukraine, Moldova has emerged from a
political crossroads with a stronger commitment to
democratic and market reform and global integration.

In contrast, Belarus has shown little indication

of moving towards greater political pluralism and
democratic rights. Only limited progress was
achieved in structural reforms, and a large reform
agenda remains to be addressed.

Much still needs to be done across western CIS
and the Caucasus to improve the climate for doing
business. The 2005 EBRD/World Bank Business
Environment and Enterprise Performance Survey
(BEEPS) shows improvements in some areas but
a deterioration in others. For example, enterprises
in Belarus reported that the business environment
had improved over the past three years but this
was from a very low base and state intervention
still occurs regularly.

In contrast, obstacles to doing business have
increased in Armenia and Azerbaijan over the past
three years according to the firms surveyed. In both
countries, firms reported that they are required to pay
an increasing level of bribery, and senior managers
are having to spend more time dealing with public
officials on regulatory issues.

L

EBRD investment

EBRD investments in the western CIS and the
Caucasus totalled €931 million in 2005, an increase
of €332 million on the previous year’s total. This
region is attracting an increasing share of EBRD
investments as the Bank continues to shift the focus
of its financing further east. The six countries in this
grouping received 22 per cent of the Bank'’s total
investments in 2005, up from 14 per cent in 2004.
The number of EBRD projects signed during the year
almost doubled, rising from 18 in 2004 to 34

in 2005. Since the EBRD started its operations

in 1991, it has invested a total of €3.7 billion in

this region.

Four of the countries in the grouping (Armenia,
Azerbaijan, Georgia and Moldova) form part of the
Bank's Early Transition Countries (ETC) Initiative,
which aims to support the poorest countries where
the Bank operates (see page 14). The initiative is
supported by the ETC Fund, a multi-donor facility
which operates in parallel with other assistance in
the region, including by the European Community
and the United States. All four ETCs benefited from
an increase in EBRD financing in 2005.

The largest recipient of finance was Ukraine

(€529 million), which saw a doubling of EBRD
investment in 2005. The main areas of EBRD support
were transport, agribusiness, banking, investment
funds, energy and municipal infrastructure.

For example, the EBRD financed the next stage

of the road construction project that will link Kiev

to Ukraine's western border and financed a new high-
voltage electricity transmission line that will improve
electricity supply in the Odessa region. The Bank also
invested in two private equity funds that will provide
much-needed equity capital to medium-sized
businesses and financed the development

of a chain of petrol stations.




Funding new ventures in Ukraine

If you have ever bought any pharmaceuticals in Ukraine,
the chances are they were delivered by Laona, a local
distribution company started by four friends at Kiev
University. When supply chains broke down in the early
1990s, the friends funded their studies by delivering
drugs to pharmacies in cardboard boxes.

They did so well that within two years they had Euroventures Ukraine is about to receive €21 million
started Alba Ukraine, a wholesale distribution of financing in the form of subscribed capital from the
company. One of the few drugs companies to survive EBRD, one-third of the fund's projected total size.

the 1998 currency crisis, it expanded across the This is the successor to the Euroventures Ukraine
country and set up 12 affiliates. By 2000 it had Post Privatisation Fund, which was sponsored by the

become the largest wholesale distributor in Ukraine. EBRD. The aim of these funds is to provide capital to
local private companies to help finance the expansion

To maintain its market lead and to continue its of their businesses (and, obviously, to provide

expansion, the company decided in 2002 that it positive returns for the funds’ investors).

needed financing. And that is where the EBRD

and Euroventures Ukraine come in.




In the case of Laona, the new equity allowed

it to finish construction of a state-of-the-art new
warehouse, to launch a new production ling, to
improve storage and to upgrade customer services.
And the fund’s involvement did not stop at giving
out the money - with a fund manager on the bhoard
of directors, it actively takes part in running the
company to international standards. By the end of
2006, Laona is hoping to have a 15 per cent market
share and sales of €169 million.

“Working with Euroventures Ukraine is invaluable
for us in terms of learning skills that within a short
period of time allowed us to create new competitive
advantages and to enhance our existing ones,”
said Vladimir Dzhus, one of the founders and now
Deputy Head of the Supervisory Council at Laona.

country but also producing vegetables, ravioli, jams
and confectionery under its own label. It runs its
own bakeries and even has an online home delivery
service. In 2004 it made an estimated €203 mitlion,
making it the second-largest supermarket chain

in Ukraine.

This growth was partly supported by €2 million of new
capital provided in 2002 by the Euroventures Ukraine
Fund. Some 9,000 new jobs have been created in the
company since the fund’s investment.

The new fund aims to diversify its investor base. The
hands-on approach of the fund manager and the high-
level expertise of team members will help 1o create
sustainable private businesses and thereby attract
foreign investment, setting an example to fledgling
businesses countrywide and in neighbouring areas.

Another fund beneficiary is Anthousa, a chain of
supermarkets owned by Furshet, the first of whose
stores opened during the currency crisis of 21998.
Furshet is now a home-grown empire, not only selling
food and household goods at 47 stores around the

Tackling energy efficiency

it was & very eold start to the yeer In Ukraing, underining if it were necessary
the country’s ¢hrenis energy cficiensy probiems. The Ukrainian eeonemy Uses
glimest seven Umes the ameunt of enengy used in westemn Eurepe per untt of
gross demesiie product. Unsurprieingly, this puts & big straln en the ecenemy
and, of course, on the environment.

High energy usags is partly due fo the cold elimate and the needs of Ukraine’s
heavy industry but there s alse & legacy of enarmous msllanesd en nsfficient Seviet
era energy systems in all hemes, hospitals, schecls and factories. Altheugh costs
heve rAeen In recent years, powser is still subsidised so people are unaware &f the
ameunt ef valueble enengy they ere using.

“Ukraine could reduce by half the 70 per esnt of e gas supply it new imperts mainly
frorm Russia and Turkmenistan,” said Vasyl of the Ukrainien Energy Semice
Company (LwESCO), & majorily stete-cwned jolnt-stock company established In
1928 88 & joint inifetive belween the EBRD ang the EU. “But it would teks tens
of billlens of dellars o plug &ll the holes.”

in 2008 the EBRD pledgad to suppert energy eificiensy in Ukrmine with @

€9 millien lean for UfESCO to fune further envirenmentally friendly energy
efficiency projects deslgned and implementec by the company. Se far, UKESCO
has put 18 energy-seving projects in place, rengng from the installation of new
co-generation systems to e refurbishment of beller houses.




EBRD investments aimost doubled -
from 18 in 2004 tc 34 in 2005.

The EBRD stepped up its efforts to establish a
framework for direct lending to municipalities in
Ukraine and signed the Bank's first investment in

the municipal sector without a state guarantee to
improve water services for the city of Dnipropetrovs’k.
The Bank provided further financing to UkreESCO for
energy efficiency projects (see page 57) and restarted
discussions with the new Ukrainian government,
within the framework of the Energy Task Force and
the Working Group on Transport, to help the country
with reforms in the power and transport sectors.

In Belarus the EBRD strictly limits its activities to
supporting the emerging private sector and does
not finance state projects. This is due to the
government's limited progress towards implementing
democratic and market reforms in accordance with
Article 1 of the Bank’s Founding Agreement. During
2005 the Bank signed four private sector projects
totalling €32 million. These included support for the
entry of a regional retail operator into the rapidly
growing DIY market in Minsk and support for the
expansion of a locally owned brewery, Olivaria, that
has operated since pre-Soviet times.

In Moldova the EBRD signed a record number of
projects in 2005, in keeping with the ETC Initiative,
which commits the Bank to supporting a large
number of smail projects. The eight projects signed
in 2005 totalled €21 million. These included an
equity investment in an agribusiness company and
greater support for micro enterprises through a loan
to the Rural Finance Corporation. :

In the Caucasus, EBRD investment increased from
€296 million in 2004 to €350 million in 2005.

A large proportion of this was devoted to Azerbaijan,
which received €245 million of EBRD finance. Support
for the upgrading of the Baku-Samur road project,
development of the Shah Deniz gas and oil field and
construction of the South Caucasus gas pipeline
provided the bulk of this business volume,

However, in line with the new strategy for Azerbaijan,
the EBRD significantly increased the number and
range of projects undertaken, using instruments
available under the ETC Initiative and supporting the
diversification of the economy. Co-financing facilities
were negotiated with two local banks for the financing
of medium-sized domestic enterprises, and the
financing of micro enterprises was accelerated by
increasing the number of banks and other specialist
institutions that on-lend EBRD finance.

In Armenia the EBRD signed projects totalling

€18 million, resulting in a substantial broadening

of the Bank’s portfolio in this country. Small loans
were provided to locally owned renewable energy
and gold mining companies. In addition, three equity
investments were made under the Direct Investment
Facility in tocal industries and financial service
companies. Co-financing facilities were put in place
with two domestic banks.

In Georgia an increase in EBRD investment was
prompted by significant improvements in the
business climate following the 2003 “rose
revolution”. Total EBRD financing of €87 million

was provided through seven projects. Three of

these were equity investments in local agribusiness
companies. Of particular note was an EBRD loan
(combined with grant financing) in support of a public
transport project in Thilisi.

The EBRD continued to help small businesses

in the western CIS and the Caucasus through the
TurnAround Management (TAM) and Business
Advisory Services (BAS) Programmes (see page 29).
In 2005, 16 TAM projects were started, funded by the
ETC Fund and bilateral donors. A total of 320 BAS
projects were started, also funded by the ETC Fund.
A new BAS office was opened in Moldova. The two
programmes continued to assist rural regions and
introduced a new “cross-border” programme in the




EBRD investments
in 2005

€931

million

Caucasus and a “women in business” initiative.
TAM/BAS activities have led to EBRD investment
of €78 million since 1991.

Looking ahead

In Ukraine the EBRD adopted a new country strategy
in 2005, with the aim of increasing investment in
infrastructure, transport and energy efficiency
projects. The level of EBRD investment will depend
on how successfully Ukraine commits to improving
business conditions and undertaking reforms, such
as establishing a consistent tax regime and a truly
independent judiciary. The Bank will seek to enhance
business practices in the companies receiving EBRD
finance and will look for ways to develop local
currency financing based on the approach used

in other countries in the region.

In Belarus the EBRD will continue to focus on
developing the private sector and on providing finance
to micro and small enterprises through a growing
number of privately owned banks. The Bank will also
seek to establish a specialist microfinance institution
that could reach out to entrepreneurs throughout

the country.

In 2005 the EBRD adopted a new country strategy
for Moldova, which remains the poorest country in
Europe. The strategy establishes a number of
challenges that need to be addressed. Moldova has
to reduce government interference, strengthen its
regulatory authorities and streamline its legal
framework. The EBRD will seek to support micro,
small and medium-sized enterprises by increasing
the number of credit lines provided to local banks
for on-lending. The Bank will continue to support
businesses across all sectors. In particular, we aim
to invest in private infrastructure projects to redress
the balance between the capital city and the regions,
especially in rural areas.

Share of the Bank’s
total investments in 2005

22%0
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In its new strategy for Azerbaijan, launched in 2005,
the EBRD acknowledged that the country faces
substantial challenges despite the real progress
achieved over the past couple of years. The EBRD
intends to build on its large-scale investments in the
energy sector and to support the country’s economic
diversification beyond oil and gas. The EBRD will help
to improve competitiveness in the banking sector and
will target improvements in infrastructure.

In all three Caucasus countries the EBRD will seek
improvements in the investment climate through
dialogue with the relevant governments. Investment
priorities for Georgia include further support for
municipal projects while in Armenia the Bank aims
to strengthen the financial sector and to increase
support for small businesses.







~USSia s dudgetary surplus almaost
tripled in 2005 as the country
continued to benefit from increasing
orices for natural rescurces. EBRD

— investment helped to diversify the
. | Russian economy and to support the
— development of the private sector.
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international reserves of the Central Bank
reached a record high in 2005.

Investment climate

Growth in the Russian economy slipped to 6.4 per cent
in 2005 from 7.1 per cent in 2004 as a result of

a marked slow-down in industrial production from

7.4 per cent in 2004 to 4 per cent in 2005. Growth in
oil production and exports slowed sharply. Investment
growth also declined somewhat although there was
some pick-up in the second half of the year. However,
the slow-down has been balanced by increasing

oil prices.

Government revenues remained extremely buoyant
on the back of further increases in the world prices of
Russia’s major export commodities. The consolidated
budget surplus reached US$ 33.5 billion in the first
half of the year, nearly three times higher than in the
same period in 2004. Preliminary estimates indicate
a full-year budget surplus of over 7 per cent of gross
domestic product (GDP) against an initial target of
1.5 per cent.

Stabilisation fund assets increased to US$ 43 billion
at the end of 2005. This was despite the use of
US$ 15.1 billion of assets to pay some of the
country’s US$ 40 billion Paris Club debt. The
authorities also fully repaid the US$ 3.3 bhillion debt
to the International Monetary Fund. Infiationary
pressures decreased slightly, with the consumer
price index reaching 10.9 per cent by the end of
2005, compared with 11.7 per cent at the end of
2004. This reflected increased liguidity inflows

and expansion of the money supply in tandem with
increases in regulated prices, such as utility tariffs.

High prices for natural resources drove the current
account surplus in 2005 1o around 12 per cent of
GDP. International reserves of the Central Bank
reached another record high of US$ 182 billion

by the end of 2005. Despite remaining political
uncertainties, the Central Bank of Russia estimates
that gross inflows of foreign direct investment (FDI)
to the non-financial sector reached a record

US$ 16.7 billion and that private external
transactions recorded a net inflow over the year.

State intervention in the economy and centralisation
of decision-making increased during the year. The
scope of the private sector was scaled back as the
state reasserted control over Gazprom (and its
various banking and media holdings), Gutabank and
the bulk of assets owned by the Yukos oil company.
Market liberalisation also suffered a setback through
a wide-ranging and selective campaign by the tax
authorities to recover unpaid taxes. In addition, high-
ranking state officials were appointed to the boards
of state-owned enterprises and regulations were
tightened in sectors considered “strategic”

by the authorities.

The adverse impact of these measures on the
general business climate was partially offset

by the country’s continued robust macroeconomic
performance and the abundant liquidity stemming
from substantial inflows of capital. Russia has been
given an investment grade rating by the three main
commercial rating institutions, and Russian
companies and banks increasingly have access to
international capital markets. However, the returning
confidence may owe more to the surge in oil prices
than to institutional reforms.




Progress in administrative reforms was mixed
and judicial reform has slowed down. Corruption,
according to several sources, continues to be a
systemic problem, as highlighted by many of the
respondents to the 2005 EBRD/World Bank Business
Environment and Enterprise Performance Survey
(BEEPS). However, significant advances were
made in banking sector reform during the year.
The authorities adopted a new banking strategy
in April, a deposit insurance scheme was set up
and international financial reporting standards
have become obligatory for banks.

A new concession law was designed to boost private
investment in infrastructure and to ensure effective
use of state and municipally owned property. Credit
bureaux have been introduced to bring about greater
stability and credibility in the Russian financial
market. A new law on special economic zones
introduced in 2005 aims to apply favourable
conditions to businesses in specific regions.

This includes the waiving of custom duties

for foreign manufactured goods.

EBRD investment

In 2005 the EBRD invested in 39 projects in Russia
totalling €1.1 billion. This represents a 26 per cent
share of the Bank’s total investments for the year —
a slight decline on 2004. This brings our total
cumulative commitments in Russia to €7.2 billion.
Gross disbursements in 2005 amounted to

€681 million.

One of the year’s major innovations was the launch
of the Bank’s first rouble bond, which raised 5 billion
roubles (€140 million) in May 2005 to provide long-
term loans free of exchange risk for Russian projects.
The first bond and first floating-rate note launched on
the domestic market by an international issuer was
made possible by the creation of the Moscow Prime
Offered Rate, a new transparent local money market
index providing a transparent benchmark for bank
loans. The demand for rouble loans has since grown
substantially and the Bank is therefore expected

to revisit the Russian bond market in 20086.

In line with its mandate, the EBRD once again used
its investments to foster the development of the
Russian private sector. As always, our projects also
attracted significant additional investment from
foreign investors. This trend was also reflected in
syndicated co-financings where the EBRD maintained
its strong position as a leader, supporting borrowers
in a broad range of projects.

In the manufacturing sector the EBRD became

a partner in the Toyota Motor Corporation’s first
Russian venture, investing €24 million in the
assembly plant being built outside St Petersburg
(see page 64). The dea! is a good illustration of the
EBRD’s commitment to help diversify the Russian
economy. The Bank also provided support for the
first major investment in Russia by the world’s
largest aluminium group, lending €25 million for
the refurbishment of two regional rolling mills
bought by Alcoa.




Success story -

Revving up Russia’s car industry

There is no denying that some of Russia’s domestically
produced family cars have seen better days. It is not
an uncommon sight to see drivers at the side of the
road peering despairingly under the bonnets of their
beloved Soviet-era Ladas that have finally given up

the ghost.

Once a status symbol with a decade’s waiting list,
the original Fiat range of Ladas with their 1966-
vintage design are now looking more like a collector’s
item than a means of transportation.

So the opening of the new environmentally friendly
Toyota plant outside St Petersburg, in which the
EBRD is making an equity investment of up

to €24 miilion, could hardly be more timely.

Currently, only 157 Russians in a thousand are
car owners, well below the Polish average of 250.

This may change when the first Toyota Camry sedan,
rated the most reliable car in recent years, rolls off
the assembly line in late 2007.

President Viadimir Putin has warmly welcomed
Toyota Russia and its €156 million investment

in St Petersburg, praising the creation of at least
500 new jobs and stressing the important
contribution of the EBRD. “I would like to highlight
the role of the EBRD, our long-term partner, which
is taking a 20 per cent stake in this project,”

said the President at the press launch last year.




Analysts believe that Toyota Russia (fully controlled
by Toyota Motor Corporation, now the world’s second-
largest car giant) has got its timing right, opening

Obviously, Toyota will set a high standard of good
engineering, management and manufacturing practice
for the domestic market to emulate. “By showing

production in Russia at just the right moment to gain
access to what will be a fast-developing car market,
expected to be worth €29 billion a year by 2010.
The initial annual run of 20,000 Camrys might well
increase to 200,000 in the long term as the local
plant may be expanded with further investments.

other companies the real success of Toyota, we
hope to create a favourable climate for increased
investment in the Russian economy, which will lead
to Russia’s economic growth, expansion of the
automobile market and development of the auto
industry in Russia,” said Tokuichi Uranishi,
Toyota's Executive Vice President.

Recent changes in tariffs on imported parts mean
that manufacturing on site will reduce the price
dramatically from today’s cost of US$ 31,000,
including the 25 per cent import tax. Yet, despite

the big mark-up, Toyota sold 46,000 imported cars

in Russia in 2004 via its Moscow-based sales
company, nearly double the total of the previous year.

The EBRD has already invested €364 million in the
Russian auto sector. The Toyota project represents
the Bank's second investment in a “greenfield” car
production plant in Russia over the past four years.

In the years to come, it is predicted that Russians will
be looking for cars priced between US$ 10,000 and
US$ 20,000 so the Camry, at around US$ 21,000, is
well-placed to succeed at the top end of the market.

Setting the industry benchmark

The car glant (et started In 1833 &s Teyods Automeatic eurrently has
preduction beses in 26 countries, & szles neltwerk eovering mers then 140
countries and mere then 280,000 empleyess werdwide. Autometive sales
reaches USS$ 164 billlen in 2004.

The company hes been rencwned for its pleneering innevatien end efficiency sinee
e intreduetion ef the © Production System” in 1870. Many of Toyote's
menufacturing praciiess (such as “kaizen’; “idoke”, “Justintime” and “heliunka™)
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Kalzen or “continueus Improvement” s the process ef tiny incremental
inmprovements aiming e eliminaie cestly waste by tsaching individuals the skills

e Impreve the process. Jideka or “autemetion with & human toveh” means ullging
n guality as the meterals are produeed, reguirnng all weorkers t© step production
whenever they see amiiiing suspicious.

Justin-ime requires all arsas of preduciiion @ be ready @ on te the nest

gt all mes to mest variations In custemer demend. Hellunka or “evering
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preduesd fems o climingte any UNNGEESSAry productien.

As wall es rafsing the bar for production processes In the car industry, Teyets s &t
the ferefront in setting envircamental standards. The eempeny is, for exempls, the
{irst car menufectursr to Mass-progues hybrd cars, which run on @ reeharge-
elblle betiery ane fusl, making them the envirenmentally friendly ear of the future.




A major innovation in 2005 was the

launch of the EE

In the infrastructure sector, 2005 saw the completion
of the St Petersburg Southwest Waste Water
Treatment Plant, inaugurated by the Presidents

of Russia and Finland and the Prime Minister of
Sweden. The beneficiaries of this international project
to cut the amount of untreated sewage water pouring
into the Baftic Sea are the 50 million people living
around its shores. Of the plant’s total cost of

€138 million, the EBRD lent €35 million, which was
earmarked to fund construction work. in 2005 the
Bank also lent €20 million for the construction of a
similar ptant at the northern edge of St Petersburg.

A €9 million loan to renew the water and heating
systems in the Siberian city of Surgut was the

first new project to use funds raised by the
groundbreaking EBRD rouble bond.

In the energy field the EBRD lent the rouble
equivalent of €147 million to Russia’s electricity
transmission monopoly, the Federal Grid Company,
as part of the Bank's continuing support for the wide-
ranging reform of the power sector launched in 2001.
The project will significantly increase electricity flows
from Siberia and the Urals in the east towards central
Russia, and will make it possible to provide greater
power supplies for the Caucasus region.

In addition, the Bank lent the rouble equivalent of
€85 million to Mosenergo, Russia’s largest electricity
generating company, mainly to help it refurbish the
plants which provide heat and power for Moscow and
the surrounding region (see page 19). Both projects
will contribute to reducing losses and increasing

3RD’s first rouble bond.

the quality and reliability of supply, a key issue
highlighted by the major blackout which hit Moscow
and its surrounding region in May 2005.

in the financial field the EBRD is now working with
35 financial institutions in Russia, including some
of the largest nationwide banks. Support was
provided in 2005 through loans and equity
investments and through a number of innovative
financing mechanisms.

Among the firsts for the EBRD and the financial
market in 2005 were the Bank's participation in

a Russian securitisation transaction with Russian
Standard Bank (see page 15), a €44 million loan to
Promsvyazbank in local currency and a syndicated
loan atranged by the EBRD for a specialist mortgage
institution, DeltaCredit Bank. Support for developing
the residential mortgage industry was also provided
through a €27 million loan to Rosbank and a

€43 million framework to help smaller banks
introduce mortgage products, particularly in

the regions.

The EBRD continued to invest in banks, with an equity
participation in Hansa Bank and capital increases

to support the strong growth of Sibacadembank

and Center-Invest Bank. Loans were provided to new
regional bank partners in Vladivostok, Ekaterinburg
and Kazan. The EBRD’s ability to provide rouble
funding was a key factor for such banks, whose

small business clients do not generally have access
to hard currency earnings.




EBRD investments
in 2005
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The EBRD also continued to provide support to micro
and small enterprises (MSEs) through the Russia
Small Business Fund (RSBF), which has now
disbursed over 290,000 loans totalling more than
€2.2 billion. Funding for the RSBF consists of EBRD
financing and donor grants from the G-7 governments,
the European Community and Switzerland. With the
help of the RSBF, specialist MSE finance departments
have been set up in over 270 bank branches and
outlets in 144 cities across Russia.

Further support for small business was provided
through the EBRD’s TurnAround Management (TAM)
and Business Advisory Services (BAS) Programmes,
which are active in north-west Russia and the
Russian Far East. During 2005, 10 TAM projects and
99 BAS projects were started. In north-west Russia,
BAS is focusing its support outside St Petersburg.

In Far East Russia the BAS Programme operates in
Sakhalin and Khabarovsk in addition to Vladivostok.

Looking ahead

The EBRD remains committed to helping Russia’s
progress towards an efficient market-based economy
and the country's integration into the world economy.
Promoting the modernisation and restructuring
process as well as the diversification of the Russian
economy continue to be important priorities.

The Bank also seeks to promote a broader reform
agenda through our investments and our policy
dialogue with the authorities. EBRD investments

in Russia are projected to be €1.2 billion in 2006.

Providing feedback to the authorities on the
investment environment, enhancing corporate
governance, stimulating transparency, strengthening
competition and encouraging good business conduct
will be important ways of furthering Russia’s

reform programme.

Specific challenges include strengthening the
financial system and stepping up efforts 1o support
renewable energy by financing key hydro facilities
and helping to develop a renewable energy regulatory
framework. Strengthening the regional focus of our
operations in Russia remains a top priority and the
EBRD expects to open a local office in the city of
Samara during 2006 and another in the south

of Russia.







several countries of Central Asia still
need to undertake major reforms 1o
achieve economic stability and a firm
commitment to demaocratic practices.
Through its investments and ongoing
ialogue with national authorities, the
% EBRD scught to assist reform efforts

' and to increase regional cooperation.
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4 With the help of an EBRD loan, K-Mobile is extending
network coverage in Kazakhstan and providing higher-
M quality services.




The business climate in Central Asia
remains highly problematic.

investment climate

Economic growth was strong in Central Asia in 2005,
The strongest performer was Kazakhstan, which
recorded growth of 9.4 per cent, similar to the level
achieved in 2004. A looser fiscal policy and high
domestic liquidity resulting from high oil prices
stimulated Kazakhstan's domestic consumption

and boosted investment. At the end of the year,
President Nazarbayev won re-eiection, giving him the
mandate to rule the country for another seven years.

The Tajik economy continued to expand but at a
slower pace than in previous years. Real gross
domestic product (GDP) grew by 6.1 per cent in

2005 after five consecutive years of growth of more
than 8 per cent. While domestic demand was fuelled
by strong growth in wages and increasing remittances
from workers living abroad, economic growth was
undermined by a sharp reduction in cotton

production and weaker electricity generation.

In Turkmenistan the International Monetary Fund
(IMF) estimated real GDP growth to be 9.6 per cent
in 2005, boosted by high hydrocarbon prices and
ongoing public investment programmes. However,
considerable doubt remains about the true
macroeconomic situation in Turkmenistan,

given the lack of transparency on data collection.

In the Kyrgyz Republic, preliminary estimates show
slightly negative growth of -0.6 per cent for the year
as a whole. The political turmoil in March 2005 and
a scheduled decline in production at the Kumtor

gold mine were important factors behind the negative
growth. Following the ousting of President Akayev

in March, the new government faces major challenges
to restore confidence in public institutions, which is
necessary for growth to resume in the near future.

Growth aiso slowed in Uzbekistan, where substantial
inflationary pressures and renewed restrictions

on convertibility underlined the need to address
macroeconomic imbalances. The indiscriminate
and disproportionate use of force against civilians
in the city of Andijan in May 2005, as documented
in various reports including the 12 July 2005 report
of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights,

is a cause of serious concern for the Bank. The
international community has strongly urged the
government of Uzbekistan to allow an independent
investigation into the violence in Andijan.

While macroeconomic stabilisation has generally
taken root in Central Asia, several countries continue
to run high fiscal deficits. Only Kazakhstan ran a
fiscal surplus (for the fifth year in a row) in 2005,

of 0.7 per cent of GDP but this was reduced by

an expansion in social spending and civil service
salaries. The Kyrgyz Republic and Tajikistan tightened
their fiscal policies in line with their commitments

to the IMF under existing three-year programmes.
Only Kazakhstan managed to attract large amounts
of foreign direct investment — US$ 1 billion in 2005 -
but this was significantly less than the record level
of US$ 5.5 billion achieved in 2004,

Progress in structural reforms was limited in 2005.
In Tajikistan, most small-scale privatisation has been
completed. The assets remaining in state hands are
mostly either strategic enterprises or those in



financial difficulties that are proving difficult to sell.
Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan continued to lag
behind the rest of the region in terms of reforms.

Uzbekistan adopted new regulations regarding loans
and other foreign exchange transactions between
Uzbek residents and non-residents, thereby giving
the Central Bank broad powers to control

such transactions.

The business climate in Central Asia remains highly
problematic, according to the results of the 2005
EBRD/World Bank Business Environment and
Enterprise Performance Survey (BEEPS). Corruption
features prominently in the complaints of many
businesses although the level and frequency of
bribery are less than they were three years ago
when the previous survey was undertaken.

Kazakhstan announced a number of measures in
2005 to combat corruption while the Kyrgyz Republic
ratified the United Nations Convention against
Corruption. State control of the economy remained
pervasive in Turkmenistan but it is difficult to
estimate the extent of the problems facing
businesses as it was not possible to carry out

the BEEPS in this country.

EBRD investment

In 2005 the EBRD invested €349 million in Central
Asia, up from €316 million in 2004. This represents
an 8 per cent share of the Bank’s total investment
for the year, the same proportion as in 2004.
Kazakhstan received the largest amount of EBRD
financing (€280 million) followed by Uzbekistan

(€35 million), Tajikistan (€18 million) and the
Kyrgyz Republic (€15 million). The EBRD invested
in 16 projects, two more than the previous year.

A large proportion of EBRD investment supported
private sector development, helping to create jobs
and to alleviate poverty. The Bank is the leading
international financial institution in the region,
having invested a total of €2.3 billion since 1991.

In 2005 the EBRD continued to work with the region’s
governments to increase regional cooperation and to
improve the investment climate. This was undertaken
through organisations such as the Foreign Investors
Council in Kazakhstan and through discussions with
national and local authorities across Central Asia.

In the Kyrgyz Republic the EBRD began a judicial
training programme.

In Kazakhstan, all but one of the Bank's investments
in 2005 were extended to private sector companies.
Major projects included a €42 million loan to support
mobile telecommunications and a loan of €45 million
to fund the completion of a new power transmission
line that will allow the north of Kazakhstan to
transmit its surpius power to the more heavily
populated south of the country.

Investments in the financial sector continued to be
an important part of EBRD activities in Kazakhstan.
The Bank continued to support import and export
trade through the Bank’s Trade Facilitation
Programme and provided further financing for micro,




The Pearl of Central Asia

Often referred to as the Pearl of Central Asia,

Lake Issyk-Kul in the Kyrgyz Republic is one of the
largest mountain lakes in the world and is famous

for its magnificent scenery. Its name means “hot |lake”,
alluding to the fact that it never freezes over during
the winter time even though it is situated at an
altitude of 1,700 m above sea level.

The area is home to some of the world’s most ancient  places. Nowadays, it is a popular tourist resort
archaeological sites. Lake Issyk-Kul used to be a stop  served by Tamchi Airport, which was finally opened
on the Silk Route as long ago as the 6th century BC, for civilian flights in 2003.

and important examples of Scythian bronze and gold

jewellery have been found there. The resort has special environmental protection

(it has been designated as a Ramsar Wetland) and is
Due to its high altitude and being nearly 200 km widely regarded as one of the most beautiful places
outside of the capital Bishkek, it was considered for in the world, partly due to the spectacular blue-green
many years one of the country's most inaccessible colour changes of the lake itself. For decades,




this beautiful area has been a popular tourist
destination for hikers and horse riders from Siberia,
Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan and, of course, the Kyrgyz
Republic. Recently there has been a big increase in
Western tourists.

The north side of the lake is home to the Raduga
(Rainbow) tourist resort, which has been developed
by invest-Raduga. The company bought the resort
for €85,000 in 2003 and soon completed the first

In 2005 the EBRD stepped in to fund the second
phase of the resort’s development. In its first
investment in the Kyrgyz tourism industry, the Bank
extended a €5 million loan to help Invest-Raduga
finance a €14 million expansion project. This has
involved the construction of 98 new holiday cottages
on the lakeside, 36 revamped apartments for sale
and a new 44-room hotel. The redevelopment is
expected to attract even greater numbers of tourists
to the area over the years to come.

stage of development. It built 70 modern cottages,
a restaurant, two cafés, a summer pool, tennis
courts and new sports facilities to complement the
existing lakeside activities, such as sailing, surfing,
rowing, scuba diving and fishing.

“We are proud of our developments at Raduga, where
the new homes and facilities have been built using
local natural materials,” said Viktor Kryltsov, the
main contractor and a long-standing client of the
EBRD in the Kyrgyz Republic. “The EBRD’s emphasis
on industry standards, particularly in relation to
environmental impact, is a good fit with our design
and building philosophy.”

The new cottages were quickly sold to local families -
60 per cent to Kyrgyz families and 40 per cent to
Kazakhs. An additional benefit was the large increase
in the number of local suppliers following the first
stage of construction, meaning a more competitive
market for basic materials and also a better choice
of suppliers to provide food, tours and equipment.

Reviving the Silk Route |

The feunding of the Silk Route marked in many respests the birfth of globelisation.
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the reute still exist today, selling camels, horses, &lik, jade, 20id, exolie plants,
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faueh the same way &s the enclent Sik Reuvte ¢fidl.
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heavy Industry is continuing to develop at breakneek between China ang the
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agein seeing Intemetional trade with all fts associated benefis.
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In 2005 the EB

RD sought to increase

regional cooperation and to improve

the investment climate.

small and medium-sized businesses. The Bank also
financed other institutions in the financial sector,
such as asset management and insurance
companies and mortgage lenders.

The agricultural sector benefited from further
development of the EBRD’s Grain Warehouse
Receipts Programme, which allows farmers to
borrow against grain deposited in secure
warehouses. The EBRD provided €60 million to
agribusiness companies and grain traders through
three local banks operating under the programme.
The EBRD also provided a €10 million loan to
Kazkommertshank to lend to farmers wishing

to lease agricultural equipment, such as combine
harvesters and tractors.

Three countries in Central Asia (the Kyrgyz Republic,
Tajikistan and Uzbekistan) are benefiting from the
EBRD's Early Transition Countries (ETC) Initiative,
which was launched in 2004 to help the poorest
countries where the EBRD operates.

In the Kyrgyz Republic the EBRD signed many more
transactions than in 2004. The Bank signed its first
project under the Direct Lending Facility, allowing
medium-sized enterprises to gain access to loans

in areas where no local banks are available to act as
intermediaries. The EBRD also signed its first project
under the Medium-sized Loan Co-Financing Facility,
which provides co-financing to local banks for on-
lending to local companies.

Under the microfinance programme, the EBRD
provided its first two credit lines to institutions other
than banks — Bai Tushum and Finca — which

specialise in providing loans to borrowers who cannot
access finance from other sources. The microfinance
programme achieved its 30,000th loan in 2005 and
surpassed €42 million for the value of disbursed
loans. The programme benefited from donor funding
from Switzerland, the United States and Taipei China
as well as co-financing from the International

Finance Corporation.

In Tajikistan the EBRD signed six projects in 2005,

a significant increase on 2004. These were mostly

to support lending to micro and small enterprises and
to boost foreign trade. The Bank also provided a loan
to the Tajikistan State Air Company. The project will
replace some of the ageing fleet with modern
Western aircraft and will help the country to forge
closer economic links with the rest of the world.

In Uzbekistan the EBRD has financed only private
sector activities since July 2005. This reflects the
Bank’s concern about the country’s slow progress
towards implementing Article 1 of the EBRD’s
Founding Agreement, which commits countries

to promote democracy and economic reform.

The Bank signed four private sector projects in
2005. These included a loan to support the
establishment of a modern textile plant, two
projects in the agribusiness sector and financing
for a telecommunications project.

Across Central Asia, excluding Turkmenistan, the
EBRD continued to provide support to small business
through the donor-funded TurnAround Management
(TAM) and Business Advisory Services Programmes
(see page 29). During 2005, 15 TAM projects and
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252 BAS projects were started. These included
projects on environmental issues and tourism. A new
BAS office was opened in the Kyrgyz Republic and
four new provincial offices were opened to assist
enterprises in rural areas. TAM/BAS activities have
led to EBRD investment of €40 million since 1991.

The EBRD has been seriously concerned for a number
of years by Turkmenistan’s lack of progress towards
multi-party democracy and a market-based economy.
Since the adoption of the Bank’s strategy for
Turkmenistan in 2002, there has been little evidence
of improvement in the authorities’ commitment

to the principles of Article 1. The EBRD restricts

its activities, therefore, to financing small and
medium-sized enterprises in the private sector.

In 2005 the Bank signed one project in support

of the textile sector.

Looking ahead

The EBRD will focus on achieving regional cooperation
by working closely with the Asian Development Bank,
the IMF, the World Bank and key donors. Through

its investments, the Bank will continue to support
improvements in transparency, integrity, corporate
governance and effective regulation across the
region. EBRD investments in Central Asia are
projected to be €300 million in 2006.

Over subsequent years the EBRD intends to
increase the proportion of its financing devoted

to Central Asia. The Bank will work with the region’s
governments to reduce trade barriers, to improve
the investment climate and to support further
economic diversification beyond oil and gas.

In Kazakhstan the EBRD will focus on supporting
small business, foreign trade, the agribusiness
sector, transport and municipal infrastructure.

In the financial sector the EBRD will aim to strengthen
our relationship with existing partner banks and to
enhance competition by also working with smaller
financial institutions.

In 2005 the EBRD adopted new country strategies
for Tajikistan and Uzbekistan. In Tajikistan the Bank
aims to increase the availability of finance for the
private sector, to strengthen the banking sector and
to tackle vital infrastructure bottlenecks, such as
water distribution and air transport. Activities in
these areas will be supported by the ETC Initiative.

The EBRD’s new strategy for Uzbekistan notes that
some economic progress has been achieved over the
past two years but that no progress has been made
in Uzbekistan’s political environment. As a result, the
Bank will continue to focus entirely on private sector
development and to support reforms that would

allow the Bank to operate in Uzbekistan on a fully
operational basis. However, existing commitments

in the public sector will still be implemented.

in Turkmenistan the EBRD will continue, under
the current circumstances, to confine its activities
to financing small and medium-sized enterprises
and to finding ways' of improving the investment
climate for private entrepreneurs.







1 BY evalualing Its projects, the corD
- seeks 1o learn from past experience
and 1o improve the selection and
design of future operations. In 2005,
83 per cent of the Bank’s evaluated
operations had an “excellent-
satisfactory” impact on transition.
Cver 50 per cent of projects evaluated
during 1996-2005 received overall
performance ratings of “successful”
or “highly successful”.




Chart 1 Transition impact ratings
of EBRD projects 1996-2005

% of evaluated projects

96 97 98 99 00 01 02 03

Year of evaluation

8 Excellent

O Good

- Satisfactory
W Marginal

O Unsatisfactory
M Negative

independent evaiuation

EBRD operations are evaluated by

the Bank's independent Evaluation
Department (EvD). EvD functions
separately from the Banking Department
and in 2005 began reporting directly

to the Bank’s Board of Directors. EvD
assesses how well operations meet their
objectives and the extent to which they
comply with the Bank's mandate. The
lessons learned are used to improve the
selection and design of future operations.
Projects are assessed usually one

to two years after full disbursement.

Impact of EBRD activities

on transition

When evaluating the impact of an EBRD
operation on transition, EvD looks at its
effect on the sector and on the economy
as a whole. EvD applies the same criteria
used during project selection and approval
to assess a project’s transition impact.
The degree to which the project promotes
privatisation, develops skills, encourages
competition and supports market
expansion are evaluated. Other key
aspects include how the project supports

04 05

Chart 2 Cumulative transition impact ratings
of EBRD projects 1996-2005
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institutional reform, improves the
functioning of markets, acts as a model
for other projects and sets new standards
in business conduct and governance.

During 1996-2005, EvD assessed
470 operations, Of these, 54 per cent
achieved a transition impact rating

of “good” or “excellent” and a further
23 per cent were assessed as
“satisfactory” (see Chart 1).

In 2005 only 17 per cent of evaluated
projects were given a “marginal-negative”
transition impact rating, similar to the
last two years. A gradual improvement

in transition impact appears to have
occurred over the past four years.

This could, however, be due to operations
evaluated in 2000-01 being affected

by the Russian financial crisis in 1998.
As a result, these operations may

not have achieved their full transition
potential. The majority of operations
evaluated since 2001, particularly
private sector projects, were approved
after 1998 and are unlikely to have
experienced the same difficulties.

9697 9698 96-99 96-00 96-01 96-02 96-03 86-04 96-05

The share of projects with an “excellent-
satisfactory” transition impact rating in
2005 was 83 per cent. Chart 2 presents
the cumulative performance of transition
impact ratings from 1996 to 2005,

it shows that the positive scores on
transition impact remain stable at a
relatively high level of around 75 per cent.

Overall performance

of EBRD projects

An overall performance rating is assigned
to each project that EvD assesses.

This rating gives a high weighting to
transition impact but also includes

other performance ratings, such as the
fulfilment of project objectives, financial
performance, environmental performance
and additionality (the Bank's ability to
complement rather than replace private
sources of finance).

In 1996-2005, 57 per cent of evaluated
projects achieved a rating of “successful”
or “highly successful” (see Chart 3).
Project performance appears to have
steadily improved since 2001 but the
percentage of successful projects can




Chart 3 Overall performance ratings of evaluated

EBRD projects 1996-2005
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fluctuate substantially on an annual
basis (for example, 73 per centin
2004 but only 46 per cent in 2001).

Compared with the percentage of projects
that received “excellent-satisfactory”
ratings for transition impact (85 per cent
in 2005), the percentage of projects
achieving “successful” or “highly
successful” overall performance is
much lower. This difference is partly

due to lower financial performance
ratings, caused by the high-risk
investment climate in which the Bank
operates, particularly in the countries

at earlier stages of transition.

Limited progress in institutional

reforms and the slow implementation of
privatisation programmes have also had
an impact on the overall performance of
projects. During 2005, 11 projects scored
an overall rating of “highly successful”.
Based on these findings, EvD concludes
that the Bank has been relatively
successful in operating according to

the EBRD’'s mandate, especially in view
of the difficult operating environment.

Learning from past experience

A key element of EvD’s role is to ensure
that past experience is applied to new
EBRD projects. This begins with intensive
consultation between the banking teams
and EvD on the lessons learned from
project evaluation. Regular feedback is
also offered at every stage of the approval
process to ensure operation staff are
aware of relevant past experience.

Case-based workshops are held and
tailored to the specific needs of banking
teams. EvD also makes presentations
on evaluations of individual projects to
management and the Board of Directors.
To enhance the lessons learned process
in the Bank, EvD maintains a lessons-
learned database which contains more
than 2,000 lessons.

Special studies

Changes to project conditions

During the implementation of a project,
it may be necessary for the EBRD to
change the original project agreement.
These changes could include consenting
to a client’s request, waiving a particular

Lessons learned are
used to improve the
selection ana design
of future operations.

covenant in the agreement or amending
the project’s terms and conditions.

All changes must be approved internally
before the client is notified. In some
instances, the change may require
Board approval.

The impact of waivers, amendments and
consents (WACs) on project objectives,

as well as the reporting of these project
changes, was evaluated by EvD following a
request from the Bank’s Audit Committee.

The study reviewed 60 projects,
approved between 1 September 2000
and 31 August 2001, which received a
minimum Bank investment of €10 million.
Of these projects, 35 per cent were in
the public sector and 65 per cent in the
private sector. A total of 557 WACs were
identified and analysed.

The study concluded that the Bank's
processing of WACs is in line with best
practice. The volume and frequency of
WACs implemented by the Bank is not
dissimilar from the levels experienced in
commercial banks. In addition, the Bank's




Examples of “successful” EBRD projects
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Environmental loan in the oil and gas sector
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Mongolia Cooperation Fund

documentation and project conditions
do not appear to be either excessive
or unrealistic.

In general, the study found that WACs

are consistent with key project objectives
and that there were only a few instances
where the level of reporting could have
been improved. The study also highlighted
that failure to meet project objectives
may not be related to the WAC process.

EvD has recommended greater
involvement by the Bank’s Office of the
Chief Economist in approving WACs
related to the transition aspects of
projects. EvD has also recommended that
project conditions requested by the Board,
and not related to credit, should be clearly
identified and included in the key terms
and conditions.

Although it is not an EBRD country

of operations, Mongolia qualifies for
technical assistance through the Bank’s
Mongolia Cooperation Fund (MCF).

The MCF is a €10.3 million technical
cooperation fund which supports private
sector activity in Mongolia. The MCF
receives donor contributions from
Japan, Luxembourg, the Netherlands
and Taipei China.




Leasing company

In 2000 the EBRD approved @ syndicated lean of €30 milllen
ftor an Intermetionsl lsasing company. The EBRD previded
€410 milllon while the balanes wae sourced from ether banks.
The lean, guarenieed by the cempany’s parent firm, engbled
the purchese of equipment for lsasing o public sectar
companies in esntral Europs.

In 2003 the leasing company’s parent finm Fled for bankrugtey
and thelr operations wers Immediately liuidated. The leasing
company’s assets,; Including the loens from the EBRD, were
s0ld te a large European bank. This bank, hewever, decided
net e continue the leasing cempeny’s business. Fortunately,
fthe strong eredt strueturs of the EBRD's loan ensured
recovery ef the full emeunt fror: the aeguirfng bank.

The preject was reted “unsuessssiul”. EvD feund that
sustainalble growth g difficult for leasing fnms thet are AGt
ewned by large manufecturers ¢ affiiiated with banks. Sueh
growth requires continuous aecess to aquity 2nd longterm
funeing et competitive interest rates. Prior o Investment,
the EBRD must diligently assess the capaeity of these
companies to generate sulficlent capital to support thelr
epansion inte emerging markets.

EvD alse recognised, howevsr, the eguity epportunities present
im the eecter. The secter's rapie grewth, s need for eguity

gnd the atiractivensss of well-sun Independent leesing
frme to strategic Investers may provide osportunities
for the Barlk (o facllitate transiton and achieve

Eramples ¢f “less sueeessiul” EERD

Private sector bank

In the mid 18908 the EBRD sequired an equity stake in &
privetaly lbank in an early ransitien couniry. Over the
following decade, the Bank inereased its capital contributions
and etsnded several credit lines to the kank. Prier to the
EBRD’s invelvement, the bank’s portfelic consisted largsly

of short-tarm loans clsbureed to knewn customers with
srtensive colletersl, Since the EBRD’s Investment, the bank
has substantially expanded fts pertfelio 67 smell business
clients, ceveloped the eredit skills of staff and reformed its
Institutions) practices.

Over the past ten years, the bank has grown from & small
local instiwtien with wesk systems and credii processes It
one of the country’s lergest. In additien, the benk has become
recognised for its high stendards of eperation. EvD feund,
heweaver, that the overall results of the project did not fuly
meet epesiations and therelors rated it “partly suceessiul”.

Despite its efforts, the EBRD has not malntained cohasion
among sherehelders. The acqulsiien of & minerty staks by
& greup of new sharsholders semewhat unsetied the benk's
menggement end existing ewners. The EBRD is currently
werking with the bank o reselve this metier end 1 eRsURe
et the adhievements te date are protecied and the bank's
future development is not affected.

EvD eerseluges that future ehangss o sharsholdings should
be zgreed winen structuring egquity investments. In addition,
ihe Bank must use e pesition te nflusrce signifcant
changss in ewnershig,

Between 2001 and 2004, the MCF
committed €6.3 million to 11 assign-
ments. These included TurnAround
Management (TAM) advisers in 22
companies, a management team at
Mongolia's national airline, micro-credit
advisers within a major Mongolian bank
and training for nearly 300 bank managers
and staff. The MCF also funded studies
into the privatisation of the power and
telecommunications sectors, the

implementation of legal reforms
and the development of infrastructure
and natural resources.

Seven of these assighments have been
completed, while four are still under way.
Of the completed projects, EvD has rated
five as “successful”. Of the projects still
being undertaken, three are also expected
to achieve successful ratings. Overall,

the 11 projects have achieved positive

results, with seven (comprising

86 per cent of the Fund's total
commitments) achieving key investment
objectives set by the EBRD and MCF.

The EBRD’s involvement has been rated
“good” in seven of the MCF assignments.
The study recommended that the Bank
set conditions for the implementation

of assignments to ensure a

successful outcome.




Evaluating technical
cooperation operations

Nearly 450 consultant assignments,
funded through technical cooperation
(TC) grants, have been evaluated by
EvD. These assignments have involved
almost €130 million of funding from over
30 donors under the Bank's Technical
Cooperation Funds Programme. When
combined with the TC assighments
evaluated during EvD’s special
studies, this figure rises to over
1,200 assignments, involving more
than €300 million of funding.

ample of “chcessful” 1;C operation

Power distribution companies

Te faciitate the restructuring ane iberalisatien ef the pewar
seetor In souli-eastem Europs, 8 TC cperatien aimed at
preparing regienal elestrielty distrbution companies for
privetisetion was laurched. Funding wes prevides by the EU.

The EBRD essisted the government in appeinting @
privatisetion adviser. This adviser wae responsible for
preparing all tender documents. The mein ebjective of the
TanCiEr Process was @ atrast serious bidders and © achieve
e retum for the gevernment. Despite 8 diffieulk market
envirenment, the evenue gencraied wes substantially higher
en & per custemer besls Mian in surounding coumtries.

EvD reiled the overall performanss of the eperatien &

“highly svecsssiul” and its impact en Wwensidon s “ceellent”
EvD concluded that the government’s Support wes eruelal

to privetising the publie uilites.

The suceass of the operation was dus o the acviser's active
eoereingtien between different ministries and
eontinued consuliation with & sarfamentary commities.

The adviser's streng Intemeionsl end lecel capacity glso
feciiitated this intensive process.
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Road management project

In the lete 4 he EBRD was asked o assist with the
UpErace and mﬁt@ﬁm@n@n@@ of & rational read network.
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Qverall, the TC eperations were rated “unsuseessiul”. The first
TC operation was enly pertally compieted due o intemal
prodlems within the consulting frin and difficult relations with
the elient. The contract was eventually cancalled. The second
eperation was delayad afer the government falled to elerify
he legislative framewerk and reguesied additional anslysis

of the project seenaries. AS & result, Uhe consultent was only
@@ﬂ@ o prepare a fremewerk for the Eender dosuments.

The ihire TC eperatien was intended to suppert the Bank's
eevalepment of the BRPR and Yo faclitete e img @m@@mﬂ@@
ef teehnical compenenis. The project did net, however,
materialise due e the country's insufiicient legel framewerk
and the government's weelk commitment te the PPP appreach.

In the future, the Bank should reselve Implementation issues
before additional TC expendiures ars ineured. In addition,
mejer legislative er instituional issues sheuld be addressed
befers funding is commitied o technical components.
Centinuous pelisy cislogue should alse be mairtained with
stakehelders at all levels, especially on prejects where the
pregesed reforms are liksly t meest peliticsl Interference.




The EBRD offers a range of procurement
opportunities for suppliers, contractors and
consultants. In 2005 the Bank was involved
in 122 public sector contracts, valued at

€616 million.

Procurement policies

The EBRD applies principles of non-discrimination, fairness
and transparency when financing contracts for works,
goods and services. These principles, enshrined within

the Bank’s Procurement Policies and Rules, are designed
to promote efficiency and to minimise credit risk in the
implementation of Bank-financed projects. The EBRD
expects all participants in the procurement process to
observe the highest standards of ethics and conduct
during the tendering and implementation of a contract.

The EBRD treats procurement in public and private sector
projects differently. A private sector client can apply its own
procurement practices, provided that the EBRD is satisfied
that these practices are commercially sound and that fair
market prices are obtained. The client must also ensure
conflicts of interest are avoided and that the best interests
of all parties involved in the process are preserved.

More precise rules apply to procurement in public
sector operations where the EBRD requires clients
to use structured, transparent procedures that
maximise competition and fair treatment for all
participants. The Bank reviews and monitors
procurement closely at key stages of the process.

Procurement activities in 2005

During 2005 the EBRD worked actively with other
multilateral development banks (MDBs) to harmonise
public sector procurement documentation. A nine-year
licence agreement was signed with FIDIC (Fédération
internationale des Ingénieurs-Conseils). This agreement
will permit borrowers and tenderers on EBRD-financed
projects to have access, if they choose to use this form of
contract, to the FIDIC-MDB Harmonised Genera! Conditions
for works contracts. This is available on the FIDIC web site.
The Bank continued to work with procurement agencies in

Procurement




the new EU member states to ensure our policies and rules
are respected while not jeopardising each country’s future
access to EU structura! and cohesion funds.

The EBRD continued to provide procurement support services
throughout 2005. This included procurement seminars and
workshops for our clients and their agencies in our countries
of operations. In addition to the successful delivery of training
sessions developed in 2004 to highlight the importance of
procurement in the project cycle, the Bank’s Procurement Unit
provided advice to EBRD staff about procurement issues via
the Bank's intranet.

In 2005 the EBRD was involved in 122 public sector
contracts valued at €616 million, of which the Bank financed
€487 million. This compares with 157 contracts valued at
€681 miltion in 2004. The total value of contracts signed
using open tendering procedures in 2005 was €598 million,
or 97 per cent of all contracts signed by value. Contracts in
the transport sector and in the municipal and environmental
infrastructure sector accounted for 42 and 48 per cent
respectively of all public sector contracts awarded in 2005.

Procurement opportunities

To improve the effectiveness of EBRD-financed procurement,
the Bank makes available a range of documents and regularly
publishes information about upcoming contracts on the
Procurement Opportunities section of the EBRD web site:
www.ebrd.com/oppor/procure. These can be accessed

at no cost to the business community.




The EBRD invested €4.3 billion in 151 projects
in 2005, up from €4.1 billion in 129 projects
the previous year. Investments were undertaken
in all 27 of the Bank’s countries of operations.
Over one-third of EBRD financing was channelled
into financial institutions to support local
enterprises. Infrastructure projects also
received significant support.

o




Guide

Loans are calculated at exchange rates current at
31 December 2005. Shares are converted to euros
at exchange rates current at the date of disbursement.

Country totals in this list of projects may differ from those on
page 34 as regional projects (covering more than one country)
are listed separately at the end of this section.

Sub-projects financed under framework agreements are
shown in italics.

After each project description, the following information
is listed:

Sector o State/private o Environmental

screening category.

Direct Investment Facility and Direct Lending Facility projects
do not have an environmental screening category as they do
not follow the Bank's standard project cycle. However, they
are still subject to environmental requirements.

Environmental screening categories

The project requires:
A - a full environmental screening impact assessment
B - an environmental analysis

C - no environmental impact assessment
or environmental analysis

0 - no environmental audit
1 - an environmental audit

FI — Financial Intermediary

This list of projects does not include:

= trade facilitation guarantees issued and expired in 2005

& multiple investments in pre-export finance facilities under
the Trade Facilitation Programme

® selldowns of EBRD commitments

= investments under private equity funds, which are
sponsored by private institutions and fund managers.

Donor-sponsored funds, such as Regional Venture Funds
(RVFs), post-privatisation funds (PPFs) and reconstruction
equity funds {(REFs), provide a combination of equity capital
and grant-financed support. Investments under these funds
are included in the signed projects list, provided they are
managed accounts of the EBRD.




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Profect EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value foan equity flnancing value foan equlty financing
(€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ miilion} (€ miflion) (€ million) (€ miltion} {€ miltion)
Albania
Fier-Tepelene road upgrading 109.0 35.0 0 35.0 Armeconombank 1.3 1.3 0 1.3
Upgrading and construction of the road from Fier to Tepelene. Loan for on-lending to local private companies.
Transport ¢ State 0 A/0 Bank lending o Private o Fi
Morpack 7.0 4.0 0 4.0 Regional Trade Facilitation
Construction of a food packaging plant. Programme 1.0 1.0 ¢ 1.0
Agribusiness o Private o C/1 Support for foreign trade through Agricultural Cooperative Bank Armenia,
Anelik Bank, Armeconombank and inecobank.
Tirana Airport privatisation 50.3 21.0 0 21.0 Bank lending o Private o Fl
Upgrading of facilities at the airport.
Transporto Privateo B/1
Azerbaijan
Armenia Azerbaijan Multi-bank Framework 8.0 8.0 0 8.0
- — Credit line to Azerdemiryol Bank, Azerigazbank,
Anelik Bank SME credit line 11 0.8 0 0.8 Bank of Baku, Bank Respublika and Unibank for
Finance for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses. on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending o Private o Fl Small business finance o Private o Fl
Armenia Multi-bank Framework 5.0 5.0 0 5.0 Azerdermiryol Bank 1.6 0 1.6 1.6
Loans to Agricultural Cooperative Bank of Armenia, Equity investment in private joint-stock bank.
Armeconombank and Inecobank. Bank equity o Private o Fi
Bank lending o Private © FI
Azinvest Property Baku
Direct investment Facility office complex 13.1 131 0 13.1
Cascade Insurance and Reinsurance Development of high-calibre office development in Baku.
Company (CIRCO) 0.2 0 0.2 0.2 Property and tourismo Private © C/0
Equity investment in an insurance company. Baku to Samur road 94.0 84.5 0 84.5
Non-bank financial institutions o Private Upgrading of a 60 km section of road from Sumgait to Zarat.
Hytex Plastic 2.0 1.8 0.2 2.0  Transporto State©B/0O
Expansion of plastic container manufacturer. Bank of Baku 4.2 0 4.2 4.2
Manufacturing o Private .
Equity investment.
Ligvor 2.9 0.6 0.4 1.0 Bank equity o Private o F|
Investment in a pharmaceuticals manufacturer. Lukoil Overseas: Shah Deniz gas
Manufacturing o Private condensate field development 234.2 93.0 0 93.0
Direct Lending Facility Development of the offshore Shah Deniz gas and gas condensate field.
Natural resources o Privateo C/1
Bazenc CJSC 1.1 1.1 0 1.1
Investment in small hydropower project. MBASK Insurance Company 0.7 0 0.7 0.7
Power and energy © Private Strengthening of capital base and development
- of infrastructure, sales network and product range.
DENO GmbH 3.8 3.8 0 3.8 Non-bank financial institutions © Private o Fl
Gold mining project. -
Natural resources o Private Unibank 4.2 13 0 1.3
- - - - — Loan to enable access to international markets to raise
Medium-sized Loan Co-financing Facility medium-term financing for on-lending to local private enterprises.
Agricultural Cooperative Bank lending o Private o Fl
Bank Armenia 1.3 1.3 0 1.3

Loan for on-lending to local private companies.
Bank lending o Private o Fl

Regional Trade Facilitation

Programme 5.0 4.4 o} 4.4
Support for foreign trade through Azerdemiryol Bank, Azerigazbank,
Bank of Baku, Bank Respublika and Unibank.

Bank lending o Private o Fl




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equity flnancing value loan equity financing

{€ million) {€ million} (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ miltion)

Belarus

Belarus MSE Framework 3.4 3.4 0 3.4 Energy Efficiency and Renewable

Credit line to Belgazprombank for on-lending Energy Framework 2.5 2.5 Y 2.5

to micro and small enterprises. Credit line for energy efficiency and renewable energy improvements.

Small business finance o Private o Fi Bank lending o Private © FI

Olivaria 10.5 3.2 3.5 8.7 EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility

Modernisation and expansion of brewery. Union Leasing Bulgaria 3.0 3.0 0 3.0

Agribusiness o Private o B/1 Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.

Priorbank 21.1 12.7 0 12.7 Non-bank financial institutions ¢ Private o F

Mortgage credit line.
Bank lending o Private o Fl

Regional Trade Facilitation
Programme 4.0 4.0 0 4.0

Support for foreign trade through Belgazprombank and Priorbank.
Bank lending o Private o Fi

Bosnia and Herzegovina

United Bulgarian Bank 10.0 10.0 0 10.0

Credit line for on-lending to smal! and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending o Private o Fl

Maritza East | Power Company 1,037.5 114.0 0 114.¢

Construction of a lignite-fired power plant.
Power and energy ¢ PrivatecA/1

Bosnia and Herzegovina

North-eastern Bulgaria electricity
distribution companies 16.8 16.8 0 16.8

Support for the privatisation of two electricity distribution companies.
Power and energy o Private o C/1

regional railway 163.8 70.0 0 70.0
Financing of track infrastructure.

Transport ¢ StateoB/1

Mittal Steel Zenica 25.0 25.0 0 25.0

Energy efficiency investments and working capital.
Manufacturing o Private o B/1

Orchid Holdings 15.7 15.7 0 18.7

Development and construction of property developments.
Property and tourism o Privatec C/1

Tvornica Opeke Sarajevo 13.2 6.2 0 6.2

Renovation of a disused brick factory in Sarajevo.
Manufacturing o Private o B/1

Regional Trade Facilitation
Programme 2.9 2.4 0 2.4

Support for foreign trade through Raiffeisen Bank.
Bank lending © Private © FI

Bulgaria

Belvedere 28.1 7.0 2.0 2.0
Investment in wine producer to strengthen operations

and increase export sales.

Agribusiness o Private © B/1

Burgas Water Company 21.1 11.0 0 11.0
Upgrading and expansion of the Burgas

regional water company’s infrastructure.

Municipal infrastructure o State©B/1

Residential energy efficiency

credit line 30.1 30.1 0 30.14
Energy efficiency investment in Bank Bulgaria, DSK Bank,

Post Bank, Raiffeisen Bank and United Bulgarian Bank.

Bank lending o Private o FI

Sunny Travel EOOD 39.0 13.0 0 13.0

Completion of Hermitage Grand Hote! in Golden Sands.
Property and tourism ¢ Private © B/1

Svilosa Pulp Mill 28.0 18.0 0 18.0

Increase in production, improvements in energy efficiency
and compliance with EU environmental standards.
Manufacturing o Privateo B/1

Croatia

Karlovac waste-water
management 36.0 10.0 0 10.0
Construction of a waste-water treatment plant and

upgrade and extension of existing sewerage network.
Municipal infrastructure o State © B/0

Chelopech mining 39.6 8.5 0 8.5
Environmental improvements, refurbishment, modernisation and
expansion of the Chelopech Gold Copper mine and processing plant.
Natural resources o Privateo B/1

Port of Dubrovnik infrastructure

modernisation 33.7 26.5 0] 26.5
Extension of berth area in the port of Gruz, Dubrovnik,

to accommodate more and larger vessels.

Transporto StateoB/1




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equlty financing value loan equity financing
(€ miflion) (€ million} (€ million) {€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million} (€ million)
Czech Republic
EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility 20.0 20.0 0 20.0 Lomisi 5.9 3.0 0 3.0
Credit line to Deutsche Leasing Ceska and SG Equipment Finance Sub-loan to local brewery through TBC Bank.
for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses. Agribusiness o Private 0 Fl
Non-bank financial institutions o Private o Fi
Nola Ltd 1.3 1.3 0 1.3
. Sub-loan to a construction company through TBC Bank.
FYR Niacedonia Property and tourismo Private © Fi
Mittal Steel Skopje 25.0 25.0 0 25.0 TBC Bank 4.2 4.2 0 4.2
Working capital and energy efficiency investments. Credit line.
Manufacturing o Private © B/1 Bank lending o Private ¢ Fl
Western Balkans SME TBC Bank 8.5 8.5 0 8.5
Finance Facility 4.0 4.0 0 4.0 Credit line enabling the bank to increase
Credit line to Invest Banka for on-lending medium-term lending to SME sector.
to small and medium-sized businesses. Bank lending o Private ¢ Fi
Bank iending ¢ Private o FI
TBC Bank 17.8 5.9 0 5.9
Regional Trade Facilitation Syndicated loan to TBC Bank.
Programme 4.2 3.3 0 3.3 Bank lending o Private © FI
Support for foreign trade through Komercijalna Banka
and Tutunska Banka AD Skopje. TBC Leasing 2.5 25 0 25
Bank lending o Private o Fi Senior loan to one of Georgia’s first leasing companies.
Non-bank financial institutions o PrivatecoF
Georgia Thilisi public transport 3.2 31 0 31
- Financing of municipal bus network, including repair facilities
Bank of Georgia capital increase 0.8 0 0.8 0.8 and developing a regulatory framework.

Expansion of the bank’s lending business and
maintenance of regulatory capital adequacy.
Bank equity o Private o Fl

Municipal infrastructure o Private © B/1

Direct Investment Facility

Delidor 1.3 0.4 0.9 13

Financing the production of frozen fruits and vegetables.
Agribusiness o Private

Iberia Refreshments 2.3 1.0 0 i.o

Investment in Pepsi franchise.
Agribusiness o Private

Lomisi 2.5 0 2.5 2.5

Minority equity investment in Georgia’s second-largest brewery.
Agribusiness o Private

Regional Trade Facilitation

Programme 21.5 17.9 0 17.9
Support for foreign trade through Bank of Georgia,

TBC Bank and United Georgian Bank.

Bank lending o Private © Fi

Hungary

Georgian Wines & Spirits Ltd 7.9 6.2 0 6.2

Strengthening of the company’s position in regional markets.
Agribusiness o Private o C/0

EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility 28.0 28.0 V] 28.0

Credit line to Budapest Leasing, CIB Leasing,
Deutsche Leasing Hungaria and Merkantil for
on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Non-bank financial institutions o Private o Fl

Euroventures Hungary lll 23.0 0 5.0 5.0

Investment in a private equity fund.
Equity funds o Private o F|

Medium-sized Loan Co-financing Facility

Bank of Georgia 4.2 4.2 0 4.2

Credit line.
Bank lending o Private o Fi

M6 motorway 410.9 32.0 0 32.0

Financing of the M6 motorway on a design-build-finance-operate
basis under a public-private partnership scheme.
Transporto Private © A/Q

Winterthur Multi-project Facility 3.6 0 1.3 1.3

Equity investment in CSL&P Penztarzolgaltato life company.
Nen-bank financial institutions o Private ¢ FI




Profect EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equity flnancing value loan equity financing
(€ million) (€ miltion) (€ million) {€ million} (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million)
Kazakhstan
Accumulation Pension Fund 5.1 0 1.7 1.7 S_oufflet Multi-project Facility 11.1 0.8 0 0.8
Pre-privatisation eqguity investment. Investment in barley producer Maltings.
Non-bark financial institutions o State o F| Agribusiness o Private o B/1
Agricultural Commodity Tulpar 1l 12.7 5.1 o] 5.1
Financing Programme 70.0 60.9 0 60.9 Expansion of a residential compound in southern Kazakhstan.
Financing of agricultural commodities against warehouse receipts Property and tourism o Private © B/1
by ATF Bank, Bank Caspian and Bank Center Credit. - —
Agribusiness o Private o Fl Regional Trade Facilitation
Programme 78.5 69.1 o} 69.4

Agricultural equipment
financing 13.5 101 0
Financing for farmers, agribusiness companies and traders

to purchase or lease equipment, provided through Kazkommertsbank.
Agribusiness o Private o Fi

10.1

Bank Center Credit mortgage
finance facility 4.2 4.2 o] 4.2

For on-lending by the bank to individuals for purchase,
construction or refurbishment of their primary residences.
Bank lending o Private o FI

Support for foreign trade through ATF Bank, Bank Caspian,
Bank Center Credit, Bank Turan Alem and Kazkommertsbank.
Bank lending o Private o Fl

Kyrgyz Republic

Direct Lending Facility 0.8 0.8 6] 0.8

Revolving three-year working capital facility
for Cotton Corporation Limatex.
Agribusiness ¢ Private

BTA Ipoteka — mortgage loan Il 4.2 4.2 0 4.2
Credit line for on-lending to individuals for buying

and/or repairing properties.

Non-bank financial institutions o Private o Fl

Central Asia Cement 48.5 16.9 0 16.9

Expansion and modernisation of the Karaganda cement plant.
Manufacturing © Private 0 B/1

ETC Non-Bank Micro Finance
Institution Framework 2.8 2.2 0 2.2
Loans to Bai Tushum and Finca Micro credit company

for on-lending to micro and small enterprises.
Small business finance o Private o

Kazakhstan Small Business
Programme 1.7 1.7 0 1.7
Credit line to Kazakhstan Loan Fund for on-lending

to micro and small enterprises, focusing on agribusiness loans.
Small business finance o Private © Fl

Ineximbank 2.0 0 1.3 1.3

Equity investment in planned capital increase.
Bank equity o Private o Fl

Kyrgyz MSE Finance Facility 7.8 3.8 0 3.8

Credit lines to Ineximbank and Kazkommertsbank
“Kyrgyzstan” for on-lending to micro and small enterprises.
Small business finance © Private ¢ FI

Kazkommertshank capital

increase 11.4 0 3.9 3.9
Equity investment in bank.

Bank equity o Private o FI

Medium-sized Loan Co-financing
Facility 0.9 0.5 0 0.5

Sub-loan to Abdysh-Ata brewery through Kyrgyz Investment Credit Bank.
Agribusiness o Private o Fl

KEGOC: North-south

Raduga Il 13.5 5.1 0 5.1

Expansion of Raduga tourist resort at Issyk-Kul Lake.
Property and tourism o Private ©c B/1

power transmission 207.4 44.6 o] 44.8
Development of YukGres-Shu power transmission infrastructure.

Power and energyo StateoB/1

K-Mobile 84.5 42.3 0 42.3

Loan for network development and refinancing of short-term loans.
Telecommunications ¢ Private o C/1

Savola Kazakhstan 19.4 13.5 0 13.5

Expansion of crushing and refining facilities at edible oil producer.
Agribusiness o Privateo B/1

Regional Trade Facilitation .

Programme 1.5 1.5 0 1.8
Support for foreign trade through Ineximbank, JS Commercial Bank
“Kyrgyzstan” and Kyrgyz Investment and Commercial Bank.

Bank lending o Private o Fl




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equity financing value foan equlty financing
(€ million) (€ million) (€ miflion) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) {€ million} {€ million)
Latvia
Rietumu Banka 60.0 20.0 6] 20.0 ProCredit Moldova 1.7 1.7 0 1.7
Syndicated credit line for cn-lending Investment to provide access to financial services
to small and medium-sized businesses. for micro and small enterprises.
Bank lending o Private © Fl Small business finance o Private o Fi
Regional Trade Facilitation
Lithuania Programme 6.6 4.8 0 4.8
— — Support for foreign trade through Banca Sociala,
Siauliu Bankas credit line 12.0 5.0 0 5.0 Moldinconbank, Mobiasbanca and Victoria Bank.
Loan enabling Siauliu Bankas to expand its Bank lending © Private o FI
lending activity and implement its business plan.
Bank lending o Private © F|
Poland
Siauliu Bankas equity 6.7 0 6.7 6.7
Equity investment in bank providing important services Bank G°5"°d"_’"ki
to small and medium-sized businesses. Zywnosciowej (BGZ} 154.6 23.2 Y 23.2
Bank equity © Private o Fi Equity investment in bank.
Bank equity © Private o Fl
Molidova BPH Property Fund 12.4 12.4 0 12.4
- Creation of a fund to purchase medium-sized property
Banca Sociala 5.0 5.0 0 5.0 in Poland and other central European countries.
Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses. Property and tourism o Private o Fl
Bank lending o Private o Fl
Bydgoszcz Water revenue bond 240.2 41.5 0 41.5
Direct Investment Facility 27 1.3 1.4 2.7 Financing to enable consolidation and improvements
Capital increase for Orhei Vit to finance frozen fruit and to the water and sewerage system in Bydgoszcz.
vegetable production. Municipal infrastructure o State o C/0
Agribusiness o Private
Dalkia Litesko Il 7.5 0 7.5 7.5
ETC Non-Bank Micro Finance Additiona! equity financing for Dalkia Lodz for
Institution Framework 0.8 0.6 0 8.6 the acquisition of the district heating company.
Loan to Rural Finance Corporation for on-lending Energy efficiency © Private o C/1
to micro and small enterprises. ——— -
Small business finance o Private o Fl Danone Multi-project Facility 40.8 0 4.1 4.1
- Investment in LU Polska’s dairy, confectionery
Glass Container Company 6.3 2.1 0 2.1 and mineral water companies.
Medium-term loan to facilitate balance sheet restructuring. Agribusiness o Private o Fi
Agribusiness o Private o B/1
EU/EBRD Rural Finance Facility 5.0 5.0 0 5.0
Medium-sized Loan Co-financing Facility Loan to BW WBK Leasing for on-lending
Bucuria 2.2 0.7 0 0.7 to small and medium-sized businesses in rural areas.
Sub-loan to a local confectionery producer, through Victoria Bank. Non-bank financial institutions o Private o Fi
Agribusiness o Private o FI EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility 30.5 305 0 305
Mobiasbanca 2.5 25 0 2.5 Credit line to Bankowy Fundusz Leasingowy, Deutsche Leasing
. . N Polska S.A. Warszawa and Raiffeisen Leasing Polska Il
Credit line to finance sub-loans. ; . . .
Bank lending o Private o Fl for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Non-bank financial institutions o Private o Fi
Protos 0.8 0.4 0 0.4 ; N
Gliwice environmental
Loan for manufacturer of steel pipes co-financed with Victoria Bank. programme 70.1 15.0 0 15.0

Manufacturing o Private o Fi

Transfer of the Bank's existing loan from
the City of Gliwice to Gliwice PWIK.
Municipal infrastructure o Private ¢ B/0




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Profect EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equity financing value loan equity financing
{€ million) {€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ millian) (€ million) (€ million)
JWK 15.3 6.4 0 6.4 CFR rail traction 26.7 22.5 0 22.5
Investment in property development company. Priority investment in CFR traction energy company.
Property and tourism © Private © B/0 Transporto State © B/0
Kaufland Polska Markety 160.0 80.0 0 80.0 Constanta by-pass 211.5 144.2 Q 144.2
Support for strategic expansion of Kaufland discount hypermarket chain. Building and maintenance of the Constanta by-pass.
Agribusiness © Private © B/0 Transport o State o A/0
Krakow public transport commercialisation Distrigaz Sud 302.0 0 31.0 31.0
and financing 58.6 19.4 Y 194 Support for the privatisation of gas distribution company.
Investment in public transport infrastructure Power and energy o Privatec C/1
and rolling stock to improve services. -
Municipal infrastructure o State © B/0 Domenia Credit S.A. 8.9 5.4 0 5.4
Start-up of a specialised mortgage company.
Patnow iI 550.0 62.8 Y 62.8 Non-bank financial institutions © Private © Fl
Construction of a new unit at the ZE Pathow Adamow Konin S.A. (PAK),
a group of three lignite-fired power plants. Egger 127.0 61.0 0 €1.0
Power and energy ¢ Private © B/1 Construction of a chipboard plant.
Manufacturing © Private © B/0
Romania EU/EBRD Mortgage
Finance Facility 216 19.6 0 19.6
Arad urban transport programme  20.0 15.0 0 15.0 Credit facility to Alpha Bank Romania
Investment in public transport infrastructure and overall performance. for on-lending as medium/long-term loans.
Municipal infrastructure © State© B/0 Bank lending © Private © Fl
Banca Comerciala Romana EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility
mor.tgage loan Il 50.0 50.0 . 0 50.0 BCR Leasing 5.0 5.0 0 5.0
Se.”"’.' !oan to support devglopment of long-term lending Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
to individuals for property investment purposes. ) 2 )
. ) Non-bank financial institutions < Private o Fi
Bank lending © Private © Fl
Banca Post 98 5.8 o 5.8 CEC f?omama ‘ 10.0 :P0.0 _ 0 10.0
. Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Convertible oan. Bank lending © Private © Fl
Bank equity © Private o Fi g
Banca Romaneasca 53 0 53 5.3 IUa5| dl:trlctfheatmg g ) 31(54 . Jl.3.0 0 13.0
Lo . pgrading of municipal district heating distribution.
Equity investment to maintain 10 per cent stake. A o
Bank equity© Private o Fi Municipal infrastructure o State©B/1
Banca Transilvania 2.2 0 2.2 2.2 M'chlelr"_' Ronf!ama ) 136 M'1.5 i 0 1.5
Investment to provide additional capital to maintain growth. &C:nul;?;:z&;gi I:gs;g;eé}wikmg company by Michelin.
Bank equity © Private © Fl
Post Privatisation Fund 0.3 0 0.2 0.2
Brasov urban transport - .
city loan 18.0 10.0 o) 10.0 Investment in medium-sized private and privatised enterprises.
i i o)
Upgrading of streets located along Equity funds © Private © B/1
major public transport routes in the city. ProCredit Bank Romania 12.4 3.1 0 3.1
Municipal infrastructure o State © B/1 Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Brasov urban transport - Small business finance © Private © Fl
company loan 18.0 10.0 0 10.0

Purchase of 130 new buses and a street upgrading programme.
Municipal infrastructure © Stateo B/1




Praject EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Praject EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equity financing value loan equity financing
(€ milion) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ milion) (€ milion)  {€ million)
Regional operating company - Credit Bank of Moscow 8.5 8.5 0 8.5
Apa Soames 38.0 7.2 0 7.2 Credit line for on-lending to local private sector
Laying the foundations for a regional water operator small and medium-sized businesses.
to promote sustainability. Bank lending © Private o Fl
Municipal infrastructure © StateoB/1
DeltaCredit rouble mortgage loan 8.8 8.8 Q 8.8
Sibiu urban. transport Loan for financing rouble-denominated mortgages.
pre-accession 17.8 15.0 0 180  non-bank financial institutions o Private © Fl
Investment to improve key infrastructure including - -
street refurbishment and public lighting. DeltaCredit ~ syndicated loan 38.0 127 0 12.7
Municipal infrastructure © State ¢ B/0 Loan to expand the bank’s mortgage loan portfolio.
Non-bank financial institutions o Private © Fi
Stirom 15.8 10.0 0 10.0
Refurbishment of Stirom glassworks. Deltaleasing 21 2.1 0 2.1
Agribusiness o Private o B/1 Loan to support teasing sector for small and
- - medium-sized businesses in the Russian Far East and Siberia.
Tnuva Romania Dairies 49.9 Y 9.6 9.6 Non-bank financial institutions o Private ¢ FI
Development of a dairy complying with EU standards, - —
milk farm and livestock feeding centre. Direct Investment Facility
Agribusiness o Private © B/1 Firestop 0.8 0.4 0 0.4
Tnuva Romania Milk 5.1 0 1.0 1.0 Financing for flamg retardant manufacturer.
Construction of a fresh dairy production plant. Manufacturing  Private
Agribusinesso Private © B/1 Intellikraft 22.1 0 0.3 0.3
Financing of pilot production of new type of battery.
Russia Manufacturing © Private
Air Liquide - Severstal JV 1030  36.0 0 3gg  Europlan sy"d'“s'te" loan 838 112 o 12
. . ; Loan to leading SME leasing company.
Construction and management of an industrial Non-bank finar%cial institutiognso P?iva{eo Fl
gas facility for Severstal steel making.
Manufacturing o Private © B/1 Europlan 85 8.5 0 8.5
BD Logistics 23.3 7.0 3.6 10.6 Second loan to leading provider of financial leases
) . to small and medium-sized businesses.
Development, construction and operation of two Non-bank financial institutions o Private © Fl
international-standard warehouses near Moscow.
Property and tourismo Private © B/1 Gallery 15.2 12.7 0 12.7
Belaya Kalitva Metallurgical Equity financing for outdoor advertising company.
Association 25.4 16.9 0 16.9 Telecommunications o Private o C/1
Environmental and modernisation programme Gallery - equity 40.7 0 4.1 4.1
for two rolling mills acquired by Alcoa Inc. , .
. . Ordinary shares in Rapsod Ltd (BVI) (Gallery HoldCo).
Manufacturing o Private o B/1 Telecommunications © Private© C/1
Botr'ﬂa - SVIB . 65.0 22.5 0 ‘ 22.5 Hansabank Russia equity
’f\’/‘artlafl fmaqcmgpfqr the cgncs)tructlon and start-up of a new sawmill, investment 12.9 0 12.9 12.9
o ()
anufacturing o Private o B/ Eguity investment to support capital increase
Center-Invest Bank equity and extension of operations.
investment I| 41 0 41 4.1 Bank equityo Private o Fl
Subscription to newly issued shares. High River Gold 10.7 0 10.7 10.7

Bank equity© Private o Fi

Equity stake in High River Gold, a gold mining company.
Natural resources © Private © B/0O




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Tota! EBRD
value Toan equity financing value loan equlty financing
(€ mitlion) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ miltion) {€ million) (€ million)
Impex Bank SME credit line 16.9 16.9 0 18.9 Regional Venture Funds 7.6 ¢} 7.6 7.6
Expansion of lending to private sector Equity investments in medium-sized enterprises
small and medium-sized businesses. in central and nerth-west Russia and west Siberia.
Bank lending o Private © Fl Equity funds o Private o Fl
International Moscow Bank 8.1 0 8.1 8.1 Renaissance Capital Bank
Equity investment in bank. rouble loan 247 247 0 24.7
Bank equity © Private © Fl Loan to finance the portfolio of consumer loans.
Non-bank financial institutions © Private © FI
Locko Bank SME credit line 8.5 8.5 0 8.5
Credit line for lending to small and medium-sized businesses. Roshank 26.5 26.5 0 26.8
Bank lending © Private © Fl Credit line providing long-term mortgage loans.
Bank lending © Private © F
Mortgage Framework 1.7 1.7 0 1.7
Support for NBD's mortgage lending activity. RSB securitisation 144.0 8.5 Y 8.5
Bank lending © Private © Fl Investment to enable consumer lending.
Non-bank financial institutions © Private © Fi
Mosenergo post-restructuring
loan 211.8 85.3 0 85.3 Russia - Federal Grid Company
Loan to Mosenergo Generaticn Company. modernisation 1471 147.1 0 1471
Power and energy o Private © B/1 Rouble financing for modernisation of the company’s infrastructure.
Power and energy © Stateo B/1
News CIS 163.1 33.8 0 33.8
Senior secured loan to facilitate creation Russia Small Business Fund 8.7 6.7 0 6.7
of a pan-regional outdoor advertising network. Credit line to FORUS and Uralvneshtorgbank for on-lending
Telecommunications © Private © C/1 to small and medium-sized businesses.
Small business finance © Private ¢ Fl
000 Pfleiderer 77.0 32.0 0 32.0
Establishment of a chipboard production facility in Podberezie. Sain.t Gobainfackaging
Manufacturing ¢ Private © B/0O Regional Facility 9.3 0 1.9 1.9
Modernisation of Sitall's glass packaging plant.
Piter Raduga shopping mall 125.0 32.5 0 32.5 Agribusiness o Private © B/1
Development of shopping centre in St Petersburg.
Property and tourism o Private © B/1 Samara Metallurgical Plant 38.0 25.4 o] 25.4
- Modernisation and upgrade of two aluminium plants.
Primsots Bank 2.6 2.6 0 2.6 Manufacturing © Private © B/1
Investment to support SME lending programme.
Bank lending © Private o F Sibacadembank 13.4 o] 12.4 12.4
Equity investment in bank.
Promsvyazbank SME credit line 25.4 25.4 0 25.4 Bank equity © Private o FI
Loan for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending o Private o Fi Soufflet Multi-project Facility 14.4 0.2 0 0.2
Investment in Zerno, a barley processor.
Promsvyazbank subordinated loan 44.1 44.1 ¢} 44.1 Agribusiness © Private o B/1
Credit line to support SME lending activities in the regions.
Bank {endingo Private o Fl Spurt Bank SME credit line 8.2 8.2 0 8.2
- - - Loan for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses
Quadriga Capital Russia operating in the Republic of Tatarstan.
Private Equity Fund Il 68.0 0 33.0 33.0 Bank lending o Private © FI
Investment in private equity fund.
Equity funds o Private © FI St Petersburg Northern Waste Water
Treatment Plant Incinerator 54.5 20.0 0 20.0

Construction of a sludge incinerator to reduce sludge disposal problem.

Municipal infrastructure © StateoB/1




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equity financing value loan equity financing
(€ million) (€ mitlion) (€ million) {€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million}
Serbia and Montenegro
Sumitomo Leasing 1.8 1.8 0 1.8 Agricultural Commodity
Lease financing for Russian companies Finance Programme 277 7.0 0 7.0
modernising their construction and mining machinery. Working capital financing for SFIR, a sugar processing company.
Manufacturing © Private © Fl Agribusiness o Private © Fl
Surgut municipal services Belgrade to Novi Sad
development programme 28.7 8.8 (o] 8.8 motorway 211.4 72.0 0 72.0
Investment in municipal water Upgrading of a 65 km section of road from Belgrade
and district heating infrastructure in Surgut. to Novi Sad and construction of a bridge across the Danube.
Municipal infrastructure ¢ State ¢ B/0 Transporto State©A/0
Toyota Russia 164.3 24.0 0 24.0 Future air traffic management modernisation
Construction of autometive assembly plant. and upgrading system 1119 335 0 335
Manufacturing © Private ¢ B/O Modernisation of the Belgrade and Podgorica air traffic
control centres and corresponding infrastructure.
Transcapitalbank 4.2 4.2 0 4.2 Transport © State © B/O
Credit line for the development of the bank's mortgage lending.
Bank iending © Private o Fi GTC House Belgrade 14.9 6.4 0 6.4
Construction, letting and management of an office development.
Transcapitalbank SME credit line 8.5 8.5 0 8.5 Property and tourism © Private © B/1
Senior loan for on-lending to private sector
small and medium-sized businesses. GTC House Belgrade Ii 234 8.2 0 8.2
Bank lending o Private o Fl Increase of GTC House loan and financing
- of a new office complex in Belgrade.
Ufa Glass Packaging Plant 54.9 13.7 0 13.7 Property and tourism © Private © B/1
Construction of a plant near Ufa. -
Agribusiness o Private © B/1 Montenegro regional
road upgrading 14.1 11.5 0 11.5
Vena restructuring and expansion 21.8 14.8 Y i4.8 Improvements to infrastructure and safety of Montenegrin roads.
Restructuring and expansion of Vena brewery. Transporto StateoB/1
Agribusiness o Private© B/1
ProCredit Bank Serbia 18.8 6.7 0 6.7
Vestel 2 - white goods production 67.6 23.7 0 23.7 Participation in a capital increase.
Construction of a white goods production facility. Small business finance ¢ Private © FI
Manufacturing © Private © B/O
SBB 8.7 4.8 0 4.8
V-Lazer 17.2 75 0 7.5 Expansion of telecommunications network,
Construction and start-up cost of four new Telecommunications © Private © C/1
white goods stores in Russia’s Far East. - - -
Manufacturing © Private © B/O Sevojno Rolling Mill 30.1 14.0 0 14.0
- - Modernisation and construction of new equipment
Regional Trade Facilitation to improve capacity, efficiency and quality of operations.
Programme 186.2 186.2 0 186.2 Manufacturing o Private © C/1
Support for foreign trade through Absolut Bank, Bank UralSib,
Center-Invest Bank, Chelindbank, Credit Bank of Moscow, Impexbank, US/EBRD SME Finance Facility 2.0 1.8 0 18
Locko Bank, NBD Bank, Orgresbank, Probusinessbank, Promsvyazbank, Credit line to Alter Modus for on-lending to micro,
Rosbank, Russian Standard Bank, Savings Bank of Russia (Sbherbank), small and medium-sized enterprises.
Sibacadembank, TransCapitalBank, Uraltransbank, Uralvneshtorgbank, Small business finance © Private © Fl
Vneshtorgbank and Yughank. - -
Bank lending © Private © F) VB Serbia equity 6.7 0 1.2 1.2
Equity investment in existing bank alongside Volksbank.
Bank equity ¢ Private © Fl
VB Serbia 10.0 10.0 0 10.0

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.

Bank lending © Private © Fi




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value foan equity financing value loan equity financing
{€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ miltion) (€ miltion) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million)
Tajikistan
Western Balkans SME Eskhata Bank 1.5 0 0.8 0.8
Finance Facility 0.7 0.5 0 0.5 Equity investment.
Credit line to Kasabank for on-lending Bank equity © Private ¢ FI
to small and medium-sized businesses.
Eskhata Bank 2.1 2.1 0 2.1

Bank lending © Private © Fl

Regional Trade Facilitation

Programme 1.9 1.9 0 1.9
Support for foreign trade through Cacanska Banka,

Eksimbanka, Euromarket Banka and Raiffeisen Bank.

Bank lending© Private © FI

Slovak Republic

EU/EBRD Rural Finance Facility 5.0 5.0 o] 5.0
Credit line to Unibanka for on-lending to rural

small and medium-sized businesses.

Bank lending © Private © FI

EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility 4.0 3.0 0 3.0
Credit line to Unibanka for on-lending to

small and medium-sized businesses.

Bank lending © Private © Fi

Istrobanka SME credit line 10.0 10.0 o] 10.¢

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending © Private © Fi

Kronospan Slovakia MDF facility 93.5 14.5 0 14.5

Construction of a MDF production plant.
Manufacturing © Private© B/1

Post Privatisation Fund 3.1 ¢} 0.8 0.8

Equity fund supperting financial and operational
restructuring of medium-sized enterprises
Equity funds © Private© Fl

Slovenia

EU/EBRD Rural Finance Facility 7.0 7.0 0 7.0

Credit line to SKB Leasing for on-lending
to small and medium-sized businesses in rural areas.
Non-bank financial institutions @ Private © Fi

EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility

HVB Leasing 5.0 5.0 0 5.0

Credit line for on-lending tc small and medium-sized businesses.
Non-bank financial institutions © Private © Fl

Volksbank Ljudska Slovenia 7.0 7.0 0 7.0

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending © Private © FI

Global Environmental Facility 13.7 10.0 0 10.0

Loan to Bank Austria Creditanstalt Slovenia, NLB and Volksbank
for on-lending to projects reducing water pollution in the Danube River.
Bank lending © Private © Fi

Loan for on-lending to micro and small enterprises.
Small business finance © Private© FI

ETC Non-Bank Micro Finance
Institution Framework 0.8 0.8 0 0.8

Loan to IMON for on-lending to micro and small enterprises.
Small business finance © Private o FI

Micro and Small Enterprise

Finance Facility 1.7 1.7 0 1.7
Credit line to Agroinvest for on-lending to micro and small enterprises.
Small business finance © Private © FI

TSA air fleet upgrade 6.3 4.2 0 4.2

Financing for pre-operation costs and an aviation consultant.
Transport© Stateo C/1

Regional Trade Facilitation

Programme 8.0 8.0 o] 8.0
Support for foreign trade through Agroinvest Tajikistan,

Eskhata Bank, Tajprombank and TSOB Tajikistan.

Bank lending © Private © Fl

Turkmenistan

Direct Investment Facility 1.5 0.8 o] 0.8

Loan to TMS Wool to cover cost overruns
and shortfall of working capital.
Manufacturing © Private

Ukraine

ADM-Risoil Ukraine 17.2 17.2 0 17.2

Construction of a new edible oil crushing facility.
Agribusiness © Private© C/1

Bunge Pre/Post Harvest

Financing Facility 152.2 33.8 0 33.8
Working capital financing of leading edible oil plant.

Agribusiness © Private© C/1

Chumak |l 30.0 20.5 0 20.5
Long-term secured loan to food producer

to modernise and expand existing facilities.

Agribusiness © Private© B/1

Direct Investment Facility 0.7 0.7 0 0.7

Loan to Ukram Industries to develop nitrogen
conditioning system for refrigerated transport.
Manufacturing © Private




Profect EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equity financlng value loan equity financing
(€ milign) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ milion) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million)
Dnipropetrovsk municipal water Raiffeisen Ukraine mortgage
and waste water 30.5 20.0 0 20.0 credit line 8.5 4.2 0 4,2
Loan to improve operational and financial performance Mortgage credit line.
of municipal and waste-water services. Bank lending o Private @ Fl
Municipal infrastructure © State ©B/1
Soufflet Multi-project Facility
Euroventurels Ukrélne 0] 63.4 0 211 21.1 ACL 2004 Slavuta 5.8 20 0 20
Investment in a private equity fund. Investment in barley producer
Equity funds o Private o Fl Agribusiness o Private ¢ B/1
ga"falftf°g?j? - ooty 21d O 21 e ACL 05 5.1 5.1 0 5.1
artia “’? ing for the ‘reclonstructlon, . Acquisition, refurbishment and expansion of malting plant.
construction and acquisition of petrol stations. Agribusiness o Private © 8/1
Natural resources ©Private 0 B/1 8
Kiev-Chop road upgrading 1380  100.0 o 1000  Toepfer Ukraine 1374 845 0 845
Upgrading of the MO6 Kiev-Chop road and further reform Transport, storage and export of agricultural commodities,
o ) ) ) or sale and supply to leading local food processors.
of road sector administration and financing. Agribusiness o Private © C/0
Transport o State cB/0 g
R . Ukraine Micro Lending
KredlltpvromeME |cre:.It line 8.5 ' ?.5 ' 0 8.5 Programme Il 11.8 11.8 0 11.8
Credit Ime} or onien ing to small and medium-sized businesses. Credit line to Forum Bank and Kreditprombank
Bank lending o Private o Fl ) )
for on-lending to small enterprises.
Kredyt Bank Ukraina Small business finance o Private OFl
g’“:g‘:ge j’ed't line 83 8.5 ° 85 Ukraine SME Lending Framework  17.0  17.0 0 170
redit line for mortgages. L I ) )
Bank lending o Private o FI Credit line to Agrq Banbf and Forum Bank for long-term financing
of small and medium-sized businesses.
Malteurop 25.2 5.2 0 5.2  BanklendingoPrivate oF|
Expansion and renovation of existing malting plant UKrESCO II 8.5 8.5 0 8.5
and construction of a second plant. Second loan to state-owned energy service company.
Agribusiness © Private ©B/1 Energy efficiency © State © C/0
fdessa "'g“'vg":,gzg"l" upgrade 258  25.8 O 258 Ukmichflot I - follow-on loan 423 110 0 110
Pgm:‘;#g%ﬁ; ggs:(\;ct)etig:/gnd. Finance for part of the acquisition costs of five new dry cargo buildings.
gy Transport o Private ©¢B/1
Post Privatisation Fund 7.3 0 4.4 4.4

Equity and equity-related investment
in medium-sized enterprises through Euroventures Ukraine.
Equity funds o Private o Fl

Regional Trade Facilitation
Programme 43.4 43.4 0

Support for foreign trade through Avai Bank, Forum Bank,
Hypovereinsbank Ukraine, Kreditprombank, Kredyt Bank Ukraina,
Raiffeisen Bank Ukraine.

Bank lending o Private o Fl

43.4




Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD Project EBRD EBRD  Total EBRD
value loan equlty financing value Ioan equlty financing
{€ million) {€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ miflion) (€ million) (€ million} (€ million)
Uzbekistan
Bayteks 237 6.8 0 6.8 Lukoil Overseas:
Establishment of a modern textile plant. South Caucasus gas pipeline 92.1 59.2 0 §9.2
Manufacturing o Private ©B/1 Completion of the pipeline in Azerbaijan and Georgia.
Natural resources o Private ©C/1
Direct Lending Facility
Minsk retail network 24.9 10.7 0 10.7

Berad Agro 1.0 0.5 0 0.5

Support for dried fruit and vegetable producer.
Agribusiness © Private

Development of three modern retail outlets in Belarus and Lithuania.
Agribusiness ¢ Private © B/0

Mekhnat Pivo 3.1 2.8 0 2.8

Loan to help increase current production capacity of a brewery.
Agribusiness o Private

ORCO Aparthotels 35.0 3.8 ¢} 3.8

Regional expansion of ORCO’s apartment/hotel business in the
Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Serbia and
Montenegro, Slovak Republic and Ukraine.

Property and tourism o Private cB/0

Unitel 25.4 25.4 0 25.4
Equity investment to finance the acquisition of Unitel.
Telecommunications © Private © C/0

Regional

Argus Capital Partners Il 30.0 0 30.0 30.0

Successor fund to Argus Capital Partners |, working in Bosnia and
Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, FYR Macedonia,
Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Serbia and Montenegro,
Slovak Republic and Slovenia.

Equity funds o Private o Fl

SG AM Eastern Europe L.P. 30.0 0 30.0

Investment in consumer services and manufacturing in Bulgaria,
Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland,
Romania, Slovak Republic and Slovenia.

Equity funds o Private o Fl

30.0

SigmaBleyzer Southeast European

Emerging Europe Convergence

Fund 1l 60.0 ¢} 80.0 60.0
Private equity fund to invest in the markets of Bulgaria,

Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania,

Poland, Romania, Russia, Slovak Republic, Slovenia and Ukraine.
Equity funds c Private o Fl

Global Property Fund 125.0 0 30.0 30.0
Equity investment in property in Bulgaria, Romania

and Serbia and Montenegro.

Property and tourism o Private © Fl

Lesaffre 110.8 0 22.2 22.2

Equity investment in Russian and Ukrainian subsidiaries
of this French yeast producer.
Agribusiness o Private cB/1

Fund IV CV 50.0 ¢} 50.0 50.0
Private equity fund investing in Bulgaria, Romania and Ukraine,

Equity funds ©Private o Fl

Southeast Europe Equity Fund Il 42.3 0 42.3 42.3
Equity fund investing in private funds in Albania,

Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Hungary,

Romania, Serbia and Montenegro and Slovenia.

Equity funds o Private o Fl

Véolia Transport

(formerly Connex) 198.0 0 71.0 71.0

Equity funding to expand transport services in the Czech Republic,
Hungary, Poland and Slovenia.
Municipal infrastructure o Private ©C/1




The EBRD provides training opportunities
for all staff and encourages flexibility in the
workforce. Over 3,500 days of training were

undertaken in 2005.

Staffing

The EBRD encourages staff to pursue career opportunities

in various departments at Headquarters or in our local offices
to develop their work skills. By promoting mobility within the
workplace, the Bank builds greater fiexibility in the workforce
to meet evolving business needs.

At the end of December 2005, the EBRD's London-recruited
staff totalled 969, compared with 965 in 2004. Locally hired
staff in the Bank’s Resident Offices totalled 234, compared
with 237 the previous year. The ratio of male/female
professional staff in the EBRD is approximately 1.63:1.

The Bank actively seeks to recruit staff from a variety

of backgrounds to achieve a multinational and diverse
workforce. A total of 56 nationalities are represented

among the Bank’s staff.

Organisational changes

To ensure that the EBRD is able to evaluate its activities
with full independence, the reporting structure of the
Project Evaluation Department (PED) was changed

in 2005. The department now reports directly to the
Bank’s Board of Directors and is known as the Evaluation
Department. Its director's title has been changed to
Chief Evaluator.

A new Business Group Director position for Portfolio
Monitoring was created in 2005. The Director assesses
portfolio risks and provides advice on any action that needs
to be taken to deal with potential problems. The new position
emphasises the importance of monitoring the Bank’s
growing portfolio.

In May 2005 the Controller’'s Department was established.
The department reports to the Vice President, Finance.
This change was undertaken to ensure that the structure
of the Bank reflects the latest best practice in

financial management.

Changes in senior management

Since Noreen Doyle resigned from her post as First Vice
President, Banking, in August 2005, Steven Kaempfer,
Vice President, Finance, has been the Acting First Vice
President, Banking. In April 2006, Vare! Freeman, currently
a managing partner at Baring Private Equity Partners,

was appointed as First Vice President of the EBRD,

as of 1 June 2006.

Brigita Schmégnerova was appointed Vice President, Human
Resources and Administration. Mrs Schmdgnerova joined
the EBRD in September from the United Nations Economic

Organisation
and staffing




Commission for Europe. Prior to this, she was Finance
Minister and Deputy Prime Minister in the Slovak Republic.

Horst Reichenbach took up the post of Secretary General
in August after a distinguished career at the European
Commission, most recently as the Director General of
Enterprise and Industry.

The Bank’s Chief Economist, Willem Buiter, left the Bank in
August to return to academia. Erik Berglof, formerly Director
of the Stockholm Institute of Transition Economics and
Professor at the Stockholm School of Economics, became
the Bank’s new Chief Economist in January 2006.

Training

In 2005 the EBRD continued to help managers within

the Bank develop their management skills. Following the
successful launch of the new management development
programme, over one-third of the Bank's managers have
attended one of the training courses, which are tailored to
the specific needs of the Bank's various management levels.
Another important training objective in 2005 was to raise
staff awareness of the Bank's retirement pians, which
underwent a number of changes last year. More than half

of EBRD staff attended retirement seminars at Headquarters
and in our regional offices. Overall, a total of 3,657 days

of training were undertaken in 2005.

Working safely

The EBRD undertook a review of many of its health and
safety programmes in 2005. As a result, the Bank introduced
a number of changes, including improvements to the range
of medical programmes offered to staff and improved
procedures for assessing the health risks faced by

pregnant staff travelling on business.

Two new online training courses wetre developed, covering
first aid training (as a follow-up to classroom teaching) and
fire evacuation procedures. These courses will be rolled out
in early 2006. They build on the successful implementation
of earlier courses covering computer use and basic travel
security. In addition, the EBRD introduced a series of travel
safety lectures to remind staff of the need to take care when
travelling on business.

The EBRD decided to end the practice of allowing smoking in
a specially designated area of the Bank. The new non-smoking
policy came into effect at the start of 2006. A series of
courses has been offered to help staff who wish to give

up smoking.

In the wake of the London terrorist bomb attacks in July

2005, a review of crisis procedures was undertaken. Following
this, the EBRD introduced a new enquiry line for close relatives
to improve communication after major incidents. The Bank
also introduced an enhanced roll-call system to locate all
staff following such incidents. In another area of crisis
management, the EBRD developed a contingency plan for
dealing with the possible effects of a bird flu pandemic and
established a working group to keep the issue under review.

Working environment

In 2005 the EBRD began an extensive refurbishment of its
London headquarters building. The focus of the work is on
ensuring that the Bank's systems, such as ventilation,
building management, lighting and security, meet current UK
building and health and safety standards, thereby creating a
more effective working environment. Construction work will
result in a building that is more energy efficient, meaning less
expensive operating costs. The project is scheduled for
completion in early 2007.
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President

Jean Lemierre

Banking
First Vice President

(Acting) Steven Kaempfer

(As of 1 June 2006) Varel Freeman

Front Office

Strategic and Corporate Pianning and Budgeting
(joint report to Finance)

Operations Committee Secretariat
Business Development

Corporate Recovery
(joint report to Risk Management)

Energy and Telecommunications

Business Group Director

Natural Resources

Power and Energy Utilities
Telecommunications, Informatics and Media

Energy Efficiency and Climate Change Initiative
Corporate Director
Director, Energy Efficiency

Financial institutions

Business Group Director

Bank Equity

Bank Lending

Equity Funds

Non-bank Financial institutions
Equity Support

Infrastructure

Business Group Director

Municipal and Environmental Infrastructure
Transport

Monitoring
Business Group Director

Advanced Transition Countries and Specialised Industries
Business Group Director

Poland and the Baltic states (Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania)
(Warsaw office)

Czech Republic, Hungary, Slovak Republic and Slovenia
(Bratislava office)

Croatia (Zagreb office)
Agribusiness
Property and Tourism

Early and Intermediate Transition Countries
Business Group Director

Ukraine (Kiev office)

Serbia and Montenegro (Belgrade office)

Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, FYR Macedonia, Kosovo
Romania (Bucharest office)

Bulgaria (Sofia office)

Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia and Moldova
Central Asia

Kazakhstan (Almaty office)

Early Transition Countries (ETC) Initiative

Group for Small Business

Private Equity

TurnAround Management Group

Russia

Business Group Director

Deputy Director (Corporate Sector)

Deputy Director (Financial Institutions)
Deputy Director (Energy and Infrastructure)

Josué Tanaka

Frederic Lucenet
Bruno Balvanera
Will Newton

Peter Reiniger

Kevin Bortz

Tony Marsh

(Acting) David Cooper

Josué Tanaka
Jacquelin Ligot

Kurt Geiger

(Acting) Kurt Geiger
Jean-Marc Peterschmitt
Kanako Sekine
Jonathan Wooliett
Lindsay Forbes

Alexander Auboeck
Thomas Maier
Riccardo Puliti

Gavin Anderson

Alain Pilloux
Malgorzata Kolakowska

Vacant
Charlotte Ruhe

Hans Christian Jacobsen

llaria Benucci

Olivier Descamps
Kamen Zahariev

Dragica Pilipovic-Chaffey

Claudio Viezzoli
Hildegard Gacek
John Chemel-Doe
Michael Davey
Masaru Honma
André Kliisvek
George Krivicky
Chikako Kuno
Urmas Paavel
Charlotte Salford

Alain Pilloux
Eric Rasmussen
Nick Tesseyman

Vacant

Finance
Vice President

Treasury

Treasurer

Deputy Treasurer and Head of Funding
Client Risk Management

Investment — Credit

Balance Sheet Management

Strategic and Corporate Planning and Budgeting
Corporate Director

Commercial Co-financing
Director

Controller's Department
Controller

Financial Control

Funds Financial Control
Treasury Financial Control

COSO0 and Operational Risk Management
{joint report to Risk Management)

Operaticns Banking
Operations Treasury and Cash Management
Independent Middle Office

Information Technology
Director

Steven Kaempfer

Axel van Nederveen
Isabelle Laurent
Grant Metcalfe-Smith
Neil Calder

George Hatjoulis

Josué Tanaka

Lorenz Jorgensen

Nigel Kerby

David Bleakney

Teresa Godwin-Coombs
Terry Cullen

Julie Williams

Mark Smith
Chris Swinchatt
Eric Koh!

Tim Goldstone

Risk Management
Vice President

Risk management

Director

Credit/Transaction Analysis
Treasury Risk Management
Credit Portfolio Review

Corporate Recovery
(foint report to Banking)

Operational Risk

Environment
Director

Nuclear Safety
Director

Official Co-financing
Director

Fabrizio Saccomanni

Michael Williams
David Klingensmith
Jean-André Scrasio

Irena Postlova
Will Newton

Julie Williams

Alistair Clark

Vince Novak

Gary Bond




Human Resources and Administration Office of the Chief Compliance Officer

Vice President Brigita Schmdgnerova Chief Compliance Officer Enery Quinones

Human Resources
Director

Assistant Director
Assistant Directer

Administration, Procurement and Consultancy Services

Corporate Director

Director of Administration
Director of Procurement
Head of Consultancy Services

Paolo Gallo
Susan Clyne
Ingrid de Wee

Chris Holyoak
John McNess
Maurice Lepage
Diiek Macit

Internal Audit
Head of internal Audit

(Acting) Ray Portelli

Communications
Director

Brigid Janssen

Office of the Secretary General
Secretary General

Deputy Secretary General
Assistant Secretary General

Horst Reichenbach
Nigel Carter
Colm Lincoln

Evaluation Department

Chief Evaluator
(reports to Board of Directors)

Fredrik Korfker

Office of the Chief Economist
Chief Economist

Deputy Chief Economist and Director, Transition Strategy

and Country Analysis

Director, Policy Studies and Sector Strategy
Director, Project Design and Appraisal

Erik Berglof

Steven Fries
Sam Fankhauser
José Carbajo

Office of the General Counsel
General Counsel

Deputy General Counsel

Deputy General Counsel
Assistant General Counsel

Operations Administration Unit
Head of Unit

Records Management and Archives
Head of Unit

Emmanuel Maurice
Gerard Sanders
Norbert Seiler
Stephen Petri

Lieve Reckers

Anne Crétal

President’s Office

Adviser to the President

Alexandre Draznieks
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Member Governor Alternate
Afbania Genc Ruii -

Armenia Vardan Khachatryan Tigran Sargsyan
Australia Peter Costelio Bruce Billson
Austria Karl-Heinz Grasser Kurt Bayer
Azerbaijan Heydar Babayev Avaz Alekperov
Belarus Viagimir Semashko Nikolal Zaichenko
Belgium Didier Reynders Jean-Pierre Arnoldi
Bosnia and Herzegovina Mladen Ivani¢ Jusuf Kumalig
Bulgaria Plamen Oresharski Dimitar Kostov
Canada Ratph Goodale Peter Harder
Croatia tvan Suker Ana Hrastovi¢
Cyprus Michael Sarris Christos Patsalides
Czech Republic Bohuslav Sobotka Zdengk Tuma
Denmark Bendt Bendtsen Michael Dithmer
Egypt Fayza Aboulnaga Hassan Khedr
Estonia Aivar Séerd Aare Jéarvan
Finland Eero Heindluoma Pekka Lintu

FYR Macedonia Nikola Popovski Fatmir Besimi
France Thierry Breton Xavier Musca
Georgia Alexei Alexishvili Roman Gotsiridze
Germany Peer Steinbrick Thomas Mirow
Greece George Alogoskoufis George Mergos
Hungary Janos Veres Géza Egyed
lceland Valgerdur Sverrisdéttir Baldur Pétursson
Ireland Brian Cowen Tom Considine
Israel Stanley Fischer Yossi Bachar
ltaly Giulio Tremonti Ignazio Angeloni
Japan Sadakazu Tanigaki Toshihiko Fukui
Kazakhstan Arman Dunayev Anvar Saidenov

Korea, Republic of

Duck Soo Han

Seung Park

Kyrgyz Republic

Almazabek Atambaev

Ulan Sarbanov

Latvia

Oskars Spurdzins

Juris Lujans

Liechtenstein

Klaus Tschitscher

Roland Marxer

Lithuania Zigmantas Balytis Ramuné Vilija Zabuliene
Luxembourg Jean-Claude Juncker Jean Guill

Maita Tonio Fenech Michael Bonello
Mexico Francisco Gil Diaz Alonso Garcia Tamés
Moldova Valeriu Lazar Dumitru Ursu
Mongolia Norov Altankhuyag Ochirbatyn Chuluunbat
Morocco Fathallah Oualalou Abdeltif Loudyi
Netherlands Gerrit Zalm Bernard Bot

New Zealand Phil Goff Jonathan Hunt

Norway Kristin Halvorsen Karin Yrvin

Poland Leszek Balcerowicz Zbiginiew Dynak
Portugal Fernando Teixeira dos Santos Carlos Costa Pina
Romania Sebastian Teodor Gheorghe Vladescu Mugur Isarescu

Russian Federation

German Gref

Sergey Storchak

Serbia and Montenegro

Mladjan Dinki¢

Igor Luks3i¢

Slovak Republic

Ivan Miklo§

Ivan Sramko

Slovenia Andrej Bajuk Andrej Kavtic

Spain Pedro Solbes Mira David Vegara Figueras
Sweden Pé&r Nuder Jens Henriksson
Switzerland Joseph Deiss Oscar Knapp

Tajikistan Abdujabor Shirinov Mirali Sabdalievich Naimov
Turkey Ibrahim Ganakci Cavit Dagdas
Turkmenistan - Guvanchmurad Geoklenov
Ukraine Victor Pynzenyk Volodymyr Stelmakh

United Kingdom

Gordon Brown

Hilary Benn

United States

John W Snow

Earl Anthony Wayne

Uzbekistan

Rustam Sadykovich Azimov

Sabir Khasanov

European Community

Joaquin Aimunia

Klaus Regling

European nvestment Bank

Philippe Maystadt

Wolfgang Roth

Chairman of the Board of Governors

Governor for the Netherlands
(Gerrit Zalm)

Vice Chairmen of the Board
of Governors

Governor for Switzerland
(Joseph Deiss)
Governor for Ukraine
(Victor Pynzenyk)

All the powers of the EBRD are vested
in the Board of Governors. The Board
of Governors has delegated many of its
powers to the Board of Directors, which
is responsible for the direction of the
general operations of the Bank and,
among other activities, establishes
policies and takes decisions concerning
loans, equity investments and other
operations in conformity with the
general directions of the Board

of Governors.

The President chairs the Board of
Directors. Under the direction of the
Board, the President conducts the
business of the Bank and, as head of
staff, is responsible for its organisation
and for making staff appointments.
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Director

Alternate Director

Constituency

Terence Brown

Patrick Walsh

European Investment Bank

Scott Clark

David Plunkett

Canada/Morocco

Jos de Vries

Hans Sprokkreeff

Netheriands/Mongolia

Sven Hegelund

Tomas Danestad

Sweden/Iceland/Estonia

Ib Katznelson

Desmond O'Malley

Denmark/Ireland/Lithuania/FYR Macedonia

Elena Kotova

Russian Federation/Belarus/Tajikistan

Jean-Pierre Landau

Qlivier Rousseau

France

Vassili Lelakis

Carole Garnier

European Community

Kalin Mitrev

Tadeusz Syryjezyk

Bulgaria/Poland/Albania

Kazuya Murakami

Hiroyuki Kubota

Japan

Michael Neumayr

Hedva Ber

Austria/Israel/Cyprus/Malta/Kazakhstan/Bosnia and Herzegovina

Igor Ocka

L&szl6 Andor

Czech Republic/Hungary/Slovak Republic/Croatia

|gor Podoliev

Virginia Gheorghiu

Ukraine/Romania/Moldova/Georgia/Armenia

Enzo Quattrociocche

Ugo Astuto

Italy

Gonzalo Ramos

Ledn Herrera

Spain/Mexico

Kaarina Rautala

Tor Hernees

Finland/Norway/Latvia

Simon Ray Jonathan Ockenden United Kingdom
Peter Reith Byung-1l Kim Australia/Korea/New Zealand/Egypt
Manuel Sager Turan Oz Switzerland/Turkey/Liechtenstein/Uzbekistan/Kyrgyz Republic/

Azerbaijan/Turkmenistan/Serbia and Montenegro

Gerd Saupe

Peer Stanchina

Germany

Jean-Louis Six

Irena Sodin

Belgium/Slovenia/Luxembourg

Mark Sullivan

United States of America

Stefanos Vavalidis

José Veiga de Macedo

Greece/Partugal

Compesifon ef Beard of Direcion’ commiiess

31 December 2005

Audit Committee

Scott Clark (Chairman)

b Katznelson (Vice Chairman)
Terence Brown

Sven Hegelund

Manuel Sager

Mark Sullivan

Stefanos Vavalidis

The Audit Committee considers the
appointment and scope of work of
the external auditors. It also reviews
financial statements and general
accounting principles, the work of the
Internal Auditor and Chief Compliance
Officer, control systems and risk
management, project evaluation

and procurement palicy.

Financial and Operations
Policies Committee

Gonzalo Ramos (Chairman)
Kalin Mitrev (Vice Chairman)
Jos de Vries

Elena Kotova

Jean-Pierre Landau

Kazuya Murakami

Michael Neumayr

Enzo Quattrociocche

The Financial and Operations Policies
Committee reviews financial policies
including borrowing policy, general
policies relating to operations,

and procedures and reporting
requirements.

Budget and Administrative
Affairs Committee

Gerd Saupe (Chairman)
lgor Oka (Vice Chairman)
Vassili Lelakis

Igor Podoliev

Kaarina Rautala

Simon Ray

Peter Reith

Jean-Louis Six

The Budget and Administrative
Affairs Committee considers
general budgetary policy, proposals,
procedures and reports. It also
considers personnel, administrative
and organisational matters, and
administrative matters relating

to directors and their staff.

Board Steering Group

Simon Ray (Chairman)

Kaarina Rautala (Vice Chairman)
Scott Clark

Ib Katznelson

Gerd Saupe

Igor OCka

Gonzalo Ramos

Kalin Mitrev

The Board Steering Group was
established in 1994 to improve
coordination between the Board

of Directors and management on
arrangements for meetings of the
Board, committees and workshops.
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Recanstruction and Development

Web site

The EBRD web site (www.ebrd.com) contains
comprehensive information on every aspect of the
Bank’s activities. It includes a range of publications,
policies, country strategies and full contact details
for the Bank’s local offices.

Major EBRD publications

Transition Report

CD-ROM

The CD-ROM accompanying this publication contains
the complete Annual Review (in a fully searchable
format), the Financial Report (containing the Bank’s
Financial Statements) and a complete list of all
projects signed by the Bank since 1991 (in a user-
friendly format).

The Transition Report provides an in-depth analysis of economic progress in the Bank's 27 countries
of operations from central Europe to central Asia. The special theme of the 2005 Report is business
in transition, drawing on the findings of a survey of over 9,500 local firms. The survey was co-funded
by the ETC Fund, the Japan-Europe Cooperation Fund and the World Bank. Published biannually:

full report (November); update (May).

Sustainability Report

The EBRD is committed to responsible and sustainable investment. The 2005 Sustainability Report outlines
how the EBRD invests responsibly, focusing in particular on our activities in the energy sector. The publication
focuses on the EBRD’s impact on the people and the environment in the countries where we operate and
details the Bank’s own internal performance. Published annually.

Donor Report

Donor governments and agencies play a central role in the EBRD’s transition work. The Donor Report
reviews the contribution made by grant funding and co-financing to prepare the way for EBRD investment
and to support institutional reform and improvements to the investment climate. Published annually.

Law in Transition

Law in Transition, the EBRD’s legal journal, reviews various aspects of legal reform within the Bank’s countries
of operations. Contributors include EBRD staff and legal practitioners in the region. The 2006 edition focuses
on the theme of strengthening corporate practices. Published biannually: printed report (May); online edition

(November). Available in English and Russian.

A Guide to EBRD Financing

The EBRD serves the needs of clients across a variety of sectors, providing innovative financing solutions
and a flexible approach to projects. This simple guide outlines the various forms of financing available
and how this finance is provided. Available in English and Russian.

Building Prosperity: An Introduction to the EBRD

This easy-to-read booklet explains why the EBRD was created, where the Bank works, the types of projects
undertaken by the Bank and how we support economic, legal and democratic reforms in our region of
operations. Available in English, French, German and Russian.




Guide for readers

Exchange rates

Non-euro currencies have been converted,
where appropriate, into euro on the basis
of the exchange rates current on

31 December 2005. (Approximate euro
exchange rates: £0.68, US$1.18,
¥138.94.)

Calculation of EBRD investments

Repeat transactions with the same client
for seasonal/short-term facilities, such
as commodity financing, are not included
in the calculation of EBRD investments
for the year.

Economic data
Economic data in this report are based on

estimates as of the end of February 2006.

More recent estimates are provided in
the EBRD’s Transition Report Update,
published in May 2006.

Annuai Meeting

The EBRD’s Annual Meeting consists of
a gathering of shareholders (represented
by governors) and a business forum,
which is open to potential investors

in the region. For details, contact the
Annual Meetings Management Unit

(Tel: +44 20 7338 6625;

Fax: +44 20 7338 7320).

The Annual Meeting in 2006 is to be held
in London on 21-22 May.

Abbreviations and acronyms

The Bank, EBRD

BAS
BEEPS

cco
CEB
CIS
CSF
DIF
EAR
EC

EIB
ENVAC
ETCs
EU
EvD
FDI
FYR Macedonia
GDP
IDSF

IFC
IFI
IMF
MCF
MSEs
NDEP

NGO
NSA
PIP
PPP
RSBF
SEE
SMEs
TAM
TC
TFP
WTO

The European Bank for Reconstruction
and Development

Business Advisory Services

Business Environment and Enterprise
Performance Survey

Chief Compliance Office

Central Europe and the Baltic states
Commonwealth of Independent States
Chernobyl Shelter Fund

Direct investment Facility

European Agency for Reconstruction
European Community

European Investment Bank
Environmental Advisory Council

Early transition countries

European Union

Evaluation Department

Foreign direct investment

Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia
Gross domestic product

International Decommissioning
Support Fund

International Finance Corporation
International financial institution
International Monetary Fund
Mongolia Cooperation Fund

Micro and small enterprises

Northern Dimension

Environmental Partnership
Non-governmental organisation
Nuclear Safety Account

Public Information Policy
Public-private partnership

Russia Small Business Fund
South-eastern Europe

Small and medium-sized enterprises
TurnAround Management

Technical cooperation

Trade Facilitation Programme

World Trade Organization
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One Exchange Square

London EC2A 2JN
United Kingdom

Switchboard/central contact
Tel: +44 20 7338 6000
Fax: +44 20 7338 6100
SWIFT: EBRDGB2L

Web site
www.ebrd.com

Requests for publications
Tel: +44 20 7338 7553
Fax: +44 20 7338 6102
Email: pubsdesk@ebrd.com

General enquiries about the EBRD
Tel: +44 20 7338 6372
Fax: +44 20 7338 6102
Email: generalenquiries@ebrd.com

Project enquiries

Tel: +44 20 7338 7168

Fax: +44 20 7338 7380

Email: projectenqguiries@ebrd.com
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